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HSBC USA Inc.

PART 1

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Interest income:

(in millions)

LLOBIIS ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et e et et e eteeateaesas $ 743 $§ 637 $ 1,459 §$ 1,235
SECUTTLIES ..ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt ettt s bt bt et e s b st e et e be st et enseneens 298 278 602 531
TTadING SECUITEICS....eeuvetieiiietietieieeie ettt ettt et se e e 67 53 130 102
Short-term INVESTMENTS ........eeiuiieieieeiieieeieete ettt st naeas 173 157 349 315
(011 1< SO S EU ST PUU USRS 20 22 38 38
TOtal INTEFEST INCOME.......................ccoceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e e e eeaeeeseesinaes 1,301 1,147 2,578 2,221
Interest expense:
DIEPOSILS ...vevveiieiieitteieett ettt ettt et e st et este e b e steesbeete e b e e sae b e est e b e ere e beeraeereenaenes 380 258 713 480
ShOTt-term DOTTOWINGS .....eevieiiiiieieiiieieeiiet ettt sttt 68 43 130 76
Long-term debt ........ccuoouiiiiiiei e 306 283 618 540
(071413 OSSR 7 8 15 18
Total INLEreSt EXPERSE ..................ccouveeeeeereeeieeeieesieeeeteeeee e e e ereesaeeereesaseeereesane e 761 592 1,476 1,114
INEt INEETEST INCOMIC ..o evvieeeeieeeeeeeecieee et eeeeeeee e et e e et e eeaeeeeateeeeaeeeseaseeeenaeeseneeeenes 540 555 1,102 1,107
Provision fOr Credit IOSSES ........c.evieviirieriiiieteieeie sttt sreeseeae e enas 46 (45) 104 (116)
Net interest income after provision for credit losses ..................cccocevcivvencnnannen. 494 600 998 1,223
Other revenues:
Credit card fEeS, NET.......ceeeiieciieiiieeeeie ettt re e e e beesareeveessaeenreeas 18 15 30 26
Trust and investment management feeS...........ccovvereriereeienieeeeeeeee e 31 34 61 72
Other fees and COMMUISSIONS .........ccviecierierierieieseeieseeteeeesseeeesseeseesseesnesseesseses 162 184 309 344
TTAdING TEVEIUE .....veevvivieeiieiietieiteeteeete st eteste e e steesseste e b e essesbeessesseessesseessesseesseses 123 192 256 355
Other SeCUTities ZaINS, NEL......cc.erieruirierieieritete sttt 23 10 30 15
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates ..........cccoooeevinieniiienenceeeee 88 87 169 186
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... an 4 (26) 34
Other INCOME (10SS)....vevierierieiieierie ettt sttt ettt e e eseeseennesseenseees 8 11 (€) 18
TOtAL OTHEE FEVERUES .......................ooceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e et eeae e e eeaaee e 436 537 826 1,050
Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits.........ccooeeeeriiiirieiinieeec e 221 212 431 419
Support services from HSBC affiliates...........ccooeevinieiinieniiierceieeeeeeeee 411 405 791 816
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NET.....ouiiuiiiiiiieiieiieierie ettt e 48 45 93 88
OthET EXPEIISES ...uveuvieeretieiieiieteeitesteete st etesseetesseesesseesseesaenseessenseessaseensesseensesnes 94 124 209 745
Total OPerating EXPENSES .................c.ccoueeveevecueeeeireerenseesessesesessessesseesesseesesssessenns 774 786 1,524 2,068
INcome Defore INCOME TAX ....c.ceuieuiruiriiriirtiriisteste ettt st 156 351 300 205
INCOME tAX EXPEIISE ..eevveeerieiiieieeeiieeieeeteeteesteebeessaeesseessseeseessseenseesssesnseessseasennsnes 35 82 70 174
INELIHICOMIE ...ttt ae et tesae st e aeeae s eneenes $ 121 § 269 $§ 230 § 31

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
INEE IICOME ...ttt ettt aeebesbesneas $ 121 § 269 $ 230 $ 31
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:

INVEStMENT SECUTTLIES. ....veeiuieeiieiereeiieiteereeeie et e eteebeesaeeteesaeeseeessseeseessseeseenes 220 (76) 399 271)

Fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread.........c..c..c....... 7 129 (104) 141

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges.........cceverierincienincieeeeeee 5 10 19 12

Pension and post-retirement benefit plans.........c.cceecevieeienieiiiniieneeiee e, — (1) 3) —
Total other comprehensive income (l0SS) ................c.coeeveeeceeeecrieiesieeeeseeeeseeennns 232 62 311 (118)
Comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) ................cocceeeveeeeeeieciiieecieeeee e $§ 353 § 331 § 541 § (87)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)
June 30, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions, except share
data)

Assets'™”

Cash and due from banks.................. $ 1,196 $ 1,514
Interest bearing deposits with banks 11,736 15,700
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements t0 1€Sell............c.cccoevieierieveevreeececeee e 5,289 10,168
Trading assets (includes $7.4 billion and $2.5 billion of assets pledged to creditors at June 30, 2019 and

December 31, 2018, TESPECIVELY) ....cvvvveieirereieiecieteteeeceete ettt eae s s s st asae s s sssae st ssaesesesssessesenes 33,502 21,978
Securities available-for-sale (includes $2.3 billion and $0.8 billion of assets pledged to creditors at June 30,

2019 and December 31, 2018, TESPECHVELY).......vurvivveeieeeeeeeceeeeteeeeeeeseseeeeeeeseeeee s sesee et ensssesesessaesssessneseesenas 37,254 31,379
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $14.0 billion and $14.4 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31,

2018, TESPECHIVELY ) ...veveeeeviececvetet ettt ettt ea ettt a et et ae s et s ss s e s s s et s s s sa et s s s saeses s saesesensnessesses 13,927 14,670
LLOAIIS ...t ettt et e eteeee—eeeaateee—eeeaateeaateeeteeeatteeateeeteeeareeeatteeeteeeteeeeneas 72,478 68,978
Less — allowance fOr Credit LOSSES........ceruiiririiiriiiiieieiinteertert ettt ettt sttt sttt ne 613 541

| oz 4 T s =1 AT 71,865 68,437
Loans held for sale (includes $128 million and $109 million designated under fair value option at June 30,

2019 and December 31, 2018, TESPECHVELY).....vuvurvevrieirereiieceeeeteeeeee ettt ettt s s s senes 191 512
Properties and equipment, net 154 158
GOOdWill ..ccvviiiieiicieceeeee e 1,607 1,607
(0141 YT £SO 7,342 6,325
TOTAL ASSELS................c.ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et ee e e e et e et e e e e et e e eaa e e erteeetesesateeanteessteesaeeeeneeeenaeeeeneeeeraeeanns $ 184,063 $ 172,448
Liabilities'"” -
Debt:

Domestic deposits:

NOMINLETEST DEATINE ......cvcvevvivieieetitcececececeeeetctcteaesctcaeaeteesasass st aea s se e sss s asaes s sasseseseaesesessssseseseaesesessassesssneeas $ 22826 $ 25,639

Interest bearing (includes $8.5 billion and $8.2 billion designated under fair value option at June 30,

2019 and December 31, 2018, TESPECHIVELY) .....cvuvervrereeeeeceeiecee s st senesaeen 89,054 78,830

Foreign deposits:

INONINEETEST DEATIIIZ ...ttt ettt ettt sttt b et a et e et e s b e b e e bt e bt eateste st et e besbesbesbeeseeneeneeneans 186 202

INEETEST DEATIIIZ ....c.cuveitiateiirieiietee ettt ettt b et bbbt b et b s eb ettt e et s a et et eeeaen 4,895 6,274
DepOSits NEId O SALE ....cuivviieieiieiieieeeesee ettt ettt ettt et b e beebeeseereeneennensenes — 10
TOTAL AEPOSIES. .. veureureteteeiieteeteettetet et et et este ettt e st este st e besseeseeseeseeseessessessensasesseeseeseessessensensensenseaseeseesaeseensansanes 116,961 110,955
Short-term borrowings (includes $222 million and $560 million designated under fair value option at June

30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, 1€SPECHIVELY) ..cuvivieeiriieiieiieieieee et 8,649 4,180
Long-term debt (includes $12.0 billion and $11.2 billion designated under fair value option at June 30,

2019 and December 31, 2018, TESPECHIVELY) ....v.vuviverieiceesceescae et sseesess st enessraesenaas 30,849 30,628

TOLAL AEDE ...ttt ettt a et e bt b b e st b et e bt b e st b e s st b e st ettt h bt et e e st et e et et st ne 156,459 145,763
TTAING THADTIEIES ...ttt b bt ettt b e b e bt e bt e bt e st e st e b et e st e sbesbeebeebeeneeneens 4,026 3,643
Interest, taxes and Other LADIIITIES ..........cc.oiiiuiiiiii ettt e et e et ete e eereeeeaae e ereeeaeeeennas 4,944 2,536
TOtAL LIADIIILIES ..................c..c.oceoeieiiiiicieet ettt ettt ettt ettt a et et neae 165,429 151,942
Equity

Preferred stock (no par value; 40,999,000 shares authorized; 1,265 shares issued and outstanding at both June

30,2019 and December 31, 2018) .......ouiuiuiiieieeeeiiieeie ettt ettt sttt et ene et 1,265 1,265
Common equity:

Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 shares issued and outstanding at both June 30,

2019 and DecembEr 31, 2018)....cuicuicrierieeieieieieieriestesteeteeteereestete st ebesbesseeseeseessessessessessassessasseeseessessessensens — —
Additional Paid-in CAPILAL.......eeiuiieiiieiee ettt ettt s et b et s b et b et s et e e sttt ne et naenea 15,734 18,136
REtAINEA CATTIIES ....cuveuteiiiieieeieeiteet ettt bt et a sttt st e bt e bt e bt e st e st et et e s b e ebeebesbeebeensennenee 1,690 1,471
Accumulated other COMPIENENSIVE 10SS .....cc.iiuiriiriiiiiieieierere ettt st sttt ae e (55) (366)

TOtAl COMIMON EQUILY +...veuvenvenieteriietietieiete et eeteeteeteeteestestestetestesseeseeseeseeneensenseseseeseeneeseensansensensensessessesseeneensansans 17,369 19,241
TOUAL @QUILY ...ttt ettt ettt ettt te st e st e e st e st e st e st e st ens e b e b e eseeseeseeseestentensesenseeseeseeneentensensentan 18,634 20,506
Total liabilities ANd eqUILp........................ccoeeeeeeeieieieiesiese st et et et et ete st e ssesseeseeseeseesaessessensessessesseeseaseassessassensas $ 184,063 §$ 172,448
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M The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018

which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation. See Note 17, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Assets
Other assets $ 98 § 112
TOTAL ASSELS...ueveeeieetitet ettt ettt ettt ettt bbbt bt et eb et st b e s et e bbbt e b e ettt ea e a e et bt b et ettt ettt nae st ebe et $ 98 $ 112
Liabilities -
LONG-EITI AEDE ...ttt $ 66 $ 66
Interest, taxes and Other LHADIIIHIES ...........ccciriiiiiirieiiirecec ettt ettt st 32 37
TOUAL THADILIEIES ...ttt et s s s s s et s s s s e st e s ss et et e s nesesessennsesens $ 98 S 103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018

(in millions)
Preferred stock
Balance at beginning and end Of PEriod.........cooeriiiriiiiiieie ettt $ 1,265 § 1,265

Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PErIOQ........cverieieriiririiieieieee ettt e sttt e e esbeebeeneens — —
Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning of period 15,736 18,127
EMPIOYEE DENETIE PLANS ...ouveiiiiiiieiieieeete ettt et e bbb bt eb et e st et et e ae b e sbeebeebeenean 2) 8
Balance at €nd OF PEIIOM. ......ceieiiiiiiieeeet ettt sttt ettt et et e b et e b et e e a e st e st st et e nbestestenaeeseene 15,734 18,135
Retained earnings
Balance at beginning 0f PErioq .........coiuiiiiiiiiieee ettt ean 1,607 989
I IIICOIIC. ...ttt ettt b e s et b et et s et b e e eh et et b e e e st a et a e s es e s e e e s e s ebeene e eaeaee 121 269
Cash dividends declared on preferred STOCK ... ...o.iviiiiiiierierierereser ettt s (38) 37
Balance at €nd OF PEIIOM. ......ceiiiiieiiieeieeeee ettt sttt sttt et et e et e s b e b e e ae e st ent et etenbententenaeesene 1,690 1,221
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Balance at beginning 0f PEriod .........ccoouiiiuiiiiiiieie ettt ean (287) (698)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 232 62
Balance at €nd OF PEIIOM. ......ceiiiiiiiiieiee ettt sttt sttt ettt et e b bt e bt bt eat et et e b e ntesaesaenbene (55) (636)
T0tal COMMON CQUILY ...................c.coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieteee et 17,369 18,720
TOTAL @QUILY ...ttt ettt et e bt et e et e s e s e s e s e e sesse et e eseeseentessen s e s e s eese et e estessensessansensensensensens $ 18,634 § 19,985
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued) (UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended June 30,

2019 2018

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning and end of period

Common stock

Balance at beginning and end of period

Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning of period
Return of capital to parent
Employee benefit plans .........cccoceveerenneneinenneneecee

Balance at end of period
Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of period

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for leases to recognize the
previously deferred gain on the sale and leaseback of property, net of tax

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effect adjustment to initially
apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were previously classified as available-for-

SAlE, NEL OF tAX ... vviiieiiieieecee e

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were

previously measured at cost, net of tax

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effect adjustment to initially
apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax

LegiSlation) ...c.ecvevieieeieieieiieieie et
Balance at beginning of period, adjusted
INEE INCOMIEC. ...ttt

Cash dividends declared on preferred stock

Balance at end of period

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Balance at beginning of period

Reclassification to retained earnings of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting

guidance for equity investments which were previously classified as available-for-sale, net of tax

Reclassification to retained earnings of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting

guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax Legislation
Balance at beginning of period, adjusted
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Balance at end of period........c.ccevveverereriiienieieeeeee e
Total cOMMON eqUILy ................c.cceeueeeeeeeenieneeieiesiesreseeseeieeaeens
TOtAl @QUILY ...t

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(in millions)

1,265 $ 1,265

18,136 18,130
(2,400) —
Q) 5
15,734 18,135
1,471 1,130
27 —
— 4)
— 10
— 91
1,498 1,227
230 31
(38) (37)
1,690 1,221
(366) (431)
— 4
— 1)
(366) (518)
311 (118)
(55) (636)
17,369 18,720

18,634 § 19,985
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
INEE ITMCOIMIE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e vt eteeteeaseab e b eebeeseeseesseseessessesseaseaseseeseeseessessessensensebeeseessessessessensessesseseaseaseas $ 230 $ 31

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amMOTTIZALION. ..........veierierieietesteseeteete et eeestetestestestessesseeseeseeseessessessasessessessessesssessesensessessessessens 30 (46)
ProVISION fOI CTEAIL LOSSES...euviiiriiiiiriieiieieietetestesteett et et et et ete st e stestestesseeseeseeseessessessassesseeseesessaesaessensensensensensensens 104 (116)
Net realized gains on securities available-for-Sale ............coooiireiiiricieee e 30) (15)
Net change in other assets and HaADIIItIES .........coueriririrerireeeee ettt 2,306 639
Net change in loans held for sale:
Originations and purchases of loans held for Sale...........cooiriririiinic e (1,160) (1,311)
Sales and collections of 10anS held fOr SALE.........cc..oovuiiiiiiiiiiieceiecee et eaeeenes 1,155 1,786
Net change in trading assets and HADIIITIES .......c.eeereririerieieieieeesese ettt et e e re e eseesae e essessesessesseenas (11,141) (11,023)
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for sale ...........cccooeneiineinieniinieee — 4)
Loss (gain) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives ............ccceeeveneninineeienienieneneneene 26 (34)
Net cash used I OPETAING ACTIVILIES ... everuirtietieuieieieterteste ettt ettt et et e bbbt b e bt est et et e besbesbesbesseeseestensensensensensenneas (8,480) (10,093)
Cash flows from investing activities
Net change in federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell..........ccocoevvieceerienierenienenennns 4,879 22,442
Securities available-for-sale:
Purchases of securities available-fOr-SAle ........cc.ooovuiiiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt et e e e e saa e e eaeesneeesaneeens (12,608) (5,410)
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-Sale..........coooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecee e 4,189 2,610
Proceeds from maturities of securities available-for-sale.............coooviiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 3,832 1,594

Securities held-to-maturity:

Purchases of securities Neld-t0-MAtUITEY.........cceoirieieieieieieieese ettt ettt ebeeseeseesaesaeaensensensessesseas (384) (2,344)

Proceeds from maturities of securities held-t0-MatUrity ..........cceoeveriiiiiiieieieieeee e eeas 1,109 1,154
Change in loans:

Originations, NEt OF COLIECLIONS ....c..eiueiuiiiiiiiiteet ettt b e bbbt be st e st b e be b b (3,654) 5,728

L0ans SOIA t0 thild PArti@S......cc.eruerueriirieieieieteteet ettt ettt st b et et e et et e s b e eb e sb e ebeesteseenbentenbenbesbeeneas 464 445
Net cash used for acquisitions of properties and SQUIPIMENL.........cveverueriertererieieieieeertestestesteeteseeeeeeseeaeseessessessesaeas 1s) 2)
Net outflows related to the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business ............ccceeververererineeceniienienenieseseenenn — (378)
(0735153 VR 4 U< SRS 52 (10)
Net cash provided by (used in) INVESHNG ACIVILIES ....veuerviieririeieiiieiiteeiee sttt ebe s (2,136) 25,829
Cash flows from financing activities
INEt ChANGE 11 AEPOSILS ..euveeiiiiiieietetet ettt ettt ettt et e b et ettt b e bt e bt e st e st en b et e b esbesbesseeseestenseneensebenbenneas 5,671 (3,757)
Debt:

Net change in short-term borrowings 4,469 1,741

ISSUANCE OF LONG-LEITN AEDL.....cvetiiiiieieiieieieieteeee ettt et e ettt et e b e b e b e sbeeseesessaesaessensensensensensenseas 2,928 2,678

Repayment of 10ng-term deDE........ccooiiiiieieee ettt sttt (4,294) (5,220)
Return of CaPItal t0 PATEIL.....ccuitiiitiitieieetiee ettt b e e bbbt e at e st et et et e st e sbeeb e e bt e st e st este b e b enbesbeebes (2,400) —
Other increases (decreases) in CapPital SUIPIUS.......ccuiriririririeieeee ettt sttt ettt sbe b enes ?2) 5
DIAVIAETIAS PAIA ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ea e st et e st e s s et e st e seeeseeseeseententens e bebe bt eneeneentententententenaentene 38) (37)
Net cash provided by (used in) fINANCING ACIVITICS .....vevverviriiriieieieieientestesteeteeeesteseetesae e stestessesseeseessessessensessessensens 6,334 (4,590)
Net change in cash and due from banks and interest bearing deposits with banks™............ocoocveviiermreeeereeeeeeee. (4,282) 11,146
Cash and due from banks and interest bearing deposits with banks at beginning of period™ ............cc..ccoocvvvcrrvcnrinnn 17,214 12,272
Cash and due from banks and interest bearing deposits with banks at end of period™ ..................ccoooveeeveneue... $ 12,932 § 23418

M As a result of adopting new accounting guidance in 2018, we changed our presentation of cash and cash equivalents to include cash and due from banks as

well as interest bearing deposits with banks, which includes restricted cash. See Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting
Pronouncements," in our 2018 Form 10-K for further discussion. This resulted in an increase in cash provided by investing activities of $11,331 million
during the six months ended June 30, 2018.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note Page Note Page
1 Organization and Presentation........c..c..ccccoueue. 10 12 Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits....... 43
2 Trading Assets and Liabilities...........cccccecuenene. 11 13 Fee Income from Contracts with Customers .... 44
3 SECUIILICS. ..veeuvieerereeererieeeesieeteserete e eeeseenee e 12 14 Related Party Transactions ............cceceevevennnns 45
O 0 LR 17 15 Business Segments........cccceeeeerueereereeneneeneennenns 47
5 Allowance for Credit LoSSeS ......ccovvvervreevennnnne. 27 16 Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital 49

Requirements ..........cceeeveereeneenieieneeieeeenes
6 Loans Held for Sale ........coccooenieiinieninieee 28 17 Variable Interest Entities.........ccocceveeveneenennnes 51
7 GoOdWill ....ooiiiiiiieieiee e 29 18 Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and 53
Repurchase Agreements..........cccceceeveeeeennne.
8 L@ASES ettt 29 19 Fair Value Measurements .............cccceceverennnne. 58
9 Derivative Financial Instruments...................... 31 20 Litigation and Regulatory Matters.................... 75
10 Fair Value Option.........ccccveeeeveeviereenienieereeenns 38 21 New Accounting Pronouncements.................... 77
11 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss......... 41

1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, is a New York State based bank holding company and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America"), which is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying unaudited
interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC US A and its subsidiaries (collectively "HUSI") have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information
and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, as well as in accordance with predominant practices
within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted
accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments
considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have
been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statements as "we," "us" or "our." These
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2018 (the "2018 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to
conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of results in future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Trading assets:

ULS. TIEASULY ...ttt s $ 10,620 $ 5,368
U.S. Government agency issued Or gUAranteed............ceereriruiriirieriinienerienieeeeee et 19 111
U.S. Government SponsSored ENEEIPIISES. .. ..ccueietrtririririerertintentestestestestestesessesteseest et eseesesbesaeseennes 59 41
ASSCE-DACKEA SECUITLIES. ...c.verveiieiiieiietieiet ettt ettt 192 208
Corporate and foreign bonds ... 12,925 10,562
EQUILY SECUITEIES .. .cveueteiietiieteietee ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt b ettt a et a et b e eb s b e a b s st nnens 2,747 751
PrECiouS METALS ...o.veeiiiieieeee ettt ettt ettt et et e et et e s st et e eneentesneeteereenaeeneen 3,895 1,889
DIETIVALIVES, TICL .. .e.vieetietieiieiietietteteeteesteetesteetesteesbesteessesseesseeseesseeseesseessesseessesseassesseessesseessesseessenseans 3,045 3,048
TOLAl trAdING ASSELS ...uveueueeuieuirtietiriertiet ettt ettt ettt ettt b e bt b e e st b e e ettt eae bt ebeebeebesaesaenen $ 33502 $ 21,978
Trading liabilities: -
Securities s0ld, N0t Yet PUIChASEA...........ccoueiiieieiieieeee et $ 834 § 738
Payables for precious MEtals ..........c.coccereiriiniiiiiiiie et 106 215
DIEIIVALIVES, TIET ...ietiieiiietieeteeeite et eette et e it e ebeesteeebeesseeeaseessseasseessseassaessseessaessseasseesssaansaesssseseessseenses 3,086 2,690
Total trading HADIIILIES .....c.eecvieieiieieriieiese ettt ettt ettt et s reesae s e esbeseeesbesssesseessenseessenseenns $ 4,026 $ 3,643

AtJune 30,2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets is net of $2,638 million and $2,013
million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities is net of $3,627 million and
$3,458 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments," for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
June 30, 2019 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
ULS. TICASULY ..ttt sttt ettt ettt sttt sttt $ 16942 $ 148 $ (264) $ 16,826
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUTILIES .......ceruiruiruerierieieieieie et 4,777 76 (26) 4,827
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........cccecveveereeieenenenienenenenenenes 684 2 Q) 681
Direct agency obligations..........cecueveeiiireenienierie et 2,751 29 1 2,779
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES .......ccuerueriirieerieniieie ettt 7,834 24 (61) 7,797
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........cccecveveeeeieeneneniencnenereneenes 964 10 @) 967
Direct agency obligations..........ccccverviruerienienieienieieieeeeeeeese e 252 2 1 253
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:
HOME @QUILY -.eveeniiiieteeieeeee et 39 — 3) 36
OBRET ...ttt 108 5 — 113
Foreign debt SECUTTHIES ™ oo 2,971 — 2,975
Total available-for-sale SECUTILIES .........eeveruerieieieieieiieieceeeescseee e $37322 § 300 $ (368) $ 37,254
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES .......ccuerueriereerieriieie ettt $ 1843 § 15 3 3 $ 1,855
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........ccceeveveeieieenenieniencneneneneenes 1,718 46 @) 1,757
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTILIES .......cerueruirierienienieieieieieceicei e 2,179 6 ?2) 2,183
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccccevereereiienenienenieeeieee 8,174 67 (39) 8,202
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions........c..ccccecererverereneennee 11 1 — 12
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages 2 — — 2
Total held-to-maturity SECUTTHIES .....c..evverreruerieieieieieieteceeei et $ 13,927 $ 135 § (51) $ 14,011

12




HSBC USA Inc.

Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2018 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

ULS. TICASULY .ttt sttt ettt st sttt et $ 13,549 §$ 106 $ (365) $ 13,290
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUIILIES .......oervervirrereieieiieieieerere et 5,541 6 (154) 5,393
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveveeeeeereniineneneneneereenes 686 1 (35) 652
Direct agency obligations .........ccceeererierienieieiiieieinereseee e 2,831 37 (2) 2,866
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUITLIES .......c.evververreieieieieieieere et 4,442 1 (171) 4,272
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveveeeeeereniineneneneneereenes 1,140 9 (29) 1,120
Direct agency obligations .........ccceeererierienieieiiieieinereseee e 295 9 — 304
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:
HOME EQUILY....cuveuiiiiiiiiieiieere ettt s 44 — 2) 42
OBRET ...ttt ettt 102 5 — 107
Foreign debt SECUTTHES ! ............oveeeeeeeeee e 3,330 3 — 3,333
Total available-for-sale SECUTIHES. ........ovrveveeririereeriieieieeeeteteieee ettt eaeeenas $ 31,960 $ 177§ (758) $ 31,379

Securities held-to-maturity:

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:

Mortgage-backed SECUIILIES .......ovevververieieieieiieieieieere st $ 1812 §$ 1 3 (34) $ 1,779
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveeveeeeeinerineneneneneereenes 1,878 34 (26) 1,886

U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTIIES .......c.evvereirierieieieieeeeee e 2,104 2 (63) 2,043
Collateralized mortgage obligations ........c..cccecveevevererienicninienenenenrenenee 8,863 35 (176) 8,722
Obligations of U.S. states and political Subdivisions ............cccecceveerreennennn 11 — — 11
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 2 — — 2
Total held-to-Maturity SECUTTIES ......evevirrevereerriiereteeiieeeiereeeeeretees st eseeenas $ 14,670 $ 72 8 (299) $ 14,443

M Foreign debt securities represent public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.

Net unrealized losses were lower within the available-for-sale portfolio as compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to
decreasing yields on U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed, and U.S. Treasury
securities.
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The following table summarizes gross unrealized losses and related fair values at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 classified
as to the length of time the losses have existed:

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
June 30, 2019 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TIeaSUTY ...eoveeeneieieieiieeee e 17 $ 31 $ 3,652 32§ (233) § 6,030
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 1 — 252 122 32) 2,678
U.S. Government agency issued or
UArANteed ......ooveveieieieieeeeeee e 2 (6) 177 59 (63) 4,093
Asset-backed securities..........ccoovvererevennennen. — — — 5 3) 36
Foreign debt securities.........c.ccoveeveereennennen. 18 — 1,440 — — —
Securities available-for-sale...........ccccoccvenuennenn. 38 $ 37 $ 5,521 218 $  (331) §$ 12,837
Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 12§ — 3 3 301 $ (10) $ 1,210
U.S. Government agency issued or
UAranteed ........cocevvevenieieieirereee e 32 — 187 386 41) 4,769
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..o — — — 1 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ...........cceceveeienene 44 S — S 190 688 $ (1) $ 5,979
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
December 31, 2018 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TI€ASULY ...ceevevieiieiiieiciccreenreeeieneane 8 12) $ 1,013 41 § (353) $ 8,828
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 55 (6) 538 159 (185) 3,698
U.S. Government agency issued or
gUATANteed .......ccovveuirieinieieeceeeeee 8 2) 106 72 (198) 4,825
Asset-backed securities.........cccceceeerercnnenne. 1 — — 4 2) 42
Foreign debt securities.........ccceceverercnennene 16 — 1,724 — — —
Securities available-for-sale...........c.cocecvovninnnne. 88 § (20) $ 3,381 276§  (738) § 17,393
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 103§ ®) $ 684 511 $ (52) $ 1,739
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed ... 111 (14) 769 491 (225) 7,372
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ...covenveneciieiceciiececececsc e 1 — — 1 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ...........c..cccceevnnnee. 215 $ 22) $ 1,453 1,003 $ (277) $ 9,111

Although the fair value of a particular security may be below its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in a credit loss and
hence an other-than-temporary impairment. The decline in fair value may be caused by, among other things, the illiquidity of the
market. We have reviewed the securities for which there is an unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance
with our accounting policies, discussed further below. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we do not consider any of our
debt securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired as we expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor
expect to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to holding securities until their individual
maturities. However, other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periods if the credit quality of the securities
deteriorates.
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
events or economic circumstances to indicate that a debt security with an unrealized loss has suffered other-than-temporary
impairment. A debt security is considered impaired if its fair value is less than its amortized cost basis at the reporting date. If
impaired, we assess whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. An impairment is also considered other-than-temporary if a credit loss exists (i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flows is less than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit loss exists, the credit loss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit loss is recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (loss).

For all securities held in the available-for-sale or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized losses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a complete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 4, "Securities," in our 2018 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in our process
for assessing impairment during 2019.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, none of our debt securities were determined to have other-than-
temporary impairment, as such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized related to credit loss.

Other securities gains, net The following table summarizes realized gains and losses on investment securities transactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
GrOSS TEAlIZEA GAINS ....vineieieeeieiieeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt sb e aesaeseenean $ 27§ 21 $ 43 3 30
Gross 1ealized IOSSES ........covvuiuiuiiiiiiiiiiiicc )] (11) (13) (15)
Net 1ealIZEA GAINS....veuveviieeiietiieieieieeteet ettt ebesesbene s $ 23 % 10 $ 30 $ 15
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Contractual Maturities and Yields The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
sale and securities held-to-maturity at June 30, 2019 by contractual maturity. Expected maturities differ from contractual maturities
because borrowers have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties in certain cases. The table below also reflects
the distribution of maturities of debt securities held at June 30, 2019, together with the approximate yield of the portfolio. The
yields shown are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization of
premiums, by the amortized cost of securities outstanding at June 30, 2019.

After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years

Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury .....occceveeneereeneeneennene $ 199 222% $ 7,760 1.81% $ 5967 2.05% $ 3,016 2.80%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENLETPTISES .vovveeverrerienieseeienieeeeeeeereeenes 1,047 2.99 1,168 2.83 2,218 2.74 3,779  3.00
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed........coceveveeeienieieinenceene, — — 81 221 1 433 8,968 2.72
Asset-backed securities ...........coceveenee — — — — 58 5.21 89 3.90
Foreign debt securities...........ccceevennenne. 1,552 .00 1,419 2.56 — — — —
Total amortized cost .........cceeeeeviieenieeannene. $ 2,798 1.27% $ 10,428 2.03% $ 8,244 2.26% $ 15852 2.81%
Total fair VAlUe.......oeeeveeeeeeeeeeereeeeeerseeeeene $ 2801 $ 10,445 $ 8,191 $ 15,817

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

(S 1175740) 0 1< SRR $ 50 2.22% $ 376 2.72% $ 269 245% $ 2,866 3.04%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed........cocooveveeeieneeiieinenceenne. — — 13 394 22 3.69 10,318  2.68
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..cevenvenieicieiecciiniceiceiene 1 4.75 5 346 5 420 — —
Asset-backed securities ...........cccevennee — — — — — — 2 7.83
Total amortized COSt......oovevreerreririieienes $ 51 227% $ 394 277% § 296 2.57% § 13,186 2.76%
Total fair Value.....ooveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenn $ 51 $ 399 $ 208 $ 13,263

Equity Securities Equity securities that are not classified as trading and are included in other assets consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Equity securities carried at fair VAIUE...........cccuviviiiiieieiercee e $ 302 $ 278

Equity securities without readily determinable fair values...........ccoocevveriiieniniiniic e 9 7

On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether any equity securities without readily determinable fair values
are impaired. In the event an equity security is deemed impaired, the security is written down to fair value with impairment recorded
in earnings. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, none of our equity securities without readily determinable fair values were
determined to be impaired.

Also included in other assets were investments in Federal Home Loan Bank ("FHLB") stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of
$155 million and $559 million, respectively, at June 30, 2019 and $156 million and $631 million, respectively, at December 31,
2018.
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4. Loans

Loans consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONSITUCTION. .....ccuiiiiieieieriieieet ettt enes $ 11,704 $ 11,344
Business and corporate DanKINg ...........coeeereeieieieieieieeeeieet ettt 14,310 13,066
GIODAL DANKING'™ ... 20,896 20,167
Other COMMETCIAI? ... 5,835 4,765
Total COMMETCIAL........oitieiiiieie ettt ettt ettt s ae e s st et e e st eteene e seeneeeseenes 52,745 49,342
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTEZAZES .....coververiirririerieieteetetet ettt sttt ettt et et ebe bt ebe et ebe b e 17,421 17,383
HOME EQUILY MOTEZAZES ...vevititiieieieieeee ettt ettt sttt sttt et et e s et e st e st ebeebeeeeebesbeee 911 982
CIEAIL CATAS ..eveeieiieiiieeeteet ettt ettt sttt st b ettt et ebe bt bt e bt e ebe b e 1,129 1,019
OthET COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt b bbbt bbb e st et et et et e st e st eseeneebeebeebeebenbeee 272 252
TOAL COMSUIMIET ...ttt ettt ettt st et e st e et e e e st eneeeseeaeeneesseeneesseensesseenseeneenseensenseeneenseenes 19,733 19,636
TOAL LOANS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e e e e te e b e beeabeeteesbeessesseeseeseeseesseessesseessesssensesssensanssansenssensennes $ 72478 $ 68,978

(" Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions, U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking clients
managed by HSBC on a global basis and complex large business clients supported by Global Banking and Markets relationship managers.

@ Includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $3,096 million and $2,274 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. See Note 14,
"Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination costs totaled $77 million at both June 30,2019 and December 31,2018. AtJune 30,2019 and December 31,
2018, we had a net unamortized premium on our loans of $1 million and $11 million, respectively.

17



HSBC USA Inc.

Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans The following table summarizes the past due status of our loans, excluding loans held for sale,
at June 30,2019 and December 31, 2018. The aging of past due amounts is determined based on the contractual delinquency status
of payments under the loan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been made
in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices such
as re-age, which results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due Total Past Due
At June 30, 2019 30-89Days 90+ Days 30 Daysor More Current”  Total Loans
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Real estate, including construction............ceeceeeeererrencnnens $ 10 $ 1 93 11 § 11,693 $ 11,704
Business and corporate banking ..............cceeveeverieiieneennnns 10 19 29 14,281 14,310
Global banking............ccceeverieiinieniienceereeeeeeee e — — — 20,896 20,896
Other commErcial ..........oocvvvieriieieieiee e — — — 5,835 5,835
Total commercial ..........ccooovvviiviiiiiiieiieiceeeeeeeeee e 20 20 40 52,705 52,745
Consumer loans:
Residential mortgages........coceevveveieniinieninieneeieneeeeseeene 341 257 598 16,823 17,421
Home equity mortgages. ........cccceeverenenienenienieieneeeeennenne 12 25 37 874 911
Credit Cards.....ocvvecieeiieiieeieeee e 16 18 34 1,095 1,129
Other CONSUIMET .......eeveriieieeiieieeeieie et eee e eee e eeeseeeneens 6 4 10 262 272
Total CONSUIMET ........veiieiiiieeiiee et e 375 304 679 19,054 19,733
TOtal 10ANS ....cviieiieiiiciecee e $ 305 $§ 324 § 719 $ 71,759 $ 72,478
Past Due Total Past Due
At December 31, 2018 30-89Days 90+ Days 30 Days or More  Current” Total Loans
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Real estate, including construction............coeceeeeeveereneennene $ 76 $ 3 8 79 $ 11265 $ 11,344
Business and corporate banking ..............cccoevveeeerieriereennnns 79 38 117 12,949 13,066
Global banking............ccceeeirierinienieere et — — — 20,167 20,167
Other coOmMMETCial .......cceeevieiieiieieiieiee e 15 — 15 4,750 4,765
Total commercial .........coceeevieciieriieieeie e 170 41 211 49,131 49,342
Consumer loans:
Residential mOrtgages........coovevveeeeenieieneeiereeereee e 469 254 723 16,660 17,383
Home equity mortgages. ........coceeereruervenienenienieieceeeennenne 14 27 41 941 982
Credit Cards.......cuvevieeieeiieeieeee et 13 14 27 992 1,019
Other CONSUMET .......cccveriieieetieiieeiereeeenteeee e eee e eeesseeneens 5 5 10 242 252
Total CONSUIMET ........oeeieiiieeiiee e 501 300 801 18,835 19,636
TOAl LOANS ...vvevvivieerecteetecte ettt ettt et ae e e $ 671 $ 341 $ 1,012 § 67,966 $ 68,978
m

Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Real estate, iNCIUuding CONSIIUCHION. .......iciiriiiieiieeieetieteettere ettt sreeae e beeeeebeeesesseesseeseenes $ 7 8 7
Business and corporate Danking ..........cccoooveiiiiiiiiiinieee e 920 70
G1ODAL DANKING ..ottt ettt ettt et e e e e st eaeestesseenaesseensesseensessaensenssensesnsenseenes 53 65
Other COMIMETCIAL.......ccuiiiieiieiiciete ettt ettt ettt e e et e eteesbeestesbeesaesaeessesseesbesssesseessenseessenseesns — 1
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for Sale ...........coeciiiiieiiiriicceeeec e 22 —
Total COMMETCIAL........ocuieiieiieiiciett ettt ettt et e e et e st e sae st ensesseesseesaenseessenseensenseenes 172 143
Consumer:
Residential mortgages' @) e 370 341
Home equity Mort@ages ™ @ _...........co. oo 48 55
Consumer nonaccrual 10ans held for sale...........ovvviiriiiiiciiiiciee e 1 1
TOLAL COMSUIMET .....vvieutieiiiieiie ettt e ettt e et e st e et e estbeesbe e taeesseessaeesseesssessseesssaanseessseensaeasseesseesssensenes 419 397
Total NONACCIUING TOANS..........ooiiiiiiiiieiee ettt sttt e st e s e beesaenteensenseenes 591 540
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate DANKINg ..........cccoeoieiirieiieiieiieeeee et 1 1
Total COMMETCIAL........ccuieiieiieiicieit ettt ettt e sbe et e sseesaesaeessessaessesseenseessenseessenseenns 1 1
Consumer:
CTEAIL CATAS ..viivviiieiieiie ettt ettt ettt e et e st e e b e e stbeeabe e tbeebeessseesbeessseesseessseassaessseessaassseenseesssensenes 18 14
OthET COMSUITIET .....viiieiieeteeieeteetteteeete st estesteesaesteessesseesseessesseessesseassesseassesseessesssessesssensenssensenssensennes 4 6
TOLAl CONSUIMET .....etieiieiiiieiie ettt ettt et e ete et e st e et e s taeebeesaaeesbeessseenseesssaensaeasseansaanssesnseesssenseens 22 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more...................ccceeevievieniienieireeeeee. 23 21
Total NoNPerforming LOANS ..............c.oocviviiiiiiiieiccieceee ettt esseeseenes $ 614 § 561

M At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include $267 million and $289 million, respectively, of
loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

® Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.
Repayment of these loans is predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our consumer loan portfolio.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual loans had been
current in accordance with contractual terms during the period ..........ccccocevereennen. $ 7 $ 13 $ 16 §$ 27

Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual loans and included in interest
income during the Period...........ccoveeieiieiiiieeeeee e 3 6 6 15
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide
for terms that are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower's financial condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial loans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, a change in interest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal, accrued interest or other loan covenants. A substantial amount of our modifications involve interest rate reductions
on consumer loans, which lower the amount of interest income we are contractually entitled to receive in future periods. Through
lowering the interest rate and other loan term changes, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately
be collected from the loan, given the borrower's financial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for primarily based on the present
value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, which generally results in a higher
reserve requirement for these loans, or as a practical expedient, the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent
or, for commercial loans, the observable market price if the loan is traded in the market. Once a consumer loan is classified as a
TDR Loan, it continues to be reported as such until it is paid off or charged-off. For commercial loans, if subsequent performance
is in accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be
reported as a TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. During the second quarter of 2019, a $12 million commercial
loan met this criterion and was removed from TDR Loan classification. There were no loans removed from TDR Loan classification
during the prior year periods.

The following table presents information about loans which were modified during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019
and 2018 and as a result of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

(in millions)

Residential MOTTZAZES ......evevvevirveeirieieieieteieeteieeeeeete ettt et sa e be e s ns $8 — 8 12§ 1 3 17
Home equity MOTZAZES .....eeovieeieeieieeieee ettt ettt sae e sae e neeas — 1 — 3
Credit CATAS ..ottt e 1 1 2

Total consumer ... $ 1 3 14 S 3 93 22

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, there were no commercial loans which were modified and as a
result of this action became classified as TDR Loans.

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer loans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2019 was 3.88 percent and 1.45 percent, respectively, compared with 1.58 percent and 2.02 percent
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.
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The following table presents information about our TDR Loans and the related allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Unpaid Unpaid
Carrying  Principal Carrying Principal
Value Balance Value Balance

(in millions)

TDR Loans:"*®
Commercial loans:
Business and corporate Banking ...........c.cceevererienieieinienieeeencsesese e $ 59 $ 74 3 68 $ 86
G1ODAl DANKING. .....eveeiteiieiiieieieteet ettt 84 92 113 119
Total COMMETCIAl® ...t 143 166 181 205
Consumer loans:
Residential mortgages™ .............cooovvivveeoeeeeeeeeeeeee e 608 694 640 730
Home equity mor‘cgages(4) ..................................................................................... 33 62 35 65
CrEAIt CATAS .vovvieeiiiieiieciieie ettt ettt ettt et e st eae st e b e etae b e essenseesaeseesaesseenseses 4 4 3 4
TOtAl COMSUIMET........ueeeiiieiieeieeieecte ettt et e et e ebeesbeebeesebeebeesabeesbaessseesseesssaenseens 645 760 678 799
Total TDR LOANS® ..ottt $ 788 $ 926 $ 859 $ 1,004

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:®

Commercial loans:

Business and corporate banking ............ccecceeieviiirieniereeeeeeeee e $ 12 $ 12
G1ODAl DANKING........ecvieiieiieiieiieieie ettt beeee e b e eseesbeesaesseesseneas — —
Total COMMETCIAL .....cuviiiiieeiieiie ettt ee et ev e e be e abeebeessaeeareeas 12 12
Consumer loans:

Residential MOTtZaZES. ... .c.eeueeuirieriieierie ettt 3 3
HOme eqUIty MOTZAZES .....ecvverieeieiieeierieeie et eie st eae s ere et ebe et esseeseesseesaesseesseseas — 1
CTEAit CATAS ...veiviieiieeiie ettt ettt et e e e e et e e s b e ebeestbeesbeesaseesbaesssaenseens 1 1
TOAl CONSUIMET ... c.ueevieieerietietieetesteeete e eseesteesaesteessesseesseessesseessesseessanseessesseesseses 4 5

Total allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans ............ccccoeeeveeeeiiceeiieeeieeeee e $ 16 $ 17

" TDR Loans are considered to be impaired loans. For commercial loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $63
million and $54 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ The carrying value of TDR Loans includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs.

®  Additional commitments to lend to commercial borrowers whose loans have been modified in TDR Loans totaled $226 million and $151 million at June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ AtJune 30,2019 and December 31, 2018, the carrying value of consumer mortgage TDR Loans held for investment includes $584 million and $615 million,
respectively, of loans that are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

®  AtJune 30,2019 and December 31,2018, the carrying value of TDR Loans includes $256 million and $286 million, respectively, of loans which are classified
as nonaccrual.

(6)

Included in the allowance for credit losses.
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The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

(in millions)

Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Business and corporate Banking .............cocceeeeveeierieieininieieese e $ 65 $§ 137 S 66 $ 156
G1ODAl DANKING ......vevieiiieiieiieiieieeieit ettt ettt s eae s be e esseesaenseesaenseens 82 110 92 132
Total COMMETCIAL........ccuiiiiiiiiiieiieieee et 147 247 158 288
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES ......vecveeeieiieieiieiesie ettt e et seeesbeeseenbeesaense e 615 664 621 670
Home equity MOTtZAZES .....ccvervirvirieieiiieieeeeeieteeeieeie ettt eaennene 33 35 34 34
Credit CaTAS ...o.eeieuiiiiriirieeieiereee ettt ettt st 4 4 4 4
TOtAl COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt sttt sb et st seneene 652 703 659 708
Total average balance of TDR LO@NS..........coeciiiriiriirienieieieieeeeeeee et $ 799 § 950 $ 817 $§ 996

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Business and corporate Banking .............cccceeeeeeeeerieieieieeeeiee e $ 1 8§ — 3 2 3 4
G1ODal DANKING ......eevieiiiiieiieiieieeet ettt sttt es et eenaense e — 1 1 2
Total COMMETCIAL. ......eiuieiitiitiititeiere ettt st 1 1 3 6
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES ......eecveeeieiieiieiieierie ettt sttt eneenee e 6 7 13 14
Home equity MOTTZAZES ....cveeveerieeieiieeierieeie st eee st eae e eae e esesreessesseesseesaenseens 1 1 1 1
TOtAl COMSUIMET ...ttt ettt sttt st sttt e e eaeeneeeae 7 8 14 15
Total interest income recognized on TDR Lo@ns..........c.cccvvveerreiereeierieerieeesieesnennns $ 8 3§ 9 8 17 $ 21

The following table presents consumer loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which
subsequently became 60 days or greater contractually delinquent during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

(in millions)

Consumer loans:

Residential MOTTZAZES ......c.ocveviivieiirieietieietieetet ettt ettt ae e $ 1 $ — 3 3 3 2
HOME eqUItY MOTTZALZES ....eeveeeereeiieeiieeiieiieeieeeeteeteesaeebeesaeeseessseeseesssesseesssennne — 1 — 2
TOLAL CONMSUITIET ....vvveevieereeteeete ettt et eteeteeteeteeteeaeeteeveeaseeseeaseeseenseeseeseessesseessenseas $ 1 3 1 3 3 3 4

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, there were no commercial TDR Loans which were classified as
TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which subsequently became 90 days or greater contractually delinquent.
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Impaired commercial loans The following table presents information about impaired commercial loans and the related impairment
reserve:

Amount Amount
with without Total Impaired Unpaid
Impairment Impairment Commercial Impairment Principal
Reserves®™ Reserves®™ Loans"® Reserve Balance
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Real estate, including construction...........cccceceeeeerenene $ 3 S 1 $ 4 $ 2 S 4
Business and corporate banking ..........c.cccceceeeeeerencnnns 46 55 101 21 110
Global banking ..........ccceevererenereeeeeeeeeeeese e — 101 101 — 111
Total commercial..........cccoeeveeeieeeeieeeeeeeeee e $ 49 $ 157 $ 206 $ 23 $ 225
At December 31, 2018 -
Real estate, including construction.............cceceveeruennees $ 33 33 6 $ 1 $ 6
Business and corporate banking ............cccceceeceeerinennens 58 37 95 18 109
Global banking ...........ccceveverieriesieieieieeeeeieeee e — 133 133 — 140
Other cOMMETCial .........coveieviieiiniieieeieie e — 1 1 — 1
Total commercial.......ccc.oeeviiieiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e, $ 61 $ 174 $ 235 $ 19 $ 256

1)
(©]

Reflects the carrying value of impaired commercial loans and includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs.

Includes impaired commercial loans that are also considered TDR Loans which totaled $143 million and $181 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively.

The following table presents information about average impaired commercial loans and interest income recognized on impaired
commercial loans:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONSLIUCION .........cocvevivveririeriireieteieeeceeeree e $ 4 3 12 S 5 % 11
Business and corporate Danking............c.ceverererenierienieneieieeee e 105 272 101 264
GlODAl DANKING .....eeeieieiiieiieie ettt st neas 100 248 111 311
Total average balance of impaired commercial l0ans............ccoocvevvervenereeriennennen. $ 209 § 532 $ 217 $ 586
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -

Business and corporate Danking..............ceeeeererieriesiesienieieieeeeeeee e $ 2 5 1 $ 3 9 6
GlODAl DANKING ......ceviiiieiiieiieiieierie ettt e st e e seesaesaeesaesseesseennensens — 1 1

Total interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans.............cc.cccee..... $ 2 35 2 9 4 3 8
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan
portfolio:

Criticized loans Criticized loan classifications presented in the table below are determined by the assignment of various criticized
facility grades based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention  Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Real estate, including CONStrUCHON ........cecveveveeereeeiereeiecieeieeenn $ 784 $ 151 $ 1 3 936
Business and corporate banking..........cccccecevirveninneninnencnnenn. 282 441 27 750
Global BanKING ......cccccveeririririnireneteretetetee et 243 276 — 519
Total cOMMETCIAL......coooiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 1,309 $ 868 $ 28 $ 2,205
At December 31, 2018 -
Real estate, including construction ..............ccccceveveveeereeereeenennan. $ 452§ 93 §$ 4 3 549
Business and corporate banking............coccoveceeeieneriniencninienenenes 193 314 15 522
Global DANKING ......cveieiieiiiiiiieieie e 262 277 — 539
Other commercial..........cccuiivieriiiiiieriececceeee e — 1 — 1
Total COMMEICIal........c.oooviiiiiciiieiieeee et $ 9207 $ 685 $ 19 § 1,611

Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Real estate, including construction.............eceeveereeeriennnnen. $ 11,697 $ 7 S — $ 11,704
Business and corporate banking ............ccocceveeieninienennnns 14,219 90 1 14,310
Global banKing.........cceceeererinineneninenereeeeeeeeeeeee e 20,843 53 — 20,896
Other commercial ..........ccccoeieiiiieiieeeeee e 5,835 — — 5,835
Total cOMMETCIAL......covoieieeiee et $ 52,594 $ 150 $ 1 3 52,745
At December 31, 2018
Real estate, including construction..............ccoeveeeveeerenanen. $ 11,337  $ 7 $ — 3 11,344
Business and corporate banking .........c.ccoccevevveninnencnnn. 12,995 70 1 13,066
Global banking.........ccceceeevererinenenineneneneeeeeeeeeeaee 20,102 65 — 20,167
Other commercial ...........ccoceiviiiriiiniree e 4,764 1 — 4,765
Total COMMETCIAL .....ccuveeveeeeeeeeeeee et $ 49,198 $ 143 $ 1 3 49,342
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercial loan portfolio:

Investment lnvlzsoti;ent
Grade( Grade Total
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Real estate, including CONSLIUCTION .......c.eeieiiiiiitieiiie et $ 6,807 $ 4,897 $ 11,704
Business and corporate banking 8,341 14,310
Global banking...........cccceceeerennens 6,036 20,896
Other commercial .............c.......... 677 5,835
Total commercial ...........cccuueee... $ 19,951 §$ 52,745
At December 31, 2018 -
Real estate, including CONStIUCTION .......c.eeieieiiiiiiiie e $ 6769 $ 4575 $ 11,344
Business and corporate Banking ...........cccccceceevererinenenineneneneieteeeeeeee e 5,674 7,392 13,066
G1ODAl DANKING........eevieiieiiieiieiieeete ettt sttt ettt e et e et e sseesaesseessesaeensesnees 14,764 5,403 20,167
Other COMMETCIAL ....c..eiiiiiciieciiecee ettt e e e eb e s beesbeessbeebeensee s 3,990 775 4,765
Total COMMETCIAL .....c.ocvieievieietieetieeteee ettt ettt ettt ee et st et eae et aeereenerenea $ 31,197 $ 18,145 $ 49,342

M Investment grade includes commercial loans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total

loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Residential mortgages ™ ...........cooiviieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 319 1.83% $ 347 1.99%
Home equity mort@ages'™™@ ..........c.ooviiiiioeeeeeeeeeeeee e 27 2.96 30 3.05
Credit CATAS .oveiiieeieiee ettt e e e r e e s e et e e e e e ennnaes 25 2.21 20 1.96
Other CONSUMET .......ccuvvieeeeee e et e e eee e et e e et e e eeaeeeeeareeeeneeeas 6 2.21 8 2.62
TOtAl CONSUIMIET ..ottt ettt e et e et e s eateeseaeeeenaneeennneeeas $ 377 1.91% $ 405 2.05%

M At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $239 million and $254 million, respectively, of loans that are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell, including $1 million and $1 million, respectively, relating to loans held

for sale.

@ At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consumer mortgage loans and loans held for sale include $146 million and $125 million, respectively, of loans

that were in the process of foreclosure.
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total

(in millions)

At June 30, 2019
Residential mOTtZages .......ccoveeveeriierieenieeiieeie e e eiee s $ 17,051 $ 370 $ — $ 17,421
Home equity mortgages. .......c.ceceeerervenenenenenienenieneeeeenennes 863 48 — 911
Credit CardS......ooverueriereeieeee ettt 1,111 — 18 1,129
Other CONSUMET .....cvevieuieieiiiiiniencrestese ettt 268 — 4 272
Total CONSUMET .....eoiiiiiiiiiieieriee e $ 19,293 § 418 $ 22§ 19,733

At December 31, 2018 - -
Residential MOTtgages .........ccceeeeerirenerieneneneneeeeeeeeeee $ 17,042 $ 341 $ — $ 17,383
Home equity mOrtgages. .......c.coueererinerenenenieneeneeeeeeeenennes 927 55 — 982
Credit CardS......ooveveriereeieieeeeee et 1,005 — 14 1,019
Other CONSUIMET ....eouvevieiietieiieiieieeece ettt ee e 246 — 6 252
TOtal CONSUIMET ......vovieiveveiieiiereeeeceeeeeteieees bt es s sesns $ 19220 $ 396 § 20 § 19,636

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our loan portfolios included interest-only residential
mortgage and home equity mortgage loans totaling $3,254 million and $3,208 million, respectively. An interest-only residential
mortgage loan allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period of time which results in
lower payments during the initial loan period. However, subsequent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect
the ability of customers to repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of
this loan type.
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5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for credit losses by product and the related loan balance by product
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Real Estate, and Home
including Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Construction Banking Banking Comm'l Mortgages  Mortgages Cards Consumer Total

(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

Allowance for credit losses — beginning

OF PEriod ..o $ 119 $ 239§ 122§ 15 $ 10 $ 8 $ 63 § 7 $ 583
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 30 13 (&) 6) 1 1) 19 1) 46
Charge-0fFS .......ovvvvoeoooeoeveeeeeeeeeeree. — Q) A3) — A3 ) 12) @) 23)
Recoveries — 1 — — 3 1 1 1 7
Net (charge-offs) recoveries — ) 3) — — — (11) 1) (16)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PEIOA s $ 149 $ 251 § 110 $ 9 $ 11 s 7 8 71 $ 5 $ 613
Three Months Ended June 30, 2018
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
OF PEHiod ... $ 92 $ 207 $ 201 $ 19 $ 18 $ 10 $ 38 8§ 4 3 59
Provision charged (credited) to income..... @) 27 25) — 4 — 13 2 (45)
Charge-offS .......ccoveevnnecnncccneecnes — (6) (32) — (1) 2) (7) 2) (50)
RECOVETIES ..o — 22 — — 2 1 1 1 27
Net (charge-offs) recoveries..........c.couuee.. — 16 32) — 1 (1) (6) 1) (23)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PEIIOA ..t $ 88 $ 196 $ 154 $ 19 3 15 3 9 $§ 45 § 5 § 531
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
of period.......cccccvvviiiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiie $ 116 $ 219 $ 108 $ 15§ 13 % 7 % 58 8§ 5 § 541
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 33 35 5 6) — — 35 2 104
ChArgE-0fFS ... — @ A3) — ) @) @25) A3) 44)
Recoveries — 1 — — 5 2 3 1 12
Net (charge-offs) recoveries.........cocecu.n... — 3) 3) — ?2) — (22) 2) 32)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PEriod .....coiiiiiiiie $ 149 § 251 $ 110 § 9 $ 1 $ 7 8 71 8§ 5 § 613
Ending balance: collectively evaluated -
for Impairment ... $ 147 $ 230 $ 110 $ 9 $ 8 8 7 8 70 $ 5 $ 586
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ...............ccooovvevererrennnnn. 2 21 — — 3 — 1 — 27
Total allowance for credit losses................ $ 149 $ 251 § 110 $ 9 § 1 3 7 $ 71 9 5 $§ 613
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment ... § 11,700 $ 14209 $ 20,795 $ 5835 $ 16,559 $ 854 $1,125 § 272 $71,349
Individually evaluated for impairment® ... 4 101 101 — 53 4 4 — 267
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair value less cost to sell.................. — — — — 809 53 — — 862
Total 10ans ........ocvveienienieniincinieines $ 11,704 $ 14,310 $ 20,896 $ 5835 §$§ 17421 $ 911 $1,129 § 272 $72,478
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Commercial Consumer
Business
Real Estate, and Home
including Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Construction Banking Banking Comm'l Mortgages  Mortgages Cards Consumer Total

(in millions)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018

Allowance for credit losses — beginning

of period.......cccccviviviviniiininiiiiie $ 82 3 244 $ 264§ 18 8 25 8 11 $ 32 3 5§ 681
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 6 61) 74 1 (14) 1) 25 2 (116)
Charge-offs — @31 37 — 1) “) (15) 3) on
RECOVETIES ..ot — 44 1 — 5 3 3 1 57
Net (charge-offs) recoveries ...........cceuunen. — 13 (36) — 4 (1) (12) 2) (34)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
Period ..o $ 88 § 196 $ 154 $ 19 $ 15 $ 9 § 45 § 5 § 53]
Ending balance: collectively evaluated -
for IMpairment ... $ 87 § 169 $ 139§ 19 $ 10 $ 8 $ 44 $ 5§ 481
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment .............ccccceeverereerenennne. 1 27 15 — 5 1 1 — 50
Total allowance for credit losses................ $ 88 $ 196 $ 154 $ 19 §$ 15§ 9 $§ 45 § 5 $ 531
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment”... § 11,234 § 11,852 $ 18,704 $ 4,612 $ 16397 $ 1019 $ 87 $ 303 $64,958
Individually evaluated for impairment® ... 11 257 173 — 59 3 4 — 507

Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair value less cost to sell.................. — — — — 870 64 — — 934

$ 11,245 § 12,109 $ 18,877 $§ 4612 $ 17326 $ 1,086 § 841 $ 303 $66,399

Total loans

M Other commercial includes loans to HSBC affiliates totaling $3,096 million and $1,895 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, for which we do
not carry an associated allowance for credit losses.

@ For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow

methodology. Each loan is individually identified as a TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted
cash flow analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR Loans that are carried at the
lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled $584 million and $635 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONSIIUCHION. .......c..ouiiiiuiriiiiciicicre e $ 66 $ 27

G1ODAL DANKING ....ceetiieetietiete ettt ettt ettt b e sttt sb et e et et e et et e st eseeseeneeseenes 85 367

TOtal COMIMETCIAL.....c.viiiiieiieeii ettt ettt e et e e be e eabeebeessbe e saeesseessseesseeseeessaaseennsens 151 394
Consumer loans:

Residential MOTEZAZES ......vervieuieiieieeii ettt ettt et e e et eee s et e e e sneensesseesesneeseeneens 40 65

OthET COMSUITIET ....uviviiiiieiietieiteete ettt et e e teeaeseeesbesteesbeessesbeessesseessasseessasseessesseessesseessesssessesssessensaens — 53

TOLAl CONSUIMET .....evieitiiieiieciieeie ettt ettt et e et e e steeeabeebeesabeeseessbeessseesseesseesseesaesssaeseennsens 40 118
Total 10ans NEld fOr SAIE ......cviviieiiiiciieeec ettt te e s reesaesreebeesaesbeesnens $ 191 $ 512

Commercial Loans Included in commercial loans held for sale are certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment
and transferred to held for sale which totaled $23 million and $285 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
During both the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we reversed nil of the lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustment
previously recorded on commercial loans held for sale as a component of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of
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income as a result of an increase in fair value due to improved pricing compared with reversing less than $1 million and $3 million
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we have elected to designate under the fair value option which
consists of loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent
of selling them to unaffiliated third parties as well as loans that we purchase from the secondary market and hold as hedges against
our exposure to certain total return swaps. The fair value of these loans totaled $128 million and $109 million at June 30, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Consumer Loans Included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are agency-eligible residential mortgage loans which are
originated and held for sale to third parties, currently on a servicing retained basis. Gains and losses from the sale of these residential
mortgage loans are reflected as a component of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income.

During the first quarter of 2019, we transferred $53 million of student loans that were previously classified as other consumer
loans held for sale back to held for investment as we now intend to hold these loans for the foreseeable future.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. Interest rate risk for agency-eligible residential mortgage loans
held for sale is partially mitigated through an economic hedging program to offset changes in the fair value of these mortgage
loans held for sale, from the time of commitment to sale, attributable to changes in market interest rates. Revenue associated with
this economic hedging program, which is reflected as a component of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income,
was losses of $1 million and $2 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, compared with losses
of less than $1 million during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2018.

Valuation Allowances Excluding the commercial loans designated under the fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale
are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance
through other revenues. The valuation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $2 million and $4 million at June 30, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $1 million and $3 million
at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

7.  Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,607 million at both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Goodwill for these periods reflects accumulated
impairment losses of $670 million, which were recognized in prior periods. During the first half of 2019, there were no events or
changes in circumstances to indicate that it is more likely than not the fair values of any of our reporting units have reduced below
their respective carrying amounts.

8. Leases

We have entered into operating leases for premises and equipment. As discussed more fully in Note 21, "New Accounting
Pronouncements," beginning January 1, 2019, lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities for operating leases are
recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using our
incremental borrowing rate at the effective commencement date of each lease. Operating lease ROU assets are recorded in other
assets while operating lease liabilities are recorded in interest, taxes and other liabilities. We have not entered into any finance
leases.

Certain leases contain options to renew or terminate the lease which are recognized as part of our ROU assets and liabilities when
it is reasonably certain the options will be exercised. Certain leases also contain escalation clauses. We have lease agreements that
contain both lease and non-lease components, such as maintenance costs, which are accounted for separately. Operating lease cost
for fixed lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments for real estate taxes,
insurance, maintenance and utilities, which are generally based on our pro rata share of the total property, are not included in the
measurement of the ROU assets or lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred. In addition, we do not recognize ROU assets or
lease liabilities for short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less, which are also expensed as incurred.

We have entered into agreements to sublease certain office space, including agreements to receive rental income from our affiliates
for rent. As owner or lessee of the properties, we have entered into agreements with affiliates to charge them rent based on the
office space utilized by their employees during the period. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," for further disclosure.
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The following table summarizes the components of total operating lease costs, net and provides supplemental cash flow information
related to leases:

Three Months Six Months
Ended June Ended June

30, 2019 30, 2019
(in millions)
OPETALING LEASE COSE ..envirieutieuietieiieeit et et ettt et e e et e bt et ee et es e e et eaeesseeneesaeensesseensesneenseeseenseennenseens $ 34 $ 66
VaTIable LRASE COST......eurrtiuiriiietiietiiet ettt ettt ettt sttt et st n et be e s b e e 17 31
N 110 3 0 ST TS o1 1] SRR 2 6
SUDIEASE INCOIMIC ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et sa et sttt ettt et e etese et enaetenaenen (14) (28)
Total operating 1ease COSS, NMEL.......coueuiiiiiiiirirertietirt sttt ettt eae ettt sre b e et neneens $ 39 $ 75
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities ..............ccoevenenee $ 31 § 62
ROU assets recognized for new operating lease 1iabilities .........ccccovereeiecirrerenienieninieneneseseseneeen — 10
The following table presents information about our operating lease ROU assets and liabilities:
June 30, 2019

(dollars are in millions)
Operating 1ease ROU @SSETs!)............coo.oviiuoeoeeoeeeeeeeeee e ee e $ 735
Operating [€aSe HHADILILIES ......eouirtirtiriiriiietet ettt ettt ettt et b e bt bbb e 786
Weighted-average remaining 18aSe tEIMN........c..evuiviiriirierieieieieieteeeere ettt ettt e 7.3 years
Weighted-average diSCOUNTE TALE.........couerterierterieieieteiiei ettt ettt ettt ettt et ebe et sbe bbb e 3.2%

o Reported net of level lease adjustments and exit cost obligations.
The following table presents a maturity analysis of our operating lease liabilities at June 30, 2019:

Year Ending December 31,

(in millions)

2010 e h e h e bbbt ke h e bbbt a e h e eh e bt b e bt bbbt bt b e bt a b st et ebe bt e bt eae bt b e $ 56
2020 ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et a e en e ea e st ekt eh e eRe ke eh e R oA et et et e atenEen e eRteh £ eRe e Rt ekt bt eh e ek et e se s enten s et enteneeneeneeneeaees 135
202 ettt ettt ettt et et et et et eateatententes e eR e Rt Rt R e R e s enteasensententententesteReeR e eR e R e ese ke tensensensensententeneeneeneeseerene 135
2022 ettt h e h e h e eh e bt bt ke h e bt E e e Rt eh e ea e eh e eh e e bt e bt ekt b e bttt e bt ea e n b et e bt e bt e bbbt b e 131
202 ettt ettt ettt a e ea e eaees e ekt eh e ehe ke eheeR e Aot e s et en s eREen e eR e eh e eh e Rt ekt bt ehe et et e se s entent et enteneeneeaeeneeaeee 130
O @ATICT ...ttt ettt ettt et e et e e bt e et e e s taeesbe e tseasbeesaeesbeaasseesseessseasseesseenssesaeensaeesseenseessbaensaennsean 312
Total future Operating 1€aSE PAYIMCILS .........ceeruerierieriertieierieeteeteete st etesatesesseessessseseessesseessenseassesssessesssensesssessesnes 899
LSS = TMPULEA INEETESE ... eeeuvietieeiieiieeteerte et et te et e sttesbeestaeesbeesteeesseesseeesseessseesseesssaenseessseanseanssesnseesssesnseesssesnsesnssenn a13)
Total operating 1€ase HHADIIILIES .........ecuiiuieieieieee ettt ettt s e st e st eteea e teea et e eneeeseenseeneeneeeneensesneas $ 786

At June 30,2019, we had $24 million of additional operating leases for premises that have not yet commenced and are not reflected
in the table above.

For comparative periods prior to the adoption of the new accounting guidance on January 1, 2019, we have retained the following
disclosures as previously reported. Net rental expense under operating leases, which did not include certain variable lease costs,
was $24 million and $47 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.
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Future net minimum lease commitments under noncancellable operating lease arrangements at December 31, 2018, which did not
include renewals, were as follows:

Minimum Minimum
Lease Sublease
Year Ending December 31, Payments Income Net
(in millions)
2019 oo ee et e e et e st es e s ee s ee e st s e s ee s eeseeeeeeer e $ 136 $ (58) $ 78
2020 e e 125 2) 123
D021 oo e s et e e st e e s ees e 115 (1) 114
2022 .t e st ene s ne s ne s 103 — 103
2023 et 91 — 91
TREICATTET ...ttt ettt b e ettt eesaesreesaesaeensesreesbeesnenneas 182 ) 181
Net minimum lease COMMIMENTS..........c.coieviiiieriiirieieire ettt ettt ere et eeeere e e $ 752 $ ©2) $ 690

9. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments we enter into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, derivative instruments are designated in one of the following categories: (a) hedging
instruments designated as qualifying hedges under derivative and hedge accounting principles, (b) financial instruments held for
trading or (c) non-qualifying economic hedges. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting agreements with
counterparties, the master netting agreements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

The following table presents the fair value of derivative contracts by major product type on a gross basis. Gross fair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting as well as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
also presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, as
well as cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable master netting agreements that do not meet the criteria
for netting. Derivative assets and liabilities which are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to a
netting agreement where an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or
obtained, have not been netted in the following table. Where we have received or posted collateral under netting agreements where
an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained, the related
collateral also has not been netted in the following table.
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June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)

Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges”

OTC-CIEATEAD ..o eesee s $ — 3 — 3 6 $ —
— 161 — 117
— 161 6 117

Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges""

Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® ... 8 23 11 32
Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC® ..., — 31 — 13
Total derivatives accounted for as hedges ...................c.ccoocovveieieviiiicieeeeeeeeeeee e 8 215 17 162

Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®

EXChan@e-traded® .............oooecoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeeeee e see e eeee e s es s r s 98 23 2 45
OTC-CLeared® ... s 51 18 50 14
BilAteral OTC® ........oooooeoieeeeeeeceeeeeessss e essscessssssss s 11,204 12,504 9,866 10,780
Interest rate COMEIACES .............c.ccoviiuiiiriiiiiiieiiire ettt 11,353 12,545 9,918 10,839
Exchange-traded(2> ............................................................................................................... 1 28 — 15
Bilateral OTC® .......oooooooiiiiiieieseeseeeeessssessee st 13,360 12,993 15,897 15,684
Foreign exchange CONtracts ....................ccccooiiiiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeee et 13,361 13,021 15,897 15,699
EXCRANEE-rAded ..ot s et ee s es e enean 16 — — —
BilAteral OTC® ........oooooeoieeeeeeeceeeeeessss e essscessssssss s 2,738 2,744 2,034 2,061
Equity contracts... 2,754 2,744 2,034 2,061
Exchange-traded®.. . 106 136 16 274
Bilateral OTC® .......ooooooiiiiiieieseeseeseesessssseesess sttt 1,254 1,255 829 626
Precious Metals COMEIACES...................ooeiiiiiiiiiii ettt e 1,360 1,391 845 900
OTC-CLeared® ... 191 178 125 107
BilAteral OTC® .........ooooeoieeeeeeeeceeeeessss e essseessssssss s 927 1,069 825 831
Credit COMEIACES ..............coviiiiiiiiciecc et 1,118 1,247 950 938
Other non-qualifying derivatives not accounted for as hedges™
Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC® ..__.................cccoooovimmiiireeeeceeeeeceeereeeeseseee. 207 67 133 216
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTCP oo 1 8 13 2
Equity contracts - bilateral OTC® ..................coooooiiioioeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 1,022 157 512 805
Credit contracts - bilateral OTC® ... 1 28 6 9
Other contracts - bilateral OTC®® e, 5 40 5 40
Total derivatives...............cccvviiieiiiieieiiicece ettt 31,190 31,463 30,330 31,671
Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting
agreements™?) e 24,555 24,555 25,172 25,172
Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master
netting agreements® s 3,439 3,627 2,020 3,675
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ..................... 3,196 3,281 3,138 2,824
Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to
enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance
SHEEL ...t 789 1,572 832 568

Net amounts of derivative assets / lHabilities ...................oocooiiiioieeee e $ 2,407 $ 1,709 $ 2,306 $ 2,256

M Derivative assets / liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded
in other assets / interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

@ Over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through obtaining collateral and enforceable master netting
agreements. OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central
clearing counterparty becomes the counterparty to each of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized
exchange. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining requirements. In addition, OTC-
cleared interest-rate derivatives with certain central clearing counterparties are settled daily.

®  Trading related derivative assets / liabilities are recorded in trading assets / trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

@ Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Inc. ("Visa") Class B common shares ("Class B Shares").

®)

Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.
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©®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

(™ Netting is performed at a counterparty level in cases where enforceable master netting agreements are in place, regardless of the type of derivative instrument.

Therefore, we have not allocated netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," for further information on offsetting related
to resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires us to identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities as well as forecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using a regression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting
changes in the fair value or the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate assets and liabilities fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates.
We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and futures contracts to minimize our exposure to changes in fair value caused by interest
rate volatility. The changes in the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to
the carrying amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is discontinued and the hedged item continues
to exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

The following table presents the carrying amount of hedged items in fair value hedges recognized in the consolidated balance
sheet at June 30, 2019, along with the cumulative amount of fair value hedging adjustments included in the carrying amount of
those hedged items:

Cumulative Amount of Fair Value Hedging
Adjustments Increasing (Decreasing) the

Carrying Amount of Carrying Amount of Hedged Items

Hedged Items Active Discontinued Total
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Securities available-for-sale ("AFS")...ccccovvevievievienieienieenen, $ 11,745  § 716 $ 252§ 968
Long-term debt.........cccoeoirieiiinieceee e 11,964 294 (52) 242

M The carrying amount of securities AFS represents the amortized cost basis.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their locations on the consolidated statement of income:

Net Ineffective
Gain (Loss
Gain (Loss) on Derivatives" Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized”
Net Interest Other Income Net Interest Other Income Other Income
Income (Loss) Income (Loss) (Loss)
(in millions)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Interest rate contracts / Securities AFS .............. $ 404) $ — S 488 $ — 9 —
Interest rate contracts / Long-term debt ............. 153 — (290) — —
TOAL et $ 251) $ — S 198 $ — S —
Three Months Ended June 30, 2018
Interest rate contracts / Securities AFS .............. $ (10) $ 125 $ 89 $ 117) $ 8
Interest rate contracts / Long-term debt ............. (14) @) (53) 4 (3)
TOtAL. oo $ 4) $ 118 S 36 $ (113) $ 5
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Interest rate contracts / Securities AFS .............. $ (661) $ — S 838 §$ — 9 —
Interest rate contracts / Long-term debt ............. 237 — (489) — —
TOAL e $ 424) $ — S 349 § — S —
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018
Interest rate contracts / Securities AFS $ 33) $ 487 $ 176 $ 474) $ 13
Interest rate contracts / Long-term debt (20) (67) (110) 65 ()
TOtAL. oo $ (53) $ 420 S 66 $ (409) $ 11

M As a result of adopting new accounting guidance discussed in Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements," beginning January 1, 2019, we report gains
and losses on the derivatives and the hedged items in fair value hedges in net interest income. Prior to January 1, 2019, fair value hedge ineffectiveness was
separately measured and reported in other income (loss).

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. As a part of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changes in fair value of a derivative instrument associated
with a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). When the cash flows being hedged
materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss from the hedging derivative previously recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCI") is reclassified into earnings in the same accounting period in which the designated
forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. If a cash flow hedge of a forecasted transaction is discontinued because it
is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship is terminated, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging derivative to
that date will continue to be reported in AOCI unless it is probable that the hedged forecasted transaction will not occur by the
end of the originally specified time period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
is released into earnings.

At June 30, 2019, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036. During the three and six months ended
June 30, 2019, respectively, $9 million and $19 million of losses related to discontinued cash flow hedge relationships were
amortized to earnings from AOCI compared with losses of $5 million and $9 million during the three and six months ended June
30, 2018, respectively. During the next twelve months, we expect to amortize $31 million of remaining losses to earnings resulting
from these discontinued cash flow hedges. The interest accrual related to the hedging instruments is recognized in net interest
income.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from discontinued cash flow hedges) and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income:

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Gain (Loss) Reclassified From

ativac) Location of Gain . (1)
AOCI on Derivatives (Loss) Reclassified from AOCI into Income
2019 2018 AOCI into Income"” 2019 2018

(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30,

Foreign exchange contracts ...................... $ — (1) Net interest income  $ — 3 —
Interest rate contracts...........ccoeeeveeveennenne. ?2) 9 Net interest income 9 (5)
TOtal .o $ 2) 93 8 $ 9 3 (5)
Six Months Ended June 30,

Foreign exchange contracts .........c..c......... $ 1 3 6) Net interest income  $ — § —
Interest rate contracts.........cccceevveeeeiieennns 5 12 Net interest income 19 9)
Total .o $ 6 $ 6 $ a9 $ 9)

M As a result of adopting new accounting guidance discussed in Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements," beginning January 1, 2019, gains and losses

on the derivatives in cash flow hedges are initially reported in AOCI and then reclassified into earnings in the same accounting period in which the designated
forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. Prior to January 1, 2019, cash flow hedge ineffectiveness was separately measured and reported
immediately in other income (loss). Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness was immaterial during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018.

Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities In addition to risk management, we also enter into derivative
contracts, including buy- and sell-protection credit derivatives, for the purposes of trading and market making, or repackaging
risks to form structured trades to meet clients' risk taking objectives. Additionally, we buy or sell securities and use derivatives to
mitigate the market risks arising from our trading activities with our clients that exceed our risk appetite. We also use buy-protection
credit derivatives to manage our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter into derivatives for trading purposes, realized
and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in trading revenue. Counterparty credit risk associated with OTC derivatives,
including risk-mitigating buy-protection credit derivatives, are recognized as an adjustment to the fair value of the derivatives and
are recorded in trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging and other activities include:

*  Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured
notes and deposits, for which we have elected fair value option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-qualifying
hedges but are considered economic hedges.

*  Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfolio. In the
event of an impairment loss occurring in a loan that is economically hedged, the impairment loss is recognized as provision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income (loss).

»  Swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares to a third party to retain the litigation
risk associated with the Class B Shares sold until the related litigation is settled and the Class B Shares can be converted
into Class A common shares ("Class A Shares"). See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase
Agreements," for additional information.

*  Forward purchases or sales of to-be-announced ("TBA") securities used to economically hedge changes in the fair value
of agency-eligible residential mortgage loans held for sale attributable to changes in market interest rates. Changes in the
fair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, are recorded in other income (loss). See Note 6, "Loans
Held for Sale," for additional information.

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profitand loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on economic hedges are recognized in gain (loss) on instruments designated
at fair value and related derivatives or other income (loss) while the derivative asset or liability positions are reflected as other
assets or other liabilities.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for trading purposes and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Location of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
Interest rate CONtracts............coeeervevevenene. Trading revenue $ (171) § 126 $ (115 $ 329
Foreign exchange contracts .........c........... Trading revenue 677 28 814 (72)
Equity contracts .........ccceceevererencneniennenn Trading revenue (61) 2 (150) €))
Precious metals contracts..........c.ccoeruenee Trading revenue (388) 85 (522) 215
Credit CONtracts.......cceeveeeereeeseseseeeenee Trading revenue (145) (1) (267) 4
Total .o $ (8% 240 $ (240) $ 467

The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging and other
activities and their locations on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

Location of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)

Interest rate contracts .........cccceceeeeercenennee Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives $ 180 § (54 $ 336 $ (216)
Interest rate contracts .............ooevvvveeeeeeeenns Other income (loss) (1) — (2) _
Foreign exchange contracts..........c..c..c...... Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives 1 ®) — (10)
Equity contracts........c.cecceevevereneneniennenn Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives 324 167 1,238 (172)
Credit coNntracts ..........cccoceeeevvccinnicncnnnn. Other income (loss) “@ 12 (14) 10
Other contracts™ ..........cccoovvoveveeereennn. Other income (loss) 3) (12) 9 (14)
Total..ceeeeeieeeee e $ 497 § 105 $ 1,549 $ (402)

(" Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares.

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features The majority of our derivative contracts contain provisions that require us to maintain
a specific credit rating from each of the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part
of broader structured product transactions. If our credit ratings were to fall below the current ratings, the counterparties to our
derivative instruments could demand us to post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral required to be posted will
depend on whether we are downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-
risk related contingent features that were in a net liability position at June 30, 2019 was $622 million, for which we had posted
collateral of $304 million. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that
were in a net liability position at December 31, 2018 was $979 million, for which we had posted collateral of $422 million.
Substantially all of the collateral posted is in the form of cash or securities available-for-sale. See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements,
Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," for further details.
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The following table presents the amount of additional collateral that we would be required to post (from the current collateral
level) related to derivative instruments with credit-risk related contingent features if our long-term ratings were downgraded by
one or two notches. A downgrade by a single rating agency that does not result in a rating lower than a preexisting corresponding
rating provided by another rating agency will generally not result in additional collateral.

One-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade

(in millions)

Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade ............ccccceevvecirvenenieninenicnicnnens $ 34 % 55

Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

(in millions)

Interest rate:

Futures and FOrWardS .........c.oooviioiiiii ettt et ene e $ 653,615 §$ 787,049
N 1 1P 3,062,626 3,203,048
OPLONS WITEEETI....euvetieieietieie ettt et et te st e e st ete st ebesse e sessaenseeseenseessesseeneenseensesseensesnes 106,238 106,009
OptioNS PUICRASEA ... .ovieiiiieiieiieeee ettt e sa e re s e sreenaeeeas 110,682 107,561
3,933,161 4,203,667
Foreign exchange:

Swaps, futures and fOrwards ............coecerieeiiiieciiieeeee e 1,169,693 1,052,088
(031510331 L (<7 TSP 54,583 30,567
Options PUICRASEA ......cvieeieiieieieieee ettt e se s sne e enes 55,027 31,069
1] S 10 SOOI SRURURS 42,539 31,084
1,321,842 1,144,808

Commodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, futures and fOrwards ............coeceiieeieiieiicieeeee e 56,428 41,328
OPHIONS WITEEETI....euetieiieeieie et ettt ettt sttt st et b ettt et e ie et e st et e et eebe et e eaeeneesees 35,191 28,595
Options PUICRASEA ......cvieeieiieieieieee ettt e se s sne e enes 46,245 40,236
137,864 110,159
Credit EITVALIVES ....evveiiie ettt e e et e e e e et e e e e s eenaaaeeeeesenaaeeeessesaaseeeseannaaeeeeas 122,874 97,298
Other CONIACTS ™) ... 969 736
TOTAL .ttt ettt ettt ettt e et e esteesb e s ae et et e b et ae b e et b et e est e beesaenteenaeebeenaeereeneenees $ 5,516,710 §$ 5,556,668

M Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares.
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10. Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and endorsed by the European Union ("EU"). We typically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVO") accounting
to selected financial instruments to align the measurement attributes of those instruments under U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting
Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financial instruments. We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain
commercial loans held for sale, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate
long-term debt issuances and all of our hybrid instruments, including structured notes and deposits. Excluding the fair value
movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread, which is recorded in other comprehensive income
(loss), changes in the fair value of fair value option assets and liabilities as well as the mark-to-market adjustment on the related
derivatives and the net realized gains or losses on these derivatives are reported in gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives in the consolidated statement of income.

Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swaps and include these loans as loans held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet. The election allows us to account
for these loans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Where available, fair value
is based on observable market pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market prices of
instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not available, fair value is determined based on
contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default rates and loss severity discounted at
management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We also consider loan-specific risk mitigating
factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate. Interest from these loans is recorded as interest
income in the consolidated statement of income. Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the fair value option are
floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk factors. The
components of gain (loss) related to loans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. At June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, no loans for which the fair value option has been elected were 90 days or more past due or in nonaccrual
status.

Resale and Repurchase Agreements We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale
and repurchase agreements which are trading in nature. The election allows us to account for these resale and repurchase agreements
at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. The fair value of the resale and repurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities. Interest on these resale and repurchase agreements is recorded as interest income or expense in the consolidated statement
ofincome. The components of gain (loss) related to these resale and repurchase agreements designated at fair value are summarized
in the table below.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FVO accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows us to achieve a similar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary
markets and, as such, the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss)
in the consolidated statement of income related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVO accounting to all of our hybrid instruments issued, including structured notes and
deposits. The valuation of the hybrid instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments
and our own credit risk. Cash flows of the hybrid instruments in their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied
to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and structured note rates in recent executions while the credit spreads applied to structured deposits are
determined using market rates currently offered on comparable deposits with similar characteristics and maturities. Interest on this
debt is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) in the consolidated
statement of income related to hybrid instruments designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.
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The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Fair Value

Over (Under)
Unpaid Unpaid
Principal Principal
Fair Value Balance Balance
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Commercial loans held for sale...........cccvviiiiiniiinineeeee e 128 § 136 § ®)
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ...........coeevereereeeeciercerenenenesvenennens 222 222 —
Fixed rate 10ng-term debt...........ccueiriiiiiiiiiiiereeeeeeeeee e 2,160 1,750 410
Hybrid instruments:
SrUCtUred AEPOSIES ....veuveueenieiieiieiieieeieete ettt s 8,455 8,472 a7
SHIUCTUIEA NOTES ..ottt et et e e e eaesneenneenean 9,819 8,998 821
At December 31, 2018
Commercial loans held for sale...........cocvveririnenininciicccee e 109 $ 120 $ (11)
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ............coeeerereeierienceenenenesesenens 560 560 —
Fixed rate long-term debt...........cooiiiiiieiee e 1,935 1,750 185
Hybrid instruments:
Structured dePOSIES .....c..eovereeeiriririrerteeteee ettt ettt ettt 8,154 8,441 (287)
SHIUCTUIEA NOTES...e.vieuiieeieiieitete ettt ettt te e e reessesseessesreessesaeessesenas 9,314 9,546 (232)

39



HSBC USA Inc.

Components of Gain (Loss) on Instruments Designated at Fair Value and Related Derivatives The following table summarizes
the components of gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives reflected in the consolidated statement
of income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Securities
Sold Under
Repurchase Long-Term Hybrid
Loans Agreements Debt Instruments Total

(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Interest rate and other components(l) ................................... $ — 3 — S (100) $ “422) $ (522)
Credit risk component®............ccooovvveeeeeeeeeeeeereeeceeeeen — — — — —

Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at

FaIr VAlUC ..o — — (100) (422) (522)
Mark-to-market on related derivatives.......c..c.ccocevvererenennn — — 83 413 496
Net realized gain on related long-term debt derivatives ........

— — 9 — 9
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related derivatives .......coeoueverieieiee e $ — 3 — 3 @ $ O $ 17)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2018
Interest rate and other components ...............cc.coocovrvnnnn. $ — 3 1 3 34 % (135) $ (100)
Credit risk component™.............cc.ccoooerveeverieriesiesenenn. €)) — — (1)
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at

FAIT VAIUE ..o €)) 1 34 (135) (101)
Mark-to-market on related derivatives............cccoccoviniinnnn. — — (33) 127 94
Net realized gain on related long-term debt derivatives ........

— — 11 — 11
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related deriVatiVES ........ociivveeiieeiiiieieeee e $ 1 $ 1 $ 12 $ @) $ 4
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Interest rate and other components™ .............c...ccooccooerrnene. $ — 3 — 3 (169) $ (1,434) $ (1,603)
Credit risk component®...............ccocoovvvvreeeeeeeeeeeseeennen 3 — — — 3
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at

FAIE VAIUC ... 3 — (169) (1,434)  (1,600)
Mark-to-market on related derivatives..........coccevvrevereenennen. — — 136 1,419 1,555
Net realized gain on related long-term debt derivatives ........

— — 19 — 19
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related deriVatiVes .......coueouerverieieieeeee e $ 3 9 — 3 14) $ as) s (26)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018
Interest rate and other componentsm ................................... $ — $ — 9 122§ 307 $ 429
Credit risk component®..............ccccoovorvereereerereeeeeen 3 — — 3
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at

FAIT VAIUE ..o 3 — 122 307 432
Mark-to-market on related derivatives..........ccccoceeevercnuennenn — — (110) (312) (422)
Net realized gain on related long-term debt derivatives ........

— — 24 — 24
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related deriVatiVES ........ooiivveuiiieiiiiiieeee e $ 33 — $ 36 $ 5 $ 34

M As it relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components primarily includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.

@ The fair value movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).
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11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of equity.
The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss balances:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018

(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at beginning of PETIOQ..........cccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e $ (340) $ (494)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $73 million and $(22) million, respectively ...........c.cccoeuevenee. 235 (73)
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(5) and $(3) million, respectively™...........cccooooun..... (18) @)
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $1 million and $1 Million, TESPECTIVELY® ...........o.covveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo eeoes e 3 4
Total other comprehensive income (1088) fOI PEIIOM.........coveuiiriiieiiriiiiiiieicr ettt ettt 220 (76)
Balance at €N OF PEIIOA.........c.cuiriiiiiiiieiiiret ettt b et b sttt b ettt ettt b et st b ettt b ettt (120) (570)

Unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread:

Balance at beginning of period 190 (11)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains arising during the period, net of tax of $2 million and $41 million, respectively ..........c.ccccovuveererirccrnneans 7 129
Total other comprehensive INCOME fOr PETIOM. ......c.covrueuiirieiiiriieiiircc ettt ettt bbbt beseennene 7 129
Balance at @nd Of PEIIOQ........c.cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbbt 197 118
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning 0f PEIIO. ... ...cc.ouiuiiiiiiiiiii bbb (145) (197)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(1) million and $2 million, respectively .........cococvvvrrrireene. (¢)) 6
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $3 million and $1 million, respectively®................. 6 4
Total other comprehensive iNCOME fOr PEIIOM.........c.cuovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 5 10
Balance at @nd OF PEIIOQ..........coeiiiiiiiiiiiic ettt (140) (187)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at be@inning Of PEIIOM. ........ovuiieuiiiieiet ettt bttt ettt st a e st e st e bt s b e s e e st e b et et eness et e st e bt eb et en e te b eneenennen 8 4
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of nil and less than $1 million, respectively.. . — 1)
Total other comprehensive 10Ss fOr PEriod ...........ccuviviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e . — (€))]
Balance at @0 OF PEIIOA .....c.eueu ittt b ettt b et et be sttt b et e b st e b stttk et et b sttt b et s ettt nen 8 3
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of period......................oooiii e $ 55 $ (636)
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018

(in millions)
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at beginning of period $ (519) $ (250)

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were previously

classified as available-for-sale, net 0F tax 0f $2 MILHON® ... oeoveeoeeee et eee st eee e s e eeeee e ee e esesesesesesesesesereeneseeeeenerenes — 4
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
Le@ISIAHON™ ...ttt — (53)
Balance at beginning of period, AdJUSTEA ............cciriiiiuiiriiiiiei ettt (519) (299)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $128 million and $(85) million, respectively ...........c.cccceveeuee. 415 (266)
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(7) million and $(4) million, respectively"” (23) an
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $2 million and $2 Million, TESPECIVELY' ™ ......c.ooirviiiieieieee e 7 6
Total other comprehensive income (10SS) fOI PEIIOM..........oveuiiriiieiiririciiiieicerecec ettt enene 399 (271)
Balance at end of period (120) (570)
Unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread:
Balance at DegiNming OF PEIIOQ. ......c.coviveuiirieieiieie ettt b sttt b et b st e b e sttt ebene et e b sttt e b et et ne st benen 301 19)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
Legislation® ..........ccco.ccoovvemrrrenrnnn. — “)
Balance at beginning of period, adjusted .. 301 (23)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(33) million and $46 million, respectively .........c.ccceoevrueuencne (104) 141
Total other comprehensive income (10SS) fOr PEIIOQ.........c.cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicc e (104) 141
Balance at @0 OF PEIIOA.........c.c.iriiiiiiiieiiice ettt sttt h et ettt et aes 197 118
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PEIIOQ. ......c.courueuiririiiiiriicietec ettt ettt ettt ettt et ettt b et e bbbttt aen (159) (164)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
Le@ISIAON™ ...ttt — (35)
Balance at beginning of period, AdJUSTEA ............cciririiuiiriiiiiei ettt sttt (159) (199)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains arising during period, net of tax of $1 million and $2 million, respectively...........ccccccvvrerenreervnercerrenenes 5 5
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $5 million and $2 million, respectively®................. 14 7
Total other comprehensive iNCOME fOr PEIIOM.........c.oviieiiiririiiriiriri ettt 19 12
Balance at @nd OF PEIIOA.........c.c.iiiiiiiiiiii ettt (140) (187)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at beginning 0f PETIOQ. ......c.couvueuiririiieiririciieiee ettt ettt sttt sttt s ettt a ettt 11 2
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
L @ISIAtION™ ... oot — 1
Balance at beginning of period, adjusted 11 3
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of $(1) million and less than $1 million, respectively......... 3) —
Total other comprehensive 10Ss fOr PEriod ..o s 3) —
Balance at €A OF PETIOQ ........couiieieiieteieieise ettt ettt ettt ettt et et et e et e st e st et e s essesees e e s e st eseese s ese et e b enseneese b e s e esees e st enaesenseneeneetan 8 3
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss at end of period......................o.oooiiiiiiieee $ 55 $ (636)

M Amount reclassified to net income is included in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income.

@ Amount amortized to net income is included in interest income in our consolidated statement of income. During 2014, we transferred securities from available-
for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses related to the transferred securities which are being amortized
over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in a manner consistent with the amortization of any premium or discount.

) Amount reclassified to net income is included in net interest income in our consolidated statement of income.

)

See Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Polices and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional discussion.
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12. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The table below reflects the portion of pension expense and its related components of the combined
HSBC North America Pension Plan (either the "HSBC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan") which has been allocated to

us and is recorded in our consolidated statement of income. We have not been allocated any portion of the Plan's net pension
liability.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
................................................................ $ 14 3 15 $ 29 3§ 30
..................................................................................... (19) (19) 37 (40)
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS........cveeveiriierieeiierie e 5 5 12 10
..................................................................................................... 1 1 2
........................................................................................................... $ 1 9 2 3 6 3

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets

Administrative costs

Pension expense

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions Our employees also participate in plans which provide medical and life insurance
benefits to certain retirees and eligible dependents. These plans cover substantially all employees who meet certain age and vested
service requirements. We have instituted dollar limits on payments under the plans to control the cost of future medical benefits.
The following table reflects the components of the net periodic postretirement benefit cost:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)

........................................................... $ 1$ 18 1 s 1
1) —

Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation
Amortization of net actuarial gain

Net periodic postretirement benefit COSt.........covvviriiriiiieriiieeeieeeeee e $
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13. Fee Income from Contracts with Customers

The following table summarizes fee income from contracts with customers disaggregated by type of activity, as well as a
reconciliation to total other revenues, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018. See Note 21, "Fee Income
from Contracts with Customers," in our 2018 Form 10-K for a description of the various types of fee-based activities and how
revenue associated with these activities is recognized. There have been no significant changes in these activities since December 31,
2018.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)

Credit CATA TEES, NMET ..e.eveeeeeeeeee ettt e e e et e e eae e e eee et eeeeeeeeseeeeneseeenen $ 18 $ 15 % 30 $ 26
Trust and investment management fEes..........ceceveririreririneneneeeeeeeeeeeceee 31 34 61 72
Other fees and commissions:

ACCOUNE SETVICES! ... 68 79 133 148

Credit fACTIITIES . .veevieeieeiie ettt ettt e ae et e s e ebeeseb e e teesabeesbaesaseesseessseenseenens 81 86 150 164

OFhEr FEES!™) ... 13 19 26 32

Total other fees and COMMUISSIONS ...c.veeevieriieeiiiiiiieeieeree ettt ere e ere e e saeeaee e 162 184 309 344
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates..........ccccoceverenenenenenienienieieiecece 88 87 169 186
TNSUTANCE?) ..ot s e et s e s s 4 3 6 6
Total fee income from contracts With CUSTOMETS ........cceecverieriieieniieiee e 303 323 575 634
Other NON-TEE TEVEIUES ......eeiuvieiiieeiieiiieeieeiee et etee st esteesaeesteeesaeeteesaseeseessseeseessseens 133 214 251 416
TOtal Other TEVEIUES™ ...t e et eneeeens $ 436 $ 537 $ 826 $ 1,050

M During the fourth quarter of 2018, we concluded that certain wire transfer fees would be better presented in account services as opposed to other fees. As a

result, we have reclassified $6 million and $10 million of wire transfer fees from other fees to account services during the three and six months ended June
30, 2018 to conform with the current year presentation.
)

3)

Included within other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income.

See Note 15, "Business Segments," for a reconciliation of total other revenues on a U.S. GAAP basis to other operating income for each business segment
under the Group Reporting Basis.

Credit card fees, net We recognized interchange fees of $26 million and $48 million during the three and six months ended June
30,2019, respectively, compared with $22 million and $43 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.
Credit card rewards program costs totaled $10 million and $22 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019,
respectively, compared with $9 million and $21 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.

Deferred Fee Income

Information related to deferred fee income on loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and standby letters of credit is included
in Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements."
Excluding these items, we had deferred fee income related to certain account service fees that are paid upfront and recognized
over the service period and annual fees on credit cards which collectively totaled $2 million at both June 30,2019 and December 31,
2018. We expect to recognize this revenue over a remaining period of one year or less.

Other than as described above under trust and investment management fees, we do not use significant judgments in the determination
of the amount and timing of fee income from contracts with customers. Additionally, costs to obtain or fulfill contracts with
customers were immaterial.
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14. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. HSBC policy requires that these
transactions occur at prevailing market rates and terms and, where applicable, these transactions are compliant with United States
banking regulations. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit exposures of) HSBC Bank USA, National Association ("HSBC
Bank USA") to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured banks) are legally required to be
secured by eligible collateral. The following tables and discussions below present the more significant related party balances and
the income (expense) generated by related party transactions:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions)
Assets:
Cash and due from DANKS ..........c.ccviviiiiiiiieiee ettt ettt ettt et et eaeeteeae e $ 250 § 245
Interest bearing deposits With Danks ...........cceciiieiiiieiiieeee e e 790 1,000
TTAQING ASSELS....veivverieietieietieteete et e et este et eteseteaesseessesseesseessesseesseseessanseessenseessesssessesssensesssensensens 298 102
) QY s LRSS 3,096 2,274
ORET™ ..ot 289 169
TOTAL ASSEES ...ttt ettt ettt et ettt e et e e e et e e a e et e et e eateeaseaeseteaesatesaeeatesssesaesaeenteeaeenteene et e ereenaeenns $ 4723 § 3,790
Liabilities: -
DIEPOSIES...vvieieietetceietet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et as st et e et et et et e ee e et et es ettt eseas ettt ess e s s esnae s esesees $ 13,301 $ 12,000
Trading HADIIItIES ......eevervieieeiieieetiet ettt ettt ettt et e e ta e be e b e beessesbeessesseessesseessesseensesssensessees 157 349
SHOTT-tEITN DOTTOWINES ....ceuteietetieiieiteeie ettt ettt ettt ettt e e s bt et e e bt e e e st et e e st e sseeneesaeeneesaeenaeenean 1,518 638
00 Y 153 0 0 ¢ L1 o APPSR 7,847 7,845
OHET™ 1.t 392 333
TOTAL HADIIITIES ..ottt ettt e et e e e e et eer e e e e e eeee et eene st esaeeeeesseeenesneeeseeseeeseeneeeneeeenaeenne $ 23215 § 21,165
m

Other assets and other liabilities primarily consist of derivative balances associated with hedging activities and other miscellaneous account receivables and

payables.
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Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

(in millions)

Income (Expense):

TNEETEST INCOIMIE .ot e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et e eeeeeaaeeeeeaaeaans $ 47 $ 24 $ 90 $ 46

INEETESE EXPEIISE .. .euenienienieiieiieteet ettt sttt ettt ettt et b e st bt et besbe st e tesse e eneenes (152) (90) (276) (168)
INEt INEETESE EXPEIISE ..veeveviierterterierieeteeterte sttt et et et et eseeteebesresbesbesbesbestesaeseesaensennens (105) (66) (186) (122)
Trading reVENUE (EXPEIISE) .. .cuveueeureueeueeterterteetertestesteeeseeneenseseeneeseesesseeeessesbessessensenseneas ) (627) (1,523) 531
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:

HSBC Bank PIC ..ottt 46 43 81 84

HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS")....oouiiriiieiieiniereeieeeee e 27 30 57 61

Other HSBC affiliates ......c.coueirieiriiiniiiniiieieeecee et 15 14 31 41
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates ............cccoccoivioiniininnincinenns 88 87 169 186
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives................ 412 135 1,420 (303)
Support services from HSBC affiliates:

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU")..ccveiiiieieiiieeeeeesee e (298) (310) (575) (608)

HIMUS Lottt ettt (23) (25) (50) (56)

Other HSBC affiliates .......cveieuiiiiiiiieiiiesiesee e (90) (70) (166) (152)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates ..........cccoccoeveinciinciiiniiiiecnccnenne 411) (405) (791) (816)
Rental income from HSBC affiliates, Net'!) .........co.oveveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeseeeesnes 12 14 24 26
Stock based compensation eXPense™ ..............coo.rvvrverieeriersesissiessesss oo 8) (10) (14) (15)

M We receive rental income from our affiliates, and in some cases pay rental expense to our affiliates, for rent on certain office space. Net rental income from

our affiliates is recorded as a component of occupancy expense, net in our consolidated statement of income.

@ Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits

in our consolidated statement of income. Certain employees are also eligible to participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement plans
sponsored by HSBC North America which are discussed in Note 12, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits."

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

We use HSBC affiliates to fund a portion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
long-term debt with affiliates reflected $7.8 billion of borrowings from HSBC North America. The outstanding balances include
$1.5 billion of fixed-rate senior debt which matures in March 2021, $2.0 billion of fixed-rate senior debt which matures in May
2021, $0.8 billion of floating-rate subordinated debt which matures in May 2025, $2.0 billion of fixed-rate senior debt which
matures in September 2025 and $1.5 billion of fixed-rate senior debt which matures in March 2026.

We have a $150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North America. There was no outstanding balance under this credit
facility at either June 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018.

We have also incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreements with
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI"). In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.

Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

June 30, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
HMUS aNd SUDSIAIATIES ..ottt et e et e et e e et e e et e e et eeeaaeeeseraeesenaeesenneas $ 2835 § 2,235
HSBC Bank Canada..........cccccveeiiiieiiiiieieeieieetett ettt ete e eae e essesseessessaensessaensesssensenssensenseensennes 250 —
Other short-term affiliate IeNding...........cccoiiieriiiiiiieiiceet ettt eee b ees 11 39
TTOTAL LOAIS ..ottt e e e e et e e et e s e e et e e eeuee e e et esaesaeesaeeeenaeeesesaeeesesneeeneseeeeneeeeenneeaee $ 3,09 $ 2,274

HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $12.8 billion at both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 of which $2.8 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, was
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outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding balances range from overnight to three months. Each borrowing is re-evaluated
prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature.

HSBC Bank Canada We have extended an uncommitted line of credit to HSBC Bank Canada in the amount of $500 million at
both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 of which $250 million and nil was outstanding at June 30, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively. The outstanding balance matures in the third quarter of 2019.

We have extended lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliates totaling $4.2 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either June 30, 2019 or December 31, 2018.

Other short-term affiliate lending In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At June 30,2019 and December 31,2018, there were $11 million
and $39 million, respectively, of these loans outstanding.

Derivative contracts As part of a global HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with certain securities,
debt issues and derivative contracts with unaffiliated third parties, we routinely enter into derivative transactions with HSBC Bank
plc and other HSBC affiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $935.3
billion and $809.5 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the net fair
value of derivative assets and liabilities, including any collateral received) related to the contracts was approximately $337 million
and $108 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Our Global Banking and Markets business accounts for
these transactions on a mark to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially offset by the
change in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide services to and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. These activities
are summarized in Note 22, "Related Party Transactions," in our 2018 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes in these
activities since December 31, 2018.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates:

At both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had $1,265 million of non-cumulative preferred stock issued and outstanding
to HSBC North America. See Note 17, "Preferred Stock," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional details.

During the first quarter of 2019, we paid a distribution on our common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to HSBC North
America. See Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements," for additional details.

15. Business Segments

We have five distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking ("CMB"), Global
Banking and Markets ("GB&M"), Private Banking ("PB") and a Corporate Center ("CC"). There have been no changes in the
basis of our segmentation as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest incurred on
liabilities of the segment, adjusted for a funding charge or credit that includes both interest rate and liquidity components. Segments
are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer deposits)
based on equivalent market rates that incorporate both repricing (interest rate risk) and tenor (liquidity) characteristics. The objective
of these charges/credits is to transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit in Balance Sheet Management,
recognize term funding costs/benefits and more appropriately reflect the profitability of the segments.

Certain other revenue and operating expense amounts are also apportioned among the business segments based upon the benefits
derived from this activity or the relationship of this activity to other segment activity. These inter-segment transactions have not
been eliminated, and we generally account for them as if they were with third parties.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRSs as issued
by the IASB and endorsed by the EU, and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information
prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. We continue, however, to monitor capital adequacy and
report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

There have been no changes in the measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.

A summary of significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized
in Note 23, "Business Segments," in our 2018 Form 10-K. Other than the changes discussed below, there have been no other
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significant changes since December 31, 2018 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting
our results.

Leases - In January 2019, new accounting guidance was adopted for leases under both U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.
Under U.S. GAAP, expense on operating leases is generally recognized on a straight-line basis. Under the Group Reporting Basis,
all leases are recognized as financing arrangements with interest expense on the lease obligation and depreciation of the ROU
asset recorded over the remaining life of the lease.

Property - The sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, including the 1 W. 39th Street building, in 2010 resulted in
the recognition of a gain under the Group Reporting Basis, while under U.S. GAAP, such gain was historically deferred and was
being recognized over the lease term. As a result of adopting the new accounting guidance for leases under U.S. GAAP as discussed
above, we recorded a cumulative effect adjustment to recognize the previously deferred gain in retained earnings as of January 1,
2019.

The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basis to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Gy i
Reporting U.S. GAAP
Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB ccC Total Adjustments"” fications® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019
Net interest inCOME........crveeverreenens $ 217 § 202 § 136 $ 37 § 18 $ 610 $ 3 3 (73) $ 540
Other operating income 74 55 170 17 49 365 A3 74 436
Total operating income 291 257 306 54 67 975 — 1 976
Expected credit losses /
provision for credit losses................. 12 9 2 2 — 25 23 ?2) 46
279 248 304 52 67 950 (23) 3 930
Operating exXpenses.............c.oeveene. 305 142 210 56 48 761 10 3 774
Profit (loss) before income tax
CXPESC.rrsricscsscscenneee 8 26) 8 106 8 94 8 @ 8BS 18 8 2 GHS — 5 156
Three Months Ended June 30, 2018
Net interest income..............ocoeeeenee $ 225 § 195 § 151 ' $ 43 8 18 8 632 § 6 § 83) $ 555
Other operating income..................... 71 58 252 16 72 469 9) 77 537
Total operating income..........c.ce..... 296 253 403 59 90 1,101 3) 6) 1,092
Expected credit losses /
provision for credit losses................. 3 (36) (143) — 1 (175) 118 12 (45)
293 289 546 59 89 1,276 (121) (18) 1,137
Operating eXpenses........c.eceeervereenens 341 139 209 61 54 804 — (18) 786
Profit (loss) before income tax
EXPENSE..c.onririnreeeererreirereeiereenenes w u ﬂ m $_35 u w $—— $—351
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
Net interest inCOME........covvueeerennecns $ 438 $§ 403 § 287 $ 74§ 32 § 1,234 § 9 3 (141) $ 1,102
Other operating income . 139 113 345 33 73 703 (20) 143 826
Total operating income..................... 577 516 632 107 105 1,937 (11) 2 1,928
Expected credit losses /
provision for credit losses................. 33 15 (15) 1 1 35 64 5 104
544 501 647 106 104 1,902 (75) A3) 1,824
Operating eXpenses.............c.coeeeueee. 616 280 416 109 88 1,509 18 A3) 1,524
Profit (loss) before income tax
EXPENSC...ovviniiiiiiiie $ (72) § 221 § 231 $ (3 § 16 $ 393 § @3 $ — 3 300
Balances at end of period: -
Total aSSets......ovurvererirrirririeinieines $18,907 $26,735 $ 87,114 $6,952 §$ 76,055 $ 215,763 $ (31,700) $ — $ 184,063
Total loans, Net.......c.cccevveeueerrvucucnennee 17,031 25,513 19,599 5,863 2,322 70,328 (2,340) 3,877 71,865
GoodWill......c.coovevviiiiiiiiiiiicee, 581 358 — 321 — 1,260 347 — 1,607
Total deposits.........cccevvevureveeireniennne 33,606 23,554 29,674 7,226 6,021 100,081 (3,434) 20,314 116,961
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Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
T
Reporting U.S. GAAP
Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB cC Total Adjustments“’ fications® Totals
(in millions)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018
Net interest income............cccceevenenene. $ 441 $ 381 § 300 $ 90 § 33 § 1,245 $ 14 S (152) $ 1,107
Other operating income..................... 164 113 449 36 155 917 (20) 153 1,050
Total operating income..................... 605 494 749 126 188 2,162 6) 1 2,157
Expected credit losses /
provision for credit losses................. 6 (46) (157) 3) 4 (196) 67 13 (116)
599 540 906 129 184 2,358 (73) (12) 2,273

Operating expenses................ceeee... 666 290 425 122 586 2,089 9) (12) 2,068
Profit (loss) before income tax

EXPCIISC.cvveverrnierereneaeneseeeeeseneesenens $ (67) $ 250 $ 481 $ 7 $ (402) $ 269 $ 64) $ — $ 205
Balances at end of period: -
Total @SSetS......ovvmrvremrerieincieieinas $18,691 $23,851 § 79,535 $7,075 $ 85703 §$ 214,855 § (34,168) $ $ 180,687
Total loans, Net........cccceeveeveerreceenennee 16,695 22,879 17,786 6,036 1,865 65,261 (1,341) 1,948 65,868
GOOdWill ....oeeeeiiieieeceee 581 358 — 321 — 1,260 347 1,607
Total deposits........ceeueereereerereeeeenns 32,672 23,643 32,749 8,112 4,553 101,729 (3,168) 15,794 114,355

M Represents adjustments associated with differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.

@ Represents differences in financial statement presentation between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.

16. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are one of the sources of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs.
Approval from the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") is required if the total of all dividends HSBC Bank USA
declares in any year exceeds the cumulative net income for that year, combined with the net income for the two preceding years
reduced by dividends attributable to those years. OCC approval also is required for a reduction of permanent capital of HSBC
Bank USA. Under a separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on
hand, after deducting actual losses and bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for a period of six months unless well secured,
as defined, and in the process of collection.

In early 2019, HSBC Bank USA's Board of Directors approved a common stock return of capital of $2.4 billion to HSBC USA
and HSBC USA's Board of Directors approved a distribution on its common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to HSBC
North America, which were paid in February 2019.

HSBC Bank USA is also required to maintain reserve balances either in the form of vault cash or on deposit with the Federal
Reserve Bank, based on a percentage of deposits. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC Bank USA was required to
maintain $2,343 million and $2,205 million, respectively, of reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank which are reported
within interest bearing deposits with banks on the consolidated balance sheet.
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We are subject to regulatory capital rules issued by U.S. banking regulators including Basel I1I (the "Basel I1I rule"). The following
table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance with the Basel

III rule at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio" Ratio Amount Ratio” Ratio
(dollars are in millions)

Common equity Tier 1 ratio:

HSBC USA ..o $ 15,678 45% P 12.4% $ 17,459 45% % 13.6%

HSBC Bank USA......ccccoovinniirenes 17,752 6.5 14.4 19,456 6.5 15.7
Tier 1 capital ratio:

HSBC USA ..ot 16,943 6.0 13.4 18,724 6.0 14.6

HSBC Bank USA......cccccovinninninns 20,252 8.0 16.5 21,956 8.0 17.7
Total capital ratio:

HSBC USA....ccoviiniiniincineneeienes 20,342 10.0 16.1 21,972 10.0 17.2

HSBC Bank USA......ccccoovirninenes 23,655 10.0 19.2 25,293 10.0 20.4
Tier 1 leverage ratio:

HSBC USA ..o 16,943 40 @ 96 18,724 40 @ 110

HSBC Bank USA......ccccovinninnenas 20,252 5.0 11.7 21,956 5.0 13.1
Supplementary leverage ratio ("SLR"):

HSBC USA ..o 16,943 30 9 68 18,724 30 @ 76

HSBC Bank USA......ccoooveomorvcenrnnnnn. 20,252 30 @ 83 21,956 30 9 91
Risk-weighted assets:¥

HSBC USA ..o, 126,416 127,917

HSBC Bank USA......cccccovivninninns 123,021 124,112
Adjusted quarterly average assets:*

HSBC USA....ccoiiiniiniininieneeenes 176,467 170,565

HSBC Bank USA......ccccoovinnieenes 173,320 168,154
Total leverage exposure:©....................

HSBC USA ..o, 248,581 245,796

HSBC Bank USA......ccccovinninninns 243,943 242,264

(" HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized," as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized as well-capitalized under
regulatory guidelines, a banking institution must have the ratios reflected in the above table, and must not be subject to a directive, order, or written agreement

to meet and maintain specific capital levels.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of a well-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown are

the regulatory minimum ratios.

®  There is no SLR component in the definition of a well-capitalized banking institution. The ratios shown are the regulatory minimum ratios.

@

Calculated using the generally-applicable Standardized Approach.

©®  Represents the Tier 1 leverage ratio denominator which reflects quarterly average assets adjusted for amounts permitted to be deducted from Tier 1 capital.

(6)
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17. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPEs") primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients' investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPEs based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE is a VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impacts the entity's economic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or in the aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation as the primary beneficiary and hence require
us to consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be potentially
significant where we, among other things, (i) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from
the assets held by the VIE; (ii) provide a financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilities issued by a VIE; (iii) sponsor the
VIE in that we design, organize and structure the transaction; and (iv) retain a financial or servicing interest in the VIE.

We are required to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In almost all
cases, a qualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder is required to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs at June 30, 2019 and
December 31,2018 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate
in consolidation.

June 30,2019 December 31, 2018
Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(in millions)

Low income housing limited liability partnership:

OUNET ASSELS .ttt ettt et e e e et e et e et e et e e e e eeeereesaeeeaeens $ 98 $ — 3 112 $ —
Long-term debt.........cccoveiiiiiiiiiiiiicnreer e — 66 — 66
Interest, taxes and other liabilities..............ccooeeiiiieiiiiiiiiecees — 32 — 37
TOLAL ..ottt ettt sttt r et eereenne e $ 98 $ 98 §$ 112 $ 103

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, all low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at a future date. The LLP was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as a result, we consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to the third party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLP in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
investments held by the LLP represent equity investments in the underlying low income housing partnerships. The LLP does not
consolidate the underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnerships that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the partnerships.

As a practical expedient, we amortize our low income housing investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the
proportional amortization method and present the associated tax benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense.
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Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIEs that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvements in these VIEs, at June 30, 2019 and December 31,
2018:

Total Assets Carrying Value of Variable Interests .
Held by Held Reported as Maximum
Unconselidated Assets Liabilities s
(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Structured note vehicles..........ccooviveiniiniiniiieee $ 1,526 $ 510 $ 1 S 1,515
Limited partnership investments...........cccooerveeeerercecncnennns 2,037 542 260 570
TOTAL ..o $ 3,563 $ 1,052 $ 271 $ 2,085
At December 31, 2018
Structured note VEICIES........coovvveviiiiiiiiieeeeecieee e $ 3,033 $ 1,803 $ 20 % 3,003
Limited partnership investments...........cccooerveeeerercecncnennns 1,578 454 209 454
TOUAL e $ 4,611 $ 2257 $ 229 $ 3,457

Information on the types of VIEs with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable interests held in
those entities is presented below.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles' debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehicles in the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to loss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss of $1,515 million at June 30, 2019 will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to
zero and, at the same time, the counterparty of the back-end swap defaults with zero recovery. In certain instances, we hold credit
default swaps with the structured note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange
for the payment of a premium. Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets
which are then passed on to the holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the
credit default swaps we hold are not considered variable interests. We record all investments in, and derivative contracts with,
unconsolidated structured note vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

During the first quarter of 2019, one of the structured note vehicles was unwound and our investment in the structured note vehicle
along with the related derivatives were terminated. As a result, we recognized a loss of approximately $39 million, reflecting a
payment made to the derivative counterparty as a result of the termination. At the time of unwind, our investment in the structured
note vehicle had a total carrying value of $1,293 million, which was recorded in trading assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Limited partnership investments We invest as a limited partner in partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing, renewable
energy and community development projects. The returns of these investments are generated primarily from the tax benefits,
including Federal tax credits and tax deductions from operating losses in the project companies. In addition, some of the investments
also help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. Certain limited partnership structures are considered to be VIEs
because either (a) they do not have sufficient equity investment at risk or (b) the limited partners with equity at risk do not have
substantive kick-out rights through voting rights or substantive participating rights over the general partner. As a limited partner,
we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do not consolidate them. Our investments in these partnerships are recorded
in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The maximum exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our recorded
investments as well as any outstanding funding commitments extended to the partnerships.

Third-party sponsored securitization entities We invest in asset-backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization
entities which may be considered VIEs. The investments are transacted at arm's-length and decisions to invest are based on a credit
analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to
direct the activities of these issuers. As such, we do not consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other
involvements in servicing or managing the collateral assets or provide financial or liquidity support to these issuers which potentially
give rise to risk of loss exposure. These investments are an integral part of the disclosure in Note 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities,"
Note 3, "Securities," and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," and, therefore, are not disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.
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18. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements

Guarantee Arrangements As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Following the table is a description of the various
arrangements.

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss

(in millions)

Credit derivatives'™?® ...t $ (268) $ 54256 $  (562) $ 45384
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations™® ................... — 5,376 — 5,302
Performance standby letters of credit, net of participations™® .................. — 3,489 — 3,670
TORAL ..ttt $ (268) $ 63,121 § (562) § 54,356

M Includes $32,481 million and $25,734 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse
arrangements.

®  Includes $1,419 million and $1,321 million of both financial and performance standby letters of credit issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ For standby letters of credit, maximum loss represents losses to be recognized assuming the letters of credit have been fully drawn and the obligors have
defaulted with zero recovery.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivatives are financial instruments that transfer the credit risk of a reference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
the form of credit default swaps, with various institutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protection to a counterparty that holds the reference obligation, the arrangement is effectively a financial guarantee on the reference
obligation. Under a credit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimburse the credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of a credit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when a credit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.
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We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions at June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional

(in millions)

Sell-protection credit derivative pOSItIONS ........cc.ceceververererverenennenes $ (268) $ 54256 $ (562) § 45,384
Buy-protection credit derivative poSitions...........cceceeerereeresereeneeenne 144 68,618 601 51,914
NEt POSTHON ... $ (124) $ 14362 $ 39 $ 6,530

M Ppositions are presented net in the table above to provide a complete analysis of our risk exposure and depict the way we manage our credit derivative portfolio.
The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit is issued to a third party for the benefit of a client and is a guarantee that the
client will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to the third
party beneficiary if the client fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of credit: performance
and financial. A performance standby letter of credit is issued where the client is required to perform some non-financial contractual
obligation, such as the performance of a specific act, whereas a financial standby letter of credit is issued where the client's
contractual obligation is of a financial nature, such as the repayment of a loan or debt instrument.

The issuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the client's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other liabilities
are deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $47 million and $43 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of $17 million
and $16 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financial standby letters of credit at June 30, 2019 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors

Average
Life Investment Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total

(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives"

Single name credit default swaps ("CDS") 3.0 $ 27,275 $ 13,413  $ 40,688

Index credit derivatives .........cccceeeveeeveecieeineennean, 4.1 5,509 6,724 12,233
Total TELUIN SWAPS......ceeuieieieiieiieieeie ettt 2.2 1,073 262 1,335
SUBLOAL .ottt ne s 33,857 20,399 54,256
Standby Letters of Credit® ............ooouoieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen. 1.1 7,185 1,680 8,865
TOLALL .ottt ettt neeneenas $ 41,042 % 22,079 $ 63,121

M The credit ratings in the table represent external credit ratings for classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our internal credit ratings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based
on a scale which ranks the risk of default of a client. The credit grades are assigned and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the client's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performance to industry peers and perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratings to outside
external rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.
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A non-investment grade rating of a referenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Visa covered litigation In 2008, we received Class B Shares as part of Visa's initial public offering ("IPO"). Pursuant to the IPO,
we, along with all the other Class B shareholders, agreed to indemnify Visa for the claims and obligations arising from certain
specific covered litigation. The Class B Shares are not eligible to be converted into publicly traded Class A Shares until settlement
of the covered litigation described in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K. Accordingly, the Class
B Shares are considered restricted and are only transferable under limited circumstances, which include transfers to other Class
B shareholders.

Beginning in 2016 and into 2017, we sold substantially all of our remaining Visa Class B Shares to a third party. Under the terms
of the sale agreements, we entered into swap agreements with the purchaser to retain the litigation risk associated with the Class
B Shares sold until the related litigation is settled and the Class B Shares can be converted into Class A Shares. These swaps had
a carrying value of $40 million at both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The swap agreements we entered into
with the purchaser requires us to (a) make periodic payments, calculated by reference to the market price of Class A Shares and
(b) make or receive payments based on subsequent changes in the conversion rate of Class B Shares into Class A Shares. In 2017,
we entered into a total return swap position to economically hedge the periodic payments made under these swap agreements. The
payments under the derivative will continue until the Class B Shares are able to be converted into Class A Shares. During the
second quarter of 2018, we recorded a loss of $7 million related to a change in the Visa Class B Share conversion rate as a result
of the outstanding litigation. The fair value of the swap agreements is estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology and
is dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation. Changes in fair value between periods are recognized in other income
(loss). See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments," for further information.

Clearing houses and exchanges We are a member of various exchanges and clearing houses that trade and clear securities and/
or derivatives contracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, members of a clearing
house may be required to contribute to a guaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearing house. As a member, we
may be required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who defaults on its obligations to the
exchange or the clearing house. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearing house had exhausted its
resources. Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Lease Obligations We are obligated under a number of noncancellable operating leases for premises and equipment. See Note 8,
"Leases," for a full discussion of our leases, including a maturity analysis of our operating lease liabilities.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations We have provided various representations and warranties related to the origination and
sale of mortgage loans including, among other things, the ownership of the loans, the validity of the liens, the loan selection and
origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the government agencies. In the event of a breach
of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects or to indemnify the
buyers. Our contractual obligation arises only when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered and repurchase
is demanded. From 2013 to 2017, we sold agency-eligible mortgage loan originations directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation and
they are responsible for origination representations and warranties for all such loans. With the insourcing of our mortgage fulfillment
operations, beginning with 2018 applications, we are now responsible for origination representations and warranties for all agency-
eligible mortgage loan originations sold to third parties.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses as well as the
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $4 million and $2 million at
June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the change in our estimated repurchase liability during the three and six months ended June 30,
2019 and 2018 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
Balance at beginning of period..........ccccoevveiieiirinininininneeeeee e $ 8 3 10 $ 8 3 10
Decrease in liability recorded through €arnings ...........cccoccecvveerennienncneicnercnecnnen 3) @) 3) (1)
REAIZEA 1OSSES.....cveuiiiriiriiitieteetesteretc ettt sttt 0)) — 1) —
Balance at end of Period ...........coeiiieiieniireee e $ 4 $ 9 35 4 9

Our repurchase liability of $4 million at June 30, 2019 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been incurred, including
interest, arising from breaches of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold. Because the level of mortgage
loan repurchase losses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external risk factors such as
housing market trends that may change, the level of the liability for mortgage loan repurchase losses requires significant judgment.
We continue to evaluate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As these estimates are
influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably possible that they
could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between zero and $25
million at June 30, 2019. This estimated range of reasonably possible losses was determined based upon modifying the assumptions
utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible adverse assumptions.

Securitization Activity In addition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate HSI's
whole loan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loans to HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters" in Note
28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional discussion of related exposure. The outstanding
principal balance on these loans was approximately $3.6 billion and $3.8 billion at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively.

Pledged Assets

Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
Interest bearing deposits With Banks...........cccvieiiirieinieiieiccccee e $ 2762 $ 3,225
Trading BSSEES ) et e e e et e e nr e 7,429 2,465
Securities available-FOr-SAlE'.............ooou oo eeee e et s e eeeeeeen 9,048 7,440
Securities held-to-maturity(z) ................................................................................................................ 2,718 1,747
LOANS™) ..ot 17,371 18,189
Other assets” 2,515 2,289
TOTAL ...ttt ettt et et e et st et e st e et e e ta et e et b et e e st et e esbeete e s b e eRe e b e er s e b e eraeabeesbeeteenbeeseenseeseenseenes $ 41,843 § 35,355

M Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.

@ Securities are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings, as well as providing
capacity for potential secured borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.

@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to
be reported on the consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that could be sold or repledged was
$2,290 million and $822 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that could
be sold or repledged was $7,402 million and $2,464 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
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The fair value of collateral we accepted under security resale agreements but was not reported on the consolidated balance sheet
was $12,205 million and $13,004 million at June 30,2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Of this collateral, $11,255 million
and $11,904 million could be sold or repledged at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, of which $436 million and
$243 million, respectively, had been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase agreements or to cover short sales.

Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resale and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
it is our policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreements is regularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.

The following table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset at June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet” Balance Sheet Instruments® Pledged Net Amount®

(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
Assets:

Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 11,602 $ 6,313 $ 5289 $ 5,287 $ — $ 2

Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 9,866 $ 6,313 $ 3,553 $ 3,553 § — $ —

At December 31, 2018
Assets:

Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 12,035 % 1,867 $ 10,168 $ 10,165 $ — S 3

Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 3333 $ 1,867 $ 1,466 $ 1,458 % — 3 8

M Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the

applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.
)

3)

Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.
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The following table provides the class of collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreements accounted
for as secured borrowings at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Overnight Greater
and Up to 30 31to 90 91 Days to Than One
Continuous Days Days One Year Year Total

(in millions)
At June 30, 2019
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored and

U.S. Government agency Securities..................... $ 7,075 $ 1,644 $ — 3 500 $ 500 $ 9,719
Foreign debt securities..........c.coceevveeievreeeenriereenene. — 147 — — — 147
Total repurchase agreements accounted for as
secured DOTTOWINGS..........coevvvevuieieirieieereeie e $ 7,075 § 1,791 § — 3 500 $ 500 $ 9,866

At December 31, 2018

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored and
U.S. Government agency securities..................... $ 1,773 § 369 $ — $ 191 $ 1,000 $ 3,333

19. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework"). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have
alternative use and, as such, the fair value of financial instruments should be determined using an "in-exchange" valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
a group of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of a group of assets or liabilities if certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to a group of derivative instruments with offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not available, valuation techniques that incorporate relevant transaction data and market
parameters reflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration are applied. Where applicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the markets in which the transactions occur.
The fair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit valuation adjustment - The credit valuation adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financial liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the parties to the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to a financial liability is recorded to reflect the default risk of HUSI. See "Valuation Techniques - Derivatives"
below for additional details.

Liquidity risk adjustment - The liquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such a way that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustments relate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Where fair value measurements are determined using an internal valuation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different valuation techniques are available, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.
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We apply stress scenarios in determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustments for Level 3 fair values by reviewing
the historical data for unobservable inputs (e.g., correlation, volatility). Some stress scenarios involve at least a 95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). We also utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued using
internally developed models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Funding Fair Value Adjustment ("FFVA") - The FFVA reflects the estimated present value of the future market funding cost or
benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate.
See "Valuation Techniques - Derivatives" below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation models where all significant inputs are observable, such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.

Level 3 valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
inputs.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levels in each reporting period.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotations from at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:

»  similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;

*  collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark

indices;

*  consistency among different pricing sources;

» the valuation approach and the methodologies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;

» the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;

* the source of the fair value information; and

*  whether the security is traded in an active or inactive market.
Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from dealers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustments to fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and the fair value measurement becomes less transparent, Finance will apply more detailed procedures to understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop a fair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurements are determined using internal valuation models, Finance will validate the fair value measurement by either developing

unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and indicates the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value. Unless otherwise noted below, assets and liabilities in
the following table are recorded at fair value through net income.

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
June 30, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting” Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 10,620 $ 78 8 — $ 10,698 $ — $ 10,698
Asset-backed securities:
Collateralized debt Obligations.........cc.eveveruerieririenieirereeeesereeeeee — — 86 86 — 86
Residential mortgages .. — — 16 16 — 16
Student loans — — 90 90 — 90
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUrIties. ........ccerveireerieererienieeeiens — — 510 510 — 510
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........occeevvereeirieniereneneneenens 12,199 216 — 12,415 — 12,415
EQUItY SECUTTLIES ...veuvevietiieieiieteieeee ettt 2,747 — — 2,747 — 2,747
Precious metals trading ...........cooevveirerieieenienie e — 3,895 — 3,895 — 3,895
Derivatives: "
INtEreSt rate CONTIACTS......c..iievieeueiereeeeee ettt eete et e eeeeereea 99 11,450 11 11,560 — 11,560
Foreign exchange CONTIACES .........eoveiririeeieerierieeetenie et seeeeeeee 1 13,362 7 13,370 — 13,370
EQUItY CONEIACES .....euvivietirieieieeieieeee ettt 16 3,575 185 3,776 — 3,776
Precious metals CONTIACES ........cc.eeeveeeieecieeeee et eere e e e eeneea 106 1,254 — 1,360 — 1,360
CIedit CONTIACTS.....ocvviirieceie ettt eee et et aeeete e eereeeareereeas — 1,051 68 1,119 — 1,119
Other CONTACES® .........ooooooeeoeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 5 5 — 5
DErivatives NETHINE .....c.evverveeeiiiieieirieeeiete ettt eeeee — — — — (27,994) (27,994)
Total derivatives... 222 30,692 276 31,190 (27,994) 3,196
Securities available-for-sale:®
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 19,559 14,571 — 34,130 — 34,130
Asset-backed securities:
HOME EQUILY ..ttt — 36 — 36 — 36
OBRET ...ttt sens — — 113 113 — 113
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........oceeevvereeirienerineneneeeens 2,591 384 — 2,975 — 2,975
LOANS™ ..ottt — 128 — 128 — 128
OhET @SSELS: ..uvvivenietiiterieiet ettt ettt sttt nean
EQUItY SECUTTLIES ...veuvevietiieeeiieteieeee ettt st — 193 — 193 — 193
Equity Securities measured at net asset value® .............c..ccooocovviorvrnn.n. — — — 109 — 109
OhEr D et — — 1 1 — 1
TOtAL ASSELS....eueeeeeiieterteiei ettt ettt ettt $ 47938 § 50,193 § 1,092 § 99332 § (27,994) $ 71,338
Liabilities: -
Domestic deposits . 8 — $ 7525 § 930 $ 8455 $ — § 8455
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives ...........ccceovverereeereneeneneeeeen 834 106 — 940 — 940
Derivatives: "
INtEreSt rate CONTIACTS......c.viivieeeeeereeceee et et ere et e eaeeereea 51 12,752 1 12,804 — 12,804
Foreign exchange CONTIACES .........eveeruerieeieerieieeeteiecee e — 13,044 8 13,052 — 13,052
EQUItY CONEIACES .....euvivietiiteieieeteieee sttt st — 2,778 123 2,901 — 2,901
Precious metals CONTIACES ........ccveieveeeeieiereeeeeeereeeee e et 137 1,254 — 1,391 — 1,391
Credit CONTIACTS.....ccvviivieeeie ettt ettt eteeeaeeeereeeareereeas — 1,253 22 1,275 — 1,275
Other CONTACES® .........ooooooeeoeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 40 40 — 40
DErivatives NETHINE .....c.evverveeeiiiieieirieeeiete ettt eeeee — — — — (28,182) (28,182)
TOtAl AETIVALIVES ...cvveieveeeeee et eeee et ettt eee e eee e ennes 188 31,081 194 31,463 (28,182) 3,281
Short-term borrowings™ ...........o.cooovoiooeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — 222 — 222 — 222
Long-term debt™ ... — 11,538 441 11,979 — 11,979
Total labIlItIES ....euveeeeveieieieeteeeee et $ 1,022 § 50472 § 1,565 $ 53,059 §$ (28,182) $§ 24,877
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting” Balance

(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding derivatives:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 5368 $ 152§ — 3 5520 % — 3 5,520
Asset-backed securities:
Collateralized debt obligations...........coeveuererveecoennrereninecininccnienes — — 100 100 — 100
Residential MOTtZAZES .......cvevevvrveveiririeinirieiirinieecereeteeseeieee e — — 16 16 — 16
Student 10anS ........c.ccerieueiriniecriniicccee e — — 92 92 — 92
Corporate and other domestic debt securities. . — — 1,803 1,803 — 1,803
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........c.cocveeeeereccrnccnneenens 8,552 207 — 8,759 — 8,759
EQUILY SECUTTHIES w.ovvevveviiinierieteieierietetetee sttt se et eaesnenaeseesensens 751 — — 751 — 751
Precious metals trading .......c.cocoeeeeeeirieeniniecineicennetneceeeeee e — 1,889 — 1,889 — 1,889
Derivatives:"
INtErest rate CONTIACTS.....ccvievieriieeiieiieete et ettt e et eere et e eveeaeeeeaeens 2 10,053 2 10,057 — 10,057
Foreign eXchange CONtIACES ........c.coueurueueririeueenieteeninieitereereteeeeeresesaenenens — 15,919 2 15,921 — 15,921
EQUILY CONTACES ...evvevveiiiiieiieteieieit ettt et se b nnens — 2,449 97 2,546 — 2,546
Precious metals CONIACES ......c.ovveveerirueuiririeieinieicenieee ettt saeienens 16 829 — 845 — 845
Credit contracts... — 883 73 956 — 956
Other contracts® — — 5 5 — 5
Derivatives NELHNE .....c.cccoveueuiririereinirieicrieeeieenetee sttt saeaenens — — — — (27,192) (27,192)
TOtAl dEITVALIVES ...t 18 30,133 179 30,330 (27,192) 3,138
Securities available-for-sale:®
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 16,198 11,699 — 27,897 — 27,897
Asset-backed securities:
HOME QUILY ...ttt — 42 — 42 — 42
OBRET .ttt — — 107 107 — 107
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........cccccvveeeerererennccnneenens 2,362 971 — 3,333 — 3,333
L0ANS™ ...t eceieesi e — 109 — 109 — 109
OFhET @SSELS! ...vivuenreveiiieteteit ettt ettt ettt es et sttt
EQUILY SECUTTTIES ..euvevveviiinieiieteieietteteteecee sttt se et eaesnenaeseesenaens — 190 — 190 — 190
Equity Securities measured at net asset value ..............oo.cooovvvurevceenne.e. — — — 88 — 88
Other assets® . — — 4 4 — 4
TOtAl @SSELS...c.vvineietieirietceie ettt $ 33249 § 45392 $§ 2301 $ 81,030 $ (27,192) $ 53,838
Liabilities: -
DOMESHE AEPOSTES™........oeoeeeeeeeeeeee e $ — $ 7229 $ 925 § 8,154 $ — $ 8,154
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives ...........c.coeceererecrnccrnnccnnnenes 738 215 — 953 — 953
Derivatives:"
INtErest rate CONTIACTS.....ccuieiieiieeiieiie et e et et et eeere et e eveeaeeeeaeens 45 11,140 — 11,185 — 11,185
Foreign eXchange CONtIACES ........c.covurueueririeueenieteeninieittreereeeeeeeiesesaenenens 15 15,715 3 15,733 — 15,733
EQUILY CONTACES ...evvevieiiiinieiieteieieit ettt se s naens — 2,717 149 2,866 — 2,866
Precious metals CONIACES ........cvveveeriruereririeieinieiecninetceneetceeeeeieesaenenens 274 626 — 900 — 900
Credit CONLIACTS. ....coveviuiiieiiirietcetetci ettt ettt ee — 926 21 947 — 947
Other CONMIACES® ........oveoveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — — 40 40 — 40
Derivatives NELHNE .....c.cccoveueuiririereiririeicrireeieeretee sttt saeaeaeas — — — — (28,847) (28,847)
Total AETIVALIVES ... 334 31,124 213 31,671 (28,847) 2,824
Short-term borrowings® . . — 560 — 560 — 560
Long-term debt™ ...........oooooirveereeeeeeee e — 10,837 412 11,249 — 11,249
Total HabIltIES ... $ 1,072 § 49965 § 1,550 § 52,587 § (28,847) $§ 23,740
M Includes trading derivative assets of $3,045 million and $3,048 million and trading derivative liabilities of $3,086 million and $2,690 million at June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, as well as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives. See Note 9, "Derivative
Financial Instruments," for additional information. Excluding changes in fair value of a derivative instrument associated with a qualifying cash flow hedge,
which are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss), derivative assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value through net income.
@ Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares.
3)

Securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss).
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(]

See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information. Excluding the fair value movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit

spread, which is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), fair value option assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value through net income.

&)
(6)
(@)

Represents contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our PB business.

Investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.

Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assets and liabilities during the three and six months ended June 30,2019 and 2018. As a risk management practice,
we may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that are classified
as Level 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management positions
are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities related

to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Apr. 1, Income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2019 Earnings (Loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2019 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations ...........ccoeevreen. $ 9 $ 2 8 — $ — 8% — 8 ©6) $ — 3 — 8 86 $ @
Residential mortgage asset-
backed securities................ 16 — — — — — — — 16 —
Student loan asset-backed
SECUTItIeS ..oovveeiciciciciie, 95 — — — — 5) — — 90 5)
Corporate and other domestic
debt securities..........ccuenne. 510 — — — — — — — 510 —
Derivatives, net:?
Interest rate contracts.............. 7 8 — — — — — ) 10 3
Foreign exchange contracts.... a — — — — — _ — @ _
Equity contracts ... 24 39 — — — 1 — 2) 62 40
Credit contracts ...................... 53 3) — — — ) — — 46 ?2)
Other contracts™.................... 37) 3) — — — 5 — — 35) —
Other asset-backed securities
available-for-sale™ ............... 109 — 4 — — — — — 113 4
Other assets®™ ...........cccccoooennn... 1 — — — — — — — 1 —
Total assets........ccccceevvvererenreuencne $ 867 $ 43 3 4 $ — $ — 3 9 3 — 3 (7 $ 898 § 36
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits®.................. $ (949) $ 35 $ 2 8§ — $ (49 8% 64 S 5 s 42 $ (930) $ 30)
Long-term debt® .........cc........... (453) a5) 1 — (33) 20 — 39 (441) )
Total liabilities $(1,402) $ 50) $ 38 — $§ (82) s 84 oS $ 81 8§ (1,371) $ 39)
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Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2019 Earnings (Loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2019 (Losses)

(in millions)
Assets:

Trading assets, 1excluding
derivatives:'"

Collateralized debt
Obligations .........ccceuremeuene $ 100 $ 3 3 — % — 8% — 8 a7n s — 8 — $ 8 $ (10)
Residential mortgage asset-
backed securities................ 16 — — — — — — — 16 —
Student loan asset-backed
SECUTItES ....vvvvooeeeeeeeeeenn 92 5 — — — ) — — 90 )
Corporate and other domestic
debt securities.................... 1,803 — — — — (1,293) — — 510 —
Derivatives, net:?
Interest rate contracts ............. 2 13 — — — — — Q)] 10 8
Foreign exchange contracts.... (6)) — — — — — _ _ [0)) _
Equity contracts .................... (52) 110 — — — 5 — aQ 62 115
Credit contracts..... 52 (40) — — — 34 — — 46 Q?)
Other contracts™.................... 35) ) — — — 9 — — (35) —
Other asset-backed securities
available-for-sale™ ............. 107 — 6 — — — — — 113 6
Other assets™ ..........ccooorervveennnnn. 4 — — — — A3) — — 1 —
Total assets........coeeererrerucrennee. $ 2,088 $ 82 § 6 $§ — § — $1272) § — S 6) $ 898 § 115
Liabilities: -
Domestic deposits®................. $ (925 8 (64 S @S — $ (145 $ 109 § 5) $ 103 $ (930) $ (135
Long-term debt® .........ccco......... 412) 43) Q2) — (64) 33 — 47 (441) (61)
Total liabilities $(1,337) $ 107) $ S) $§ — § (209 $ 142 § 5) $ 150 $ (1,371) $ (196)
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Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Apr. 1, Income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2018 Earnings (Loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2018 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations .........c.ccevruen. $ 131 $ 1 $ —$ — 3 — 3 1 s — 3 — 3 131§ 1
Corporate and other domestic
debt securities................... 1,803 — — — — — — — 1,803 —
Derivatives, net:?
Foreign exchange contracts.... — €)) — — — — — — 1) 1)
Equity contracts ... 27 (10) — — — (16) (1) 2 2 (7)
Credit contracts ...........ccccc..... 113 1 — — — 4) — — 110 3)
Other contracts®................... (44) (12) — — — 5 — i (51) _
Other asset-backed securities
available-for-sale® ............... 107 — — — — — — — 107 —
Other assets™ ...........cc...cooro.... 15 3) — — — — — — 12 —
Total assets......coevverenrenreniecenene $ 2,152 % 24) $ — $ — $ — $ (16) § 1 3 2§ 2,113 § (10)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits@................ $ (916) $ 28 58 — % (8) $ 38 $ (10) $ 93 $§ (876) $ 8
Long-term debt® ...................... (630) Q) 1 — (28) 74 — 31 (557) 1
Total liabilities $(1,546) $ 3) $ 6 $§ — §$ (116) $ 112 § (10) $ 124§ (1,433) $ 9
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Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Jun. 30, Gains
2018 Earnings (Loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2018 (Losses)

(in millions)

Assets:

Trading assets, excluding

derivatives:""

Collateralized debt
0bligations .........ccccoeveuen. $ 129 $ 8 3 $) — 8 — 3 ©) $ — 3 — 3 131 $ 8
Corporate and other domestic
debt securities.................... 1,803 — — — — — — 1,803 —
Derivatives, net:®
Foreign exchange contracts.... — @) — — — — — (1) (1)
Equity contracts ...........ccco...... 81 (50) — — (30) 1) 2 2 (45)
Credit contracts .............cc.c..... 114 2 — — — (6) — — 110 “
Other contracts®.................. (46) (14) — — — 9 — — (51) —
Other asset-backed securities
available-for-sale ............... 111 — ) — — — — — 107 “
Other assets™ ..........ccoo.coorrvs 15 3) — — — — — 12 —
Total assets......coevverenrenreniecenene $ 2207 § (58) $ 4 $ — $ — $ (33) 8§ 1 3 2§ 2,113 § (46)
Liabilities: -
Domestic deposits® $ (897) $ 23§ 38 — $ (179 $ 60 $ 13) $ 127 $ (876) $ 25
Long-term debt© (641) 6 5 — (143) 141 — 75 (557) 18
Total liabilities .........c.ccoceuerrenee. $(1,538) $ 29§ 8 § — § (322) $§ 201 § (13) $ 202 $ (1,433) $ 43

1)

)

3)

(]

&)

(6)

Gains (losses) on trading assets, excluding derivatives are included in trading revenue in the consolidated statement of income.

Level 3 net derivatives included derivative assets of $276 million and derivative liabilities of $194 million at June 30, 2019 and derivative assets of $253
million and derivative liabilities of $193 million at June 30, 2018. Gains (losses) on derivatives, net are predominantly included in trading revenue and gain
(loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives in the consolidated statement of income.

Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares. Gains (losses) on these swap agreements are included in
other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income.

Realized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale are included in other securities gains, net in the consolidated statement of income. Unrealized gains
(losses) on securities available-for-sale are included in other comprehensive income (loss).

Represents contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our PB business. Gains (losses) associated with this transaction are
included in other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income.

Excluding unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread, which are recorded in other comprehensive income
(loss), gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities are included in gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives in the consolidated
statement of income.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

June 30, 2019
Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations ................ $ 86 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% -1%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 0% -1%
Loss severity rates 90% - 95%
Residential mortgage asset-backed $ 16  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 5% -10%
SCCUTTEICS vttt pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 1% - 5%
Loss severity rates 65% - 70%
Discount margin 100bps - 250bps
Student loan asset-backed securities........ $ 90 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 7% - 9%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 0% -1%
Loss severity rates 25% - 40%
Discount margin 95bps -198bps
Corporate and other domestic debt $ 510 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% -4%
SECUTTHIES ...t
Correlation between insurance claim  80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. $ 10 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 38% -96%
probability to fund and, where commitments
applicable, discounted cash flows
Likelihood of transaction being 75% - 100%
executed
Foreign exchange derivative contracts'” .~ $ (1) Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 9% -13%
Equity derivative contracts” .................. $ 62  Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 38%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 26% - 79%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% -4%
Credit derivative contracts...............c....... $ 46  Option pricing model and, where Credit default swap spreads 49bps - 63bps
applicable, discounted cash flows
Other derivative contracts........................ $ (35) Discounted cash flows Conversion rate 1.6 times
Expected duration 1-2 years
Other asset-backed securities available- $ 113  Discounted cash flows Market assumptions related to yields 1% - 3%
fOr-8ale....ooevireiiiie for comparable instruments
Other assets .........ecceverueueceneererereeeerenes $ 1 Discounted cash flows Client transfer rates based on rating 50% - 95%
Domestic deposits $ (930) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 9% -13%
(structured deposits) " ..., flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% -29%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 43% - 46%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) "™ ..... $ (441) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 9% -13%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% -33%
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December 31, 2018
Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations ................ $ 100  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 1%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 0% - 1%
Loss severity rates 90% - 95%
Residential mortgage asset-backed $ 16  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 5%
SECUTTHICS ... pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 1% - 4%
Loss severity rates 80% - 85%
Discount margin 100bps - 250bps
Student loan asset-backed securities........ $ 92  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 6% - 7%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 1% -2%
Loss severity rates 25% - 40%
Discount margin 91bps -115bps
Corporate and other domestic debt $ 1,803  Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUTIHIES ...
Correlation between insurance claim  80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. $ 2 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 3% -99%
probability to fund and, where commitments
applicable, discounted cash flows
Likelihood of transaction being 75% - 100%
executed
Foreign exchange derivative contracts") . $ (1) Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 8% - 12%
Equity derivative contracts'” .................. $ (52) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 44%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 719%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% - 7%
Credit derivative contracts.............c.c.c...... $ 52 Option pricing model and, where Credit default swap spreads 102bps - 118bps
applicable, discounted cash flows
Other derivative contracts..............c.c.o..... $ (35) Discounted cash flows Conversion rate 1.6 times
Expected duration 2 - 3 years
Other asset-backed securities available- $ 107  Discounted cash flows Market assumptions related to yields 1% - 3%
fOr-8ale ..o for comparable instruments
Other @SSets .......covevevereruereeriereeerinieeerenes $ 4 Discounted cash flows Client transfer rates based on rating 50% - 95%
Domestic deposits $ (925) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 8% - 12%
(structured deposits) " ........ccovvveveenn. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 37%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 49%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) " ... $ (412) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 8% - 12%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 42%

(]

Equity / Equity and Equity / Index
correlation

45% - 79%

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of

counterparty credit risks, we are market neutral. The corresponding intra-group derivatives are presented as equity derivatives and foreign exchange derivatives

in the table.
2)

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

Collateralized debt obligations ("CDOs"), residential mortgage asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities

*  Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by a number of
factors including location of the collateral, interest rate type of the loan, borrowers' credit and sensitivity to interest rate
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movement. The weighted average prepayment rates of our CDOs, residential mortgage asset-backed securities and student
loan asset-backed securities was 0.4 percent, 5 percent and 8 percent, respectively, at June 30, 2019.

*  Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The weighted average default rates of our CDOs,
residential mortgage asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities was 0.9 percent, 5 percent and 0.8

percent, respectively, at June 30, 2019.

»  Lossseverity rate - The loss severity rate is the percentage of total lifetime losses (both interest and principal) as a percentage
of principal balance measured at default date. The weighted average loss severity rates of our CDOs, residential mortgage
asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities was 93 percent, 65 percent and 36 percent, respectively,
at June 30, 2019.

*  Discount margin - An expected return earned in addition to the index underlying (in this case the London Interbank Offered
Rate ("LIBOR")) is another input into valuation of securities. The weighted average discount margins of our residential
mortgage asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities was 200 basis points and 122 basis points,
respectively, at June 30, 2019.

Derivatives

*  Implied volatility - The implied volatility is a significant pricing input for freestanding or embedded options including
equity, foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility is a function of the nature of the underlying risk,
the level of strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine
the implied volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied
volatilities are derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairs is between
9 percent and 13 percent while the implied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 7 percent and 38
percent, respectively, at June 30, 2019. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be
widely distributed at the portfolio level, the deviation of implied volatility on a trade-by-trade basis is narrower. The average
deviation of implied volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 2 percent and 6 percent,
respectively, at June 30, 2019.

»  Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the relative change in values among two or
more variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlation is a
key input in determining the fair value of a derivative referenced to a basket of variables such as equities or foreign
currencies. A majority of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation
between equity/equity and equity/equity index was between 26 percent and 79 percent at June 30, 2019.

Uncertainty of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

CDOs - Probability of default, prepayment speed and loss severity rate are significant unobservable inputs. A significant increase
(decrease) in these inputs would have resulted in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of the CDOs. Generally, a change in
assumption for default probability would have been accompanied by a directionally similar change in loss severity, and a
directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Residential mortgage and student loan asset-backed securities - Probability of default, prepayment speed, loss severity rate and
discount margin are significant unobservable inputs. A significant increase (decrease) in these inputs would have resulted in a
lower (higher) fair value measurement of the securities. Generally, a change in assumption for default probability would have been
accompanied by a directionally similar change in loss severity, and a directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurement of certain corporate debt securities is affected by the fair
value of the underlying portfolios of investments used as collateral and the make-whole guarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors' failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. Generally, an increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls
below the collateral call threshold would have been accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the
guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among a basket of reference credit names is a significant unobservable input if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. A significant increase (decrease) in
the default correlation would have resulted in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. Generally, a change
in assumption for default correlation would have been accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability and
loss rates of other credit names in the basket. For certain credit derivatives, the credit spreads of credit default swap contracts
insuring asset backed securities is a significant unobservable input. A significant increase (decrease) in the credit spreads would
have resulted in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
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implied volatility is not observable. A significant increase (decrease) in the implied volatility would have resulted in a higher
(lower) fair value of a long position in the derivative contract.

Other derivatives - The fair value of the swap agreements we entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares is
dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation. Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement
include estimated changes in the conversion rate of Visa Class B Shares into Visa Class A Shares and the expected timing of the
final resolution. An increase (decrease) in the loss estimate or in the timing of the resolution of the related litigation would have
resulted in a higher (lower) fair value measurement of the derivative.

Other asset-backed securities available-for-sale - The fair value measurement of certain asset-backed securities is primarily affected
by estimated yields which are determined based on current market yields of comparable instruments adjusted for market liquidity.
An increase (decrease) in the yields would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in the fair value measurement of the securities.

Other assets - The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our PB business is
dependent upon the clients' decisions to transfer their accounts to UBS Wealth Management Americas ("UBS"), the timing and
amounts of client assets transferred and the acceptance of the client assets by UBS which are significant unobservable inputs. An
increase (decrease) in the client transfer rate would have resulted in a higher (lower) fair value measurement of the receivable.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During the three and six months ended June 30,2019, we transferred
$42 million and $103 million, respectively, of domestic deposits and $39 million and $47 million, respectively, of long-term debt,
which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3 to Level 2 as a result of the embedded derivative no longer being
unobservable as the derivative option is closer to maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, we transferred $93 million and $127 million, respectively, of domestic
deposits and $31 million and $75 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level
3 to Level 2 as a result of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in maturity and
there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, we transferred
$10 million and $13 million, respectively, of domestic deposits, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level
3 as aresult of a change in the observability of underlying instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

69



HSBC USA Inc.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) loans classified
as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets that are written down to fair
value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not measured at fair value on an
ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment). The following table presents
the fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has been recorded at June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018. The gains (losses) during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 are also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
at June 30, 2019 For the Three For the Six
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total June 30,2019 June 31, 2019
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loans held for sale” .. § — § 6 $§ — 8 6 S — 8 —
Consumer 10ans®.............ocoverereeereeeenen — 11 — 11 ?2) “)
Impaired commercial loans®.................... — — 30 30 — 1)
Real estate owned™ ...........ooovovevecvecrieenn — 5 — 5 — —
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
DASIS .. $ — 3 22 $ 30 $ 52 $ 2) $ Q)]
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
at December 31, 2018 For the Three For the Six
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total June 30, 2018 June 31, 2018
(in millions)
Consumer 10ans®............ccoooomemeveeeeeern. 8 — 8 158 — 3 15 3 (1 $ )
Commercial loans held for sale® ............. — 36 — 36 — 3
Impaired commercial loans®...................... — — 37 37 46 101
Real estate owned™® .........coooveeeeeeeeeenn, — 7 — 7 1 2

Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
DASIS ..o $ — S 58 $ 37 $ 95 § 46 $ 104

M At June 30, 2019, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

@ Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the

underlying collateral.

®  Certain commercial loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the

credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves real estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As a result, these loans are classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

@ Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair

value unadjusted for transaction costs.

) At December 31, 2018, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.
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The following tables present quantitative information about non-recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities classified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

At June 30, 2019
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Impaired commercial 10ans ...........c.ccoooiiiiiniiiiiiiiccs $ 30 Valuation of third party appraisal Loss severity rates 0% - 65%
on underlying collateral
At December 31, 2018
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Impaired commercial l0ans .........c.ocevereeenerieirenieieerenceeene $ 37  Valuation of third party appraisal Loss severity rates ~ 13% - 100%

on underlying collateral

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The weighted average severity rate for impaired commercial loans was approximately 48 percent at June 30, 2019. These severity
rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques

Following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.

Securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements designated under FVO - We elected to apply FVO
accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements at fair value. The fair value of these
resale and repurchase agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar
underlying collateral and maturities.

Consumer loans held for sale — Consumer loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair
value estimates of consumer loans held for sale are determined primarily using observed market prices of instruments with similar
characteristics. Adjustments are made to reflect differences in collateral location, loan-to-value ratio, FICO scores, vintage year,
default rates, the completeness of the loan documentation and other risk characteristics. Where observable market parameters are
not available, fair value is determined using the discounted cash flow method using assumptions consistent with those which would
be used by market participants in valuing such loans, including estimates of prepayment rates, default rates, loss severities and
market rates of return. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors.

Commercial loans held for sale - Commercial loans held for sale (that are not designated under FVO as discussed below) are
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair value estimates of commercial loans held for sale are determined
primarily using observable market pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market prices
of instruments with similar characteristics. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors.

Commercial loans held for sale designated under FVO — We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial loans held
for sale at fair value. Where available, fair value is based on observable market pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant
broker quotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not
available, fair value is determined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default
rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We also
consider loan-specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate.

Commercial impaired loans — Generally represents collateral dependent commercial loans with fair value determined based on
pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If a quoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
securities, internally developed valuation models are used to determine fair values or validate quotes obtained from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

*  U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions — As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security
or quoted prices for similar securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market
corroborated.
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» U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an
active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar
securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government
sponsored mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based
on pricing information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

*  Asset-backed securities, including CDOs — Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing information obtained from
independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying collateral.

*  Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, a credit
spread scale is created for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to
determine current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes.
For securities with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread model is incorporated to adjust the spreads
determined above. Additionally, we survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark
quotes and updated spreads.

*  Equity securities — Fair value measurements are determined based on quoted prices for the identical security. Certain equity
securities represent investments in private equity funds that help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. The
fair value of these investments are estimated using the net asset value per share as calculated by the fund managers.
Distributions will be received from the funds as the underlying assets are liquidated. While the funds do not allow us to
redeem our investments, we are permitted to sell or transfer our investments subject to the approval of the fund manager.
Unfunded commitments associated with these investments totaled $67 million and $72 million at June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.

The following tables provide additional information relating to our asset-backed securities, including certain CDOs, at June 30,
2019:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities:" Collateral Type: Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA-Ao Collateralized debt obligations .............cceevvereriererieinreirierinenns $ 54§ 54
Student 10anS ........coceviriririnieeeeeee e 90 90
TOtAl AAA ~A. .o 144 144

Collateralized debt obligations...... 32 32

Residential mortgages - Subprime

s 1

Available-for-sale asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities:" Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA - A Home equity - Alt A...ooiiiiiiiicccccees $ 36 § — S 36
Other ..o — 53 53
Total AAA -A..coiiiciccc, 36 53 89
BBB -B ...t Other ..o — 60 60
$ 36 § 113§ 149

M We utilize Standard and Poor’s ("S&P") as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S&P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and
Fitch are used in that order. Ratings for CDOs represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, are valued using valuation techniques. The fair value for the majority of our derivative instruments are determined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
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probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as the base discounting curve for measuring the fair value of all derivatives, both collateralized and
uncollateralized, and apply a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated
with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the OIS rate. The FFVA is calculated by applying future
market funding spreads to the expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralized component of the OTC derivative portfolio.
The expected future funding exposure is calculated by a simulation methodology, where available, and is adjusted for events that
may terminate the exposure, such as the default of HUSI or the counterparty.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

*  Credit Derivatives — Use credit default curves and recovery rates which are generally provided by broker quotes and various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputs in their model valuation.

* Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

»  Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives — FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
quoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we also use implied volatility of currency pairs as inputs.

*  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
*  Precious Metal Derivatives — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

As discussed earlier, we make fair value adjustments to model valuations in order to ensure that those values represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect prices in arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assets and our own credit standing for financial liabilities (the "credit valuation
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calculate the credit valuation adjustment
by applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We also take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
agreements in determining credit valuation adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spread
of the specific counterparty observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the counterparty is not
available, we use the credit default spread of a specific proxy (e.g., the credit default swap spread of the counterparty's parent) or
a proxy based on credit default swaps referencing to credit names of similar credit standing.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we take title to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 90 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Structured notes and deposits designated under FVO — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded
derivatives and are elected to be measured at fair value in their entirety under FVO accounting principles. The valuation of hybrid
instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments and our own credit risk. The
valuation of embedded derivatives may include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names
or volatility of the embedded option. Cash flows of the funded notes and deposits in their entirety, including the embedded
derivatives, are discounted at the relevant interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The
credit spreads so applied are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and the structured note rates in recent executions.

Long-term debt designated under FVO — We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain of our own debt issuances for which fair
value hedge accounting otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary
markets and, as such, the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived
from the spreads at the measurement date.
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Additional Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments that are Not Carried at Fair Value on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet The fair value estimates set forth below are made solely to comply with disclosures required by generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes included in
this report.

The carrying amount of certain financial instruments recorded at cost on the consolidated balance sheet is considered to approximate
fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and generally have negligible
credit risk. These items include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer acceptance assets and
liabilities, federal funds sold and purchased, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, deposits
with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings and certain money market deposits), short-term borrowings and dividends payable.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments, excluding financial
instruments that are carried at fair value on a recurring basis, at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and their classification
within the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying Fair
June 30,2019 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term fINancial @SSELS .........ceevvieieeeieieeiee e $ 12,963 $ 12,963 $ 1,196 $ 11,736 $ 31
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
TESCIL . 5,289 5,289 — 5,289 —
Securities held-to-Maturity........c.coceeereeereinerinecnenenecneeane 13,927 14,011 — 14,011 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses..................... 52,226 54,350 — — 54,350
Commercial loans held for sale.........c.ccvecnieninninnincincnecne 23 23 — 23 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit losses .............c.......... 19,639 19,260 — — 19,260
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOTtZages ........ccvevveeueerereiereeieseeee e 40 41 — 40 1
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial Habilities ...........coovvvvieiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e, $ 8458 § 8475 § — §$ 8444 § 31
Deposits:
Without fixed mMaturitieS........cooevvvveiieiiieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 91,305 91,305 — 91,305 —
Fixed Maturities .......ccoeveeuineeeinieinieinicineericeeeeee e 17,201 17,096 — 17,096 —
Long-term debt.........ccieiiiieieieeeee e 18,870 19,185 — 19,185 —
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Carrying Fair
December 31, 2018 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term fINanCial ASSELS .......vevveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 17,237 $ 17,237 $§ 1,514 $ 15700 $ 23
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
TESCLL 1.t 10,168 10,168 — 10,168 —
Securities held-to-maturity..........cccceveveiereeienieeeeeeee e 14,670 14,443 — 14,443 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses............c........ 48,884 50,671 — — 50,671
Commercial loans held for sale..........cccocevvrininnininininices 285 285 — 285 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit losses...........cccuevenneee 19,553 18,878 — — 18,878
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOTtZages ......ecvvevieieriieeierieeierie et 65 65 — 65 —
Other CONSUIMET ......eiueiiieiiiiieieetceee ettt sttt ee e e 53 53 — — 53
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial HHabilities ......c.ccveeveeveveereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens $ 3643 $ 3,649 § — $ 3,626 $ 23
Deposits:
Without fixed mMaturities........coovveeveeeeiieeeieee e 91,794 91,794 — 91,794 —
Fixed mMaturities . .......ccoueeerueriinieerieeeeceeeee e 10,996 10,933 — 10,933 —
Deposits held for sale.........ococovieiiiiiniiiiee e 10 10 — 10 —
Long-term debt.........cccovivieiiniiiiiiiiieiceeere e 19,379 19,688 — 19,688 —

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and standby letters of credit are not
included in the table. The majority of the lending-related commitments are not carried at fair value on a recurring basis nor are
they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar commitments,
which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and
standby letters of credit totaled $157 million and $165 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

20. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2018 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our Form 10-Q for the three month period ended
March 31, 2019 (the "2019 First Quarter Form 10-Q"). Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our
disclosure in our 2018 Form 10-K and our 2019 First Quarter Form 10-Q are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below and in our 2018 Form 10-K and our 2019 First Quarter Form 10-Q, in the ordinary
course of business, we are routinely named as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal actions and proceedings relating to
activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and proceedings may include claims for substantial or
indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course of business, we also are subject
to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations and proceedings (both formal and
informal), certain of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. In connection
with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents,
testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our regulated activities.

Due to the inherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regulatory matters, particularly where
the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we cannot
determine with any degree of certainty the timing or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties or
business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
from time to time, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

During both the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we recorded expense related to legal matters (excluding attorney's
fees) of $3 million compared with expense of $16 million and $510 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018,
respectively. The expense in the 2018 periods included expense related to a mortgage securitization matter that was settled in
October 2018. See Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional discussion.
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For the legal matters disclosed below, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, as well as for the legal matters
disclosed in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory
Matters," in our 2019 First Quarter Form 10-Q, as to which a loss in excess of accrued liability is reasonably possible in future
periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of which management believes it can make
a reliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $375 million for HUSI. The legal matters underlying
this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and actual results may differ significantly from this current estimate.

In addition, based on the facts currently known for each of the ongoing investigations disclosed in Note 28, "Litigation and
Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K and in Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2019 First Quarter Form
10-Q, it is not practicable at this time for us to determine the terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the
timing of such resolution. As matters progress, it is possible that any fines and/or penalties could be significant.

Given the substantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and the inherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements in
any particular quarterly or annual period.

DeKalb County, et al. v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. (N.D. Ga. Case No. 12-CV-03640) In May 2019, the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit ("Eleventh Circuit") issued a decision in the City of Miami v. Bank of America Corp. & Wells
Fargo & Co. case upon remand from the U.S. Supreme Court. The Eleventh Circuit held that the City of Miami had plausibly
alleged damages in the form of lost property tax revenue, but had not adequately pled other forms of damages (increased municipal
expenditures). The City of Miami defendants have sought rehearing of that decision before the full panel of the court.

County of Cook v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. (N.D. Ill. Case No. 1:14-cv-2031) In June 2019, Cook County moved
for reconsideration of the district court's May 2018 order that, among other things, significantly narrowed the categories of damages
available for potential recovery, based on the Eleventh Circuit’s decision in the City of Miami v. Bank of America Corp. & Wells
Fargo & Co. case.

Credit Default Swap Matters

In July 2019, the court granted the motion to dismiss the action filed by TeraExchange, LLC as to certain defendants, including
the HSBC defendants.

Foreign Exchange ("FX") Matters

U.S. Litigation

FX Opt Out Litigation In June 2019, plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint. Defendants have moved to dismiss the complaint.
Contant In May 2019, the court denied HSBC Bank plc's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction.

It is possible that additional actions will be initiated against the HSBC entities, including HSBC Bank USA, in relation to their
historical foreign exchange activities.

Investigations In June 2019, the South African Competition Tribunal issued a decision requiring the Competition Commission of
South Africa to revise its complaint. The South African Competition Tribunal also dismissed HSBC Bank USA from the complaint,
but permitted the Competition Commission of South Africa to apply for it to be re-joined, albeit on the basis that HSBC Bank
USA cannot be fined or ordered to pay damages and only a declaratory order can be issued against it. Several financial institutions
named in the complaint, including HSBC Bank USA, have appealed part of the decision to the Competition Appeal Court of South
Africa, and the Competition Commission of South Africa has cross-appealed.

Madoff Litigation

InApril 2019, the Second Circuit granted the non-U.S. HSBC defendants' motion to stay the case pending before the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court to allow for the filing of a petition to the U.S. Supreme Court to seek review of the Second Circuit's decision reversing the
dismissal of claims against them.

Benchmark Rate Litigation
ICE Libor: Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in July 2019.

Mortgage Securitization Trust Litigation In May 2019, the Virginia Supreme Court overturned the lower court's dismissal of the
Fir Tree case on procedural grounds. HSBC Bank USA moved for reconsideration of the decision.

Anti-Terrorism Act Cases

Timothy O'Sullivan, et al. v. Deutsche Bank AG, et al. In April 2019, plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend the complaint as
permitted by the court’s order to dismiss.

Ryan Bowman et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. The action has been stayed.
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Rigoberto Vasquez and Eva Garcia et al v. Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd., HSBC Bank USA, N.A., et al. In
May 2019, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York granted HSBC Bank USA's motion and dismissed it from
the case.

Telephone Consumer Protection Act Litigation In June 2019, the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California granted
preliminary approval of the settlement. The final approval hearing is scheduled for December 2019.

Frank Ortegav. HSBC Bank USA, National Association In June 2019, plaintiff filed a purported class action in California Superior
Court in Los Angeles County based upon an October 2018 data breach experienced by HSBC Bank USA. The purported class
members are HSBC Bank USA customers from October 4, 2018 to October 14, 2018 whose personal information allegedly was
compromised. Plaintiff alleges he suffered actual harm in the form of fraudulent charges on his account, as well as continuing
harm resulting from the compromise of his and other purported class members' personal data. The complaint asserts claims for
breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violation of the California Business and Professions Code
17200, negligence, and violation of the Consumers Legal Remedies Act 1750, and seeks unspecified monetary damages and
injunctive relief. The case is at a very early stage.

Other Regulatory and Law Enforcement Investigations

HSBC Bank USA is being investigated by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") for certain swap dealer trade
reporting and other regulatory and trading issues related to prior periods. We are cooperating with the CFTC.

21. New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2019:

e Leases In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an Accounting Standards Update
("ASU") which requires a lessee to recognize a lease liability and a ROU asset on its balance sheet for all leases, including
operating leases. Lease classification is still performed, with any lease classified as a finance lease reported as a financing
transaction. The ASU does not substantially change lessor accounting. Additionally, the ASU makes several other targeted
amendments including a) revising the definition of lease payments to include fixed payments by the lessee to cover lessor
costs related to ownership of the underlying asset such as for property taxes or insurance; b) requiring seller-lessees in a
sale-leaseback transaction to recognize the entire gain from the sale of the underlying asset at the time of sale rather than
over the leaseback term; and c) expanding disclosures to provide quantitative and qualitative information about lease
transactions. The adoption of this guidance resulted in a gross-up of our balance sheet of approximately $780 million as a
result of recognizing lease liabilities and corresponding ROU assets for operating leases upon adoption as of January 1,
2019. In accordance with the new guidance, we elected the short-term lease exemption for all leases with a term of 12
months or less and, therefore, do not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for short-term leases. The adoption of this
guidance also required a cumulative effect adjustment to the consolidated balance sheet to recognize the previously deferred
gain on the sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, which resulted in an increase in retained earnings of $27
million, after tax, as of January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not result in material changes to the recognition
of operating lease expense. See Note 8, "Leases," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

e Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities In March 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that shortens
the premium amortization period for purchased non-contingently callable debt securities by requiring the premium to be
amortized to the earliest call date, rather than the contractual maturity date. After the earliest call date, if the call option is
not exercised, the effective yield will be reset using the payment terms of the debt security. The new guidance does not
change the discount amortization period for purchased debt securities. The discount continues to be amortized to the
contractual maturity date. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

*  Derivatives and Hedging - Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities In August 2017, the FASB issued
an ASU amending its hedge accounting guidance to expand an entity's ability to hedge nonfinancial and financial risk
components, reduce complexity in fair value hedges of interest rate risk and ease the requirements for effectiveness testing
and hedge documentation. The ASU eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and
generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement
line as the hedged item. The ASU also requires expanded disclosures. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements. See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments," for additional information,
including the new disclosure required by this standard.
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The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

*  Financial Instruments - Credit Impairment In June 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that will significantly change
measurement of credit losses. The ASU requires recognition of lifetime expected credit losses for loans (including TDR
loans), held-to-maturity and AFS debt securities, off-balance sheet credit exposures and certain other financial assets reported
at amortized cost. Modeling and economic forecasting requirements of the ASU are new and extensive, and the ASU's
requirements differ significantly from the IFRS credit loss reporting that we implemented in 2018 for reporting to HSBC.
We are currently in the process of completing these requirements. The ASU is effective for all annual and interim periods
beginning no later than January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied by recording a cumulative effect adjustment to retained
earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. Based on our present expectations
of credit performance by our relevant financial assets, we do not expect our one-time ASU adoption adjustment to be
material.

*  Goodwill Impairment Testing In January 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that simplifies the accounting for goodwill
impairment by removing step two of the goodwill impairment test. Under step two, an entity was required to determine the
fair value of individual assets and liabilities of a reporting unit (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) using the
procedure for determining fair values in a business combination. Under the new guidance, goodwill impairment will now
be measured at the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying amount, including those with a zero or negative carrying
amount, exceeds its fair value. Any resulting impairment is limited to the carrying amount of goodwill. An entity must also
disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to each reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount. The ASU is
effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied prospectively with early
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the results of our goodwill
impairment testing or our consolidated financial statements.

»  Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement In August 2018, the
FASB issued an ASU that eliminates, amends and adds certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The
ASU is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020, with early adoption permitted. We elected
to early adopt the new guidance related to the eliminated and amended disclosure requirements in 2018. While adoption of
the remaining guidance will result in changes to our existing disclosures, it will not have any additional impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued that are expected to have or could have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in press releases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
forward-looking statements. Words such as "may," "will," "should," "would," "could," "appears," "believe," "intends," "expects,"
"estimates," "targeted," "plans," "anticipates,” "goal," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

* uncertainty concerning the future market and economic conditions in the United States and abroad, including but not
limited to, changes in interest rates, energy prices and unemployment levels, a decline in housing prices, the availability
of credit and liquidity, changes in consumer confidence and consumer spending and behavior, consumer perception as to
the continuing availability of credit and price competition in the market segments we serve and the consequences of
unexpected geopolitical events, such as trade disputes and the decision by the United Kingdom ("U.K.") to exit the
European Union ("EU");

» changes in laws and regulatory requirements;

» the potential impact of any legal, regulatory or policy changes affecting financial institutions and the global economy as
a result of the current Administration in the U.S.;

» the ability to deliver on our regulatory priorities;

»  capital and liquidity requirements under Basel guidance, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital
Analysis and Review ("CCAR") program, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
("Dodd-Frank Act" or "Dodd-Frank") stress testing ("DFAST"), including the U.S. FRB requirements for U.S. global
systemically important banks ("G-SIBs") and U.S. intermediate holding companies ("[HCs") owned by non-U.S. G-SIBs
to issue total loss-absorbing capacity ("TLAC") instruments;

» regulatory requirements in the U.S. and in non-U.S. jurisdictions to facilitate the future orderly resolution of large financial
institutions;

» changes in central banks' policies with respect to the provision or removal of liquidity support to financial markets;

» the ability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association (together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Bank USA") to fulfill the requirements imposed by applicable
consent orders or guidance from regulators generally;

» the use of us as a conduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;

» the ability to successfully manage our risks;

» the possibility of the inadequacy of our data management and policies and processes;

» the financial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

»  concentrations of credit and market risk;

* increases in our allowance for credit losses and changes in our assessment of our loan portfolios;

» the ability to implement our business strategies;

» the ability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;
» damage to our reputation;

» the ability to attract or retain key employees and customers;
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» the effects of competition in the markets where we operate including increased competition from non-bank financial
services companies, including securities firms;

» the effects of operational risks that are inherent in banking operations, including fraudulent and other criminal activities,
breakdowns in processes or procedures and systems failure or non-availability;

»  disruption in our operations from the external environment arising from events such as natural disasters, global pandemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, or essential utility outages;

» afailure in or a breach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as a result of cyberattacks;

» theability of third party suppliers, outsourcing vendors, off-shored functions and our affiliates to provide adequate services;

» losses suffered due to the negligence, fraud or misconduct of our employees or the negligence, fraud or misconduct on
the part of third parties;

e afailure in our internal controls;

*  our ability to meet our funding requirements;

» adverse changes to our credit ratings;

» financial difficulties or credit downgrades of mortgage bond insurers;
*  our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

» changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

»  heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial institutions, including in connection with product
governance and sales practices, account opening and closing procedures, customer and employee complaints and sales
compensation structures related to such practices;

» continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to existing and future residential mortgage servicing and foreclosure
practices, with particular focus on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

* possible negative impact of regulatory investigations and legal proceedings related to alleged foreign exchange
manipulation;

» changes in the methodology for determining benchmark rates and the implementation of alternative benchmark rates;

»  heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on traded asset
classes, including foreign exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

e model limitations or failure;

» the possibility of incorrect interpretations, application of or changes in tax laws to which we and our clients are subject;

» additional financial contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan;

» unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines; and

» the other risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors," in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2018 (the "2018 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of a forward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC. HUSI
may also be referred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A")
aS "We," "uS" OI' "Our_"

Economic Environment The U.S. economy continued to grow during the first half of2019. U.S. Gross Domestic Product ("GDP")
grew at an estimated annual rate of 2.1 percent in the second quarter of 2019, lower than 2018's GDP annual growth rate, while
inflation in the second quarter of 2019 averaged below the FRB's target inflation rate. Throughout the first half of 2019, the FRB
held short-term interest rates steady. However, in July 2019, the FRB cut short-term interest rates by 25 basis points as a result of
global developments for the economic outlook and also announced that its program to reduce its holdings of U.S. Treasury bonds
and mortgage-backed securities will come to an end in August. The U.S. economy added over 1.0 million jobs during the first half
0f 2019 and the total unemployment rate fell to 3.7 percent at June 2019 as compared with 3.9 percent at December 2018.

Although the U.S. economy continued to grow in the first half of 2019, uncertainty concerning the future economic environment
exists as global growth continues to slow. The sustainability of economic growth will be determined by numerous other variables
including consumer sentiment, energy prices, credit market volatility, employment levels and housing market conditions which
will impact corporate earnings and the capital markets. Concerns over interest rate levels, inflation, domestic and global policy
issues, U.S. trade policy and geopolitical events as well as the implications of those events on the markets in general further add
to global uncertainty. Interest rate levels, in combination with global economic conditions, fiscal and monetary policy and the level
of regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutions will continue to impact our results in 2019 and beyond.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights for HUSI for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 and at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)

INEE TTICOMIIE < e ettt e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeseeeaaaeee e s e eeenneee $ 121 $ 269 $ 230 $ 31
Rate of return on average: -

TOTAL ASSELS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt be et eae et et nae s 3% .6% 3% —%

RiSK-WeIZhted @SSELS ...veuveueenieiiiiiiiieiieiereseeter ettt 4 9 4 1

COMIMON EQUILY -.veveveneerenieteietertetertete sttt sttt ettt es et st et seebestebesbesesteneeaeneas 1.9 5.0 2.2 @y

Tangible COMMON EQUILY ....c.veveuieiieieiieiieereeieet ettt 2.2 5.5 24 (@)

TOLAL EQUILY ...ttt ettt et sttt sttt 2.6 5.5 2.5 3
INEt INEETEST MATZII ..ttt ettt ettt sttt ettt ebeeb bbb b e 1.32 1.41 1.37 1.39
EAICIENCY TALIO ..euveieiiiciceccecce ettt e 79.3 72.0 79.0 95.9
Commercial net charge-off ratio™) ............cooooveoeeeee e .03 A3 .02 .10
Consumer net charge-off Tatio! .............ooouiveeeeeeeeeeeee oo .24 .14 .26 A1

M Excludes loans held for sale.
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June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as a percent 0f 10aNS"™) ............cc.coo.oiiviiieeeeeee e .85% .718%
Commercial allowance as a percent of 10anS" ..............coo.orviroereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 98 .93
Consumer allowance as a percent of 10an8™) ...............coocooviiiiiiirooeeeeeeeee e 48 42
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual deliNqUENCY .........coceevirieriiieniiieiieeseeee e 1.91 2.05
L0ans t0 deposits TAH0P .............ooueveeiveeceeeeeeee e 79.25 75.02
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ..........ccoevireneninenineiccceeeen 124 13.6
Tier 1 capital to risk-Weighted aSSELS .......coereriiriirieieii e e 13.4 14.6
Total capital to riSK-WeiGhted ASSELS ........coiiiiiiiiiiitieiieteet ettt ettt ettt et be e e re e 16.1 17.2
THET 1 I@VEIAZE TALIO ...vevieiieiiietieiieeieete ettt ettt e et este e b e steesseeseesesseesseestessaessesseensesseensensaensenseensenses 9.6 11.0
SUPPIemMeEntary IeVETAZE TATI0........c..ccvieierierieeteee ettt ettt ettt e te et e e tsebeeaseebeesseeteeaseereenseeseenseernas 6.8 7.6
Total €qUILY t0 tOLAl ASSEES...c..icieiiiiesieiieie ettt ettt ettt e b et e st et esseesaesseesbesbeessesseensensaensenseensennes 10.1 11.9

Select Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and interest bearing deposits With DanKS............c.ccceevviiieiiiiiiiii et $ 12,932 §$§ 17214
TTAAINE ASSELS....cuvieeieiieeieetieteeteete et et e et e bestesteestebeessesseesseeseesseeseessesseesseessesseassesseessenseensensaensenseensenses 33,502 21,978
Securities aVaIlable-TOI-SALE .........cc.uiiiieiiieeiee ettt et e et e e et e e e e e seae e e eaeeeenes 37,254 31,379
Loans:

COMMETCIAL LOANS ..ottt ettt e e et e e et e e e et e seaaeeseaeeeeeateeesateeseaaeeeeneeesenaeas 52,745 49,342

(070) 1151 Vi s 1<) ol (o2 o LSRR 19,733 19,636
TOTAL JOAMS ...ttt e e et e e e et e s e aae e e st e e saaaeeseaaeeseaateesaaeeeseaaeesaeeeeas 72,478 68,978
DIEPOSIES ...cvvevieeteeieetettettete ettt ettt ettt et et e st esbess e st essessebeeteeteeteebe et e ebe b e b e s b esb e st esbesbentesseseeneereeteebeereetebenns 116,961 110,955
m

Excludes loans held for sale.

@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for loan losses, as a percentage of core deposits as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions
Examination Council guidelines which generally include all domestic demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with
balances not exceeding $250,000.

Net income was $121 million and $230 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, compared with
$269 million and $31 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. Income before income tax was
$156 million and $300 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, compared with $351 million
and $205 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. Income before income tax decreased during
the three months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to lower other revenues and a higher provision for credit losses. In the year-
to-date period, income before income tax increased as lower other revenues and a higher provision for credit losses was more than
offset by lower operating expenses driven by expense recorded in the prior year related to a mortgage securitization legal matter
that was settled in October 2018. For additional discussion of the mortgage securitization legal matter, see Note 28, "Litigation
and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K.
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Our reported results in all periods were impacted by certain items management believes to be significant, which affect comparability
between periods. Significant items are excluded to arrive at adjusted performance because management would ordinarily identify
and consider them separately to better understand underlying business trends. The following table summarizes the impact of these

significant items for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
Income before income tax, as rePOrted .........oevererierienierieieieieeneneneeese e $ 156 § 351 $ 300 $ 205
SEVEIANCE COSTS ) ... 16 — 17 —
Expense related to certain mortgage loan legal matters..........c.ccceceverenincncncnenenne. — 16 — 507
Adjusted Performance™ ..ot $ 172 § 367 $ 317 $§ 712

(M Reflects severance costs associated with a 2019 global initiative aimed to right-size our cost base.

@ Represents a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Excluding the impact of the items in the table above, our adjusted performance during the three and six months ended June 30,
2019 decreased $195 million and $395 million compared with the prior year periods due primarily to lower other revenues driven
by lower trading revenue and lower fair value option revenue as well as a higher provision for credit losses, partially offset by
lower operating expenses.

See "Results of Operations" for a more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends. In early 2019, our Board of Directors approved a distribution
on our common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to HSBC North America, which was paid in February 2019.

We have a considerable number of contracts referencing London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") extending past 2021, when
it is likely that LIBOR will cease being published. HSBC has established a global program in which we actively participate to
coordinate transition activities aimed to minimize the volume of such contracts outstanding upon the cessation of LIBOR and,
therefore, the associated disruption to financial flows and economic losses. The program is significant in terms of scale and
complexity and will impact all global businesses as well as multiple products, currencies, systems and processes. In addition to
the consequent execution risks, the process of adopting new reference rates exposes us to a wide range of material conduct,
operational and financial risks, such as earnings volatility resulting from contract modifications and changes in hedge accounting.
We continue to engage with industry participants, the official sector and our clients to support an orderly transition and the mitigation
of the risks resulting from the transition.
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Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP").

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies, which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU and,
as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's
accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis are used in
managing our businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors profit before tax
under this basis of reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis profit before tax:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
(in millions)
Profit before tax — U.S. GAAP DASIS ... eeees $§ 156 $§ 351 $ 300 $ 205
Adjustments:
EXpected Credit IOSSES. . ...evuieiirieiieieiiee e 23 118 65 71
Precious metal Loans .........ccooveiriiirieiiieiierccreeee e a 1) 13 3
DEPOSIt INCENEIVES ..ottt sttt ettt ea ettt e e et esbeeneesees 4 2 9 2
L0AN OTIZINALION ...tiutinieiiiiieiieiteiteieeeeeete sttt ettt ettt st st eene 3 1 6 2
Pension and other postretirement benefit COStS ........c.ccevievrirviniininiininiienciciee 3 — 1 2)
PIOPETLY ..ottt — (2) — “)
Loans held for Sale.......c..ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiccccceee e — (2) 1) )
LEASES ..o e ?2) — ©) —
ORNET ettt et s 3 5 7 1
Profit before tax — Group Reporting Basis .........cccceveueueiriririereirisieeeieieieeee e $ 189 § 472§ 393 § 269

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in Note
23, "Business Segments," in our 2018 Form 10-K. In addition, see Note 15, "Business Segments," in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for a discussion of significant changes since December 31, 2018 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and
the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results. Differences in reported profit before tax in the table above that were individually
significant for the periods presented are explained below.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, credit loss estimates were higher under U.S. GAAP than under the Group
Reporting Basis due primarily to the impact of downgrades in the commercial loan portfolio, which was more pronounced under
U.S. GAAP, partially offset by a release in credit loss reserves under U.S. GAAP for risk factors associated with fraud. In addition,
expected credit losses under the Group Reporting Basis in the year-to-date period reflect a release in credit loss reserves due to
the upgrade of a single oil and gas industry client which resulted in reclassification from 'stage 2' (which requires a lifetime expected
credit losses estimate) to 'stage 1' (which requires a 12-month expected credit losses estimate).

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, releases in credit loss reserves were higher under the Group Reporting Basis
than under U.S. GAAP due primarily to reserve releases under the Group Reporting Basis associated with a single client relationship
driven by improvements in credit conditions which resulted in reclassification from 'stage 2' to 'stage 1' and, in the year-to-date
period, other modeling factors as well as a reduction of expected credit losses associated with oil and gas clients. In addition, credit
loss estimates under U.S. GAAP reflect an update to the loss emergence period factors and, in the year-to-date period, a provision
for risk factors associated with geopolitical risks and market volatility inherent in certain segments of the portfolio. The higher
releases in credit loss reserves under the Group Reporting Basis in the year-to-date period was partially offset by reserve releases
under U.S. GAAPdriven by the impact of paydowns, sales and maturities in the commercial loan portfolio where existing allowances
were higher under U.S. GAAP.
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Balance Sheet Review

The following table provides balance sheet totals at June 30, 2019 and increases (decreases) since December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From

December 31, 2018

June 30, 2019 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Period end assets:
Short-term INVESLMENLS ....c..eveiiieiiriiririeeienie sttt ettt $ 18,221 § (9,161) (33.5)%
LL0ANS, TIEE ...eiiiiieeiteee et e 71,865 3,428 5.0
Loans held for Sale ......c..coueiiiiiiiiiiieee e 191 (321) (62.7)
TTAAINE ASSELS.....cuviiiiieiieiieiietetetee ettt ettt ettt st 33,502 11,524 524
SECUITLIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et ebe b bbb e 51,181 5,132 11.1
AL OtRET @SSELS ...ttt 9,103 1,013 12.5
$ 184,063 3 11,615 6.7 %
Period end liabilities and equity:
TOtAl AEPOSIES ..ttt ettt ettt ettt $ 116,961 $ 6,006 54 %
Trading Habilities .....ccoevieuirieirieiricire e 4,026 383 10.5
Short-term DOTTOWINES .....c.veuveiiiiiiiieiiiiniieiertereeer ettt 8,649 4,469 *
Long-term debt.........cccoueiiiiiiiiiiiiieiesereee et 30,849 221 7
Interest, taxes and other labilities.........cc.coererererienienienieicieeecceeecseeese e 4,944 2,408 95.0
TOLAl EQUILY ..c.veveteeirteirteet ettt ettt ettt 18,634 (1,872) .1
$ 184,063 3 11,615 6.7 %

Short-Term Investments Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks and federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Short-term investments decreased compared with
December 31,2018 due primarily to a redeployment of liquidity to trading security positions held as economic hedges of derivative

products issued to clients.
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Loans, Net The following table summarizes our loan balances at June 30, 2019 and increases (decreases) since December 31,
2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

June 30, 2019 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONStIUCHION .......ccererrerrerienienieieieieieeeeeeeene e $ 11,704 $ 360 3.2%
Business and corporate Danking............c.ccocevererierienienieneneieeeeeeese e 14,310 1,244 9.5
Global banking™"......... 20,896 729 3.6
Other commercial® 5,835 1,070 22.5
Total COMMETCIAL........eeciieiieiieieit e s 52,745 3,403 6.9
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES ....c.ceveueriririririinerertetenent ettt 17,421 38 2
Home equity MOTEZAZES ......coueeuiruiriiriieiieierie ettt ettt st 911 (71) (7.2)
Credit CardS ..c.veveeeieieieieieeece ettt ettt ettt 1,129 110 10.8
OFheT CONSUIMET .....cveuitinieiiietenieierteiereete ettt sttt ettt et et seeuesaeneseenesaenea 272 20 7.9
TOtAl COMSUIMIET ...ttt ettt ettt et eae et et eaeeneesneeneesneenneenean 19,733 97 5
TOLAl JOANS ....veevviiieiiecieeieee ettt ettt sttt s b e st e e ete e b e etee s e esaeseens 72,478 3,500 5.1
Allowance for Credit LOSSES ........eevirierieieriieereeie et 613 72 13.3
LOANS, NIET 1.t et et e et s $ 71,865 $ 3,428 5.0%

(" Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions, U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking clients
managed by HSBC on a global basis and complex large business clients supported by GB&M relationship managers.

@ Includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $3,096 million and $2,274 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Commercial loans increased compared with December 31,2018 due to new business activity as we continued to apply a disciplined
lending approach to grow the business and, to a lesser extent, higher loans to affiliates. The growth in commercial non-affiliate
loans was primarily in the entertainment, diversified financial and consumer service industries, partially offset by decreases in the
semiconductor and banking industries.

Consumer loans were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2018 as higher credit card receivables reflecting growth in
customer activity driven by new product promotions as well as increases in residential mortgage loans and other consumer loans
were largely offset by a continued decline in home equity mortgages due to net paydowns. The increase in other consumer loans
reflects a transfer of certain student loans from held for sale to held for investment as discussed below, partially offset by paydowns.

The following table presents loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our residential mortgage loan portfolio, excluding mortgage loans
held for sale:

LTV Ratios”®
June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV < 80%0 ettt 98.1% 95.9% 98.4% 94.1%
80% LTV < 90%...cuiiiiiiiiieieieceeeceeteeeeee et 1.5 3.1 1.1 4.4
90% < LTV < 100%..c.ccuiiiiiiiiiiieieeeieeeeeee e 2 8 3 1.2
LTV 2 1000 ettt 2 2 2 3
Average LTV for portfolio.........ccoovveierierenieieieeceee e 49.4 47.3 49.1 48.7

M LTVs for first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTVs for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
loan origination updated by the change in the Federal Housing Finance Agency's house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Area or state
level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing
price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. As a result, actual property values associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be
significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of this disclosure.
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@ Current estimated property values are calculated using the most current HPIs available and applied on an individual loan basis, which results in an approximate

three month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using
HPIs at March 31, 2019 and September 30, 2018, respectively.
Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at June 30, 2019 and increases (decreases) since
December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

June 30, 2019 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONSrUCHION ........co.cerueeriiirieninieninenieeneeneeneee e $ 66 $ 39 *

GlObAl DANKING ...ttt ettt ettt 85 (282) (76.8)

Total COMMETCIAL.....cc.eooiiiiiiiieieii e 151 (243) (61.7)
Consumer loans:

Residential MOTtZAZES .....cc.eeviruieiiiiieiieiereee et s 40 (25) (38.5)

Other CONSUIMET ...c.ouviuieniiieiieieeitet sttt ettt ettt ettt ebe bbb b — (53) (100.0)

TOtAl CONSUIMET ......cvivitinietiieieteieret ettt sttt ettt et et 40 (78) (66.1)
Total loans held for sale........c.cccueviiiiiiiniininccee e $ 191 §$ (321) (62.7)%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Commercial loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2018. Included in commercial loans held for sale are
certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment and transferred to held for sale which totaled $23 million and $285
million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The decrease compared with December 31, 2018 was due to loan
sales.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we have elected to designate under the fair value option which
consists of loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent
of selling them to unaffiliated third parties as well as loans that we purchase from the secondary market and hold as hedges against
our exposure to certain total return swaps. The fair value of these loans totaled $128 million and $109 million at June 30, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending on the volume and level of activity.

Consumer loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2018. Included in residential mortgage loans held for sale
are agency-eligible residential mortgage loans which are originated and held for sale to third parties, currently on a servicing
retained basis. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending on the volume and level of activity. Gains and losses from
the sale of these residential mortgage loans are reflected as a component of other income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income. In addition, during the first quarter of 2019, we transferred $53 million of student loans that were previously
classified as other consumer loans held for sale back to held for investment as we now intend to hold these loans for the foreseeable
future.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance through other revenues.
The valuation allowance on consumer loans held for sale was $2 million and $4 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $1 million and $3 million at June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.
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Trading Assets and Liabilities The following table summarizes trading assets and liabilities at June 30, 2019 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

June 30, 2019 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Trading assets:

SECUIIHES" ...o.oo vttt $ 26562 $ 9,521 55.9%
PIecious MELALS .......cceerieiirieiinieinicenercertct sttt 3,895 2,006 *
DEIIVALIVES, TIET ..veeuviieiiiiiii ettt ettt ettt e b e et e sbeeveesebeeveesaseeareeseneenres 3,045 3) (0.1)
$ 33,502 $ 11,524 52.4%
Trading liabilities:
Securities sold, not yet purchased...........ccoeecveeieiieieriiiiee s $ 834 § 96 13.0%
Payables for precious metals...........ccooeeveerieieiieieceeeeee e 106 (109) (50.7)
DETIVALIVES, NEL .....vviiiiiiie ettt e et e e et e et e e et eeeaaeessraeeesnaeesnnneas 3,086 396 14.7
3 4,026 $ 383 10.5%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

M See Note 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

Trading securities balances increased compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to increases in U.S. Treasury, foreign
sovereign and equity positions. Trading security positions are held as economic hedges of interest rate, credit and equity derivative
products issued to clients of domestic and emerging markets. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in corporate bond
positions reflecting the unwind of one of our unconsolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") which resulted in the termination
of our investment in the VIE along with the related derivatives during the first quarter of 2019. Balances of securities sold, not yet
purchased were higher compared with December 31,2018 driven by an increase in short U.S. Treasury positions related to economic
hedges of derivatives in the interest rate trading portfolio.

Precious metals trading assets increased compared with December 31, 2018 due to increases in our own silver and gold inventory
positions reflecting a redeployment of liquidity in the short term which is economically hedged with derivative positions to protect
against changes in market pricing and, to a lesser extent, an increase in positions held as economic hedges for client derivative
activity. Payables for precious metals were lower compared with December 31, 2018 driven by a decline in borrowing of gold
inventory to support client activity levels. Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure as we may use
derivatives contracts to reduce our risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which would appear in derivatives in the
table above.

Derivative asset balances were flat compared with December 31, 2018 as higher balances from market movements were offset by
the termination of derivatives associated with the unwind of an unconsolidated VIE as discussed above and the impact of higher
netting of cash collateral posted. Derivative liability balances increased compared with December 31, 2018 mainly from market
movements which were partially offset by the termination of derivatives associated with the unwind of an unconsolidated VIE as
discussed above. Market movements resulted in higher valuations of interest rate, equity, commodity and credit derivatives, partially
offset by lower valuations of foreign exchange derivatives.

Securities Securities include securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity. Securities balances were higher
compared with December 31, 2018 driven by net purchases of U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed
securities as part of our continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management
purposes.

All Other Assets All other assets includes, among other items, properties and equipment, net and goodwill. All other assets increased
compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to higher lease assets and higher outstanding settlement balances related to
security sales. As discussed more fully in Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, the adoption of new accounting guidance resulted in a gross-up of our balance sheet to recognize lease liabilities and
corresponding right-of-use assets for operating leases as of January 1, 2019. These increases were partially offset by lower margin
requirements related to futures trading.
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Deposits The following table summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at June 30,2019 and increases (decreases)
since December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

June 30, 2019 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Individuals, partnerships and COrporations...........c.ceoerereerieiereeeeineneeeneseseene $ 102,940 $ 7,427 7.8 %
Domestic and foreign banks ..........ccceceeererinininenenieneneeeeeecetee s 10,683 (1,443) (11.9)
U.S. government and states and political subdivisions ..........cccceceeverererercnennnn 505 73 16.9
Foreign governments and official inStitUtions ............coceeveevecveceercniniencnencncnnenen 2,833 (41) (1.4)
Deposits held for SA1e™!) ...........oo oo — (10) (100.0)
TOLAl AEPOSIES ...evvieivieietiieticteee ettt ettt ettt s ee b ese bt esess et st s s senas $ 116,961 $ 6,006 5.4 %
Total COTE AEPOSIES™ ...t $ 90919 $ (990) (1.1)%

(" Represents deposits associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business.

@ Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic
demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $250,000.

Total deposits increased compared with December 31, 2018 due to an increase in wholesale time deposits driven by new issuances,
higher deposits from affiliates and increased retail deposits driven by promotional rates offered on savings accounts and certificates
of deposit. These increases were partially offset by lower commercial demand deposits due primarily to the impact of seasonality
as clients managed their cash needs at year-end as well as lower deposits in Private Banking reflecting withdrawals from a few
large clients. We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings were higher compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to increases in
securities sold under repurchase agreements and federal funds purchased resulting from the management of our short-term funding
positions.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt was relatively flat compared with December 31, 2018 as fair value movements on fair value
option debt and the impact of debt issuances were largely offset by debt retirements. Debt issuances during the three and six months
ended June 30,2019 totaled $1,099 million and $2,928 million, respectively, of which $421 million and $1,613 million, respectively,
was issued by HSBC Bank USA.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $1,315 million of senior structured notes during
the six months ended June 30, 2019. Total long-term debt outstanding under this shelf was $15,060 million and $16,249 million
at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Global Bank Note Program totaled $613 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2019. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4,430 million and $4,493 million at June 30,2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively.

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") totaled $2,000 million and $2,100 million at June 30,2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Interest, Taxes and Other Liabilities Interest, taxes and other liabilities increased compared with December 31,2018 due primarily
to higher outstanding settlement balances related to security purchases and higher lease liabilities due to the adoption of new
accounting guidance as discussed above.

Total Equity During the first quarter of 2019, we paid a distribution on our common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to
HSBC North America. See Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements," in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for additional details.
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Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income is the total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest rates is presented in this MD&A under the caption
"Consolidated Average Balances and Interest Rates."

The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

2019 Compared to
2018

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 Volume Rate 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

Short-term IMVESLMENLS ....c..eoveiiiiieiieiieieeieeieserie sttt sttt ebe s $ 173 § (40) $ 56 § 157
TradIiNg SECUITLIES ....cveevieiieiiriintietetestetetet ettt sttt 67 29 (15) 53
SECUITEIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt s e ne e b e ene e 298 15 5 278
Commercial IOaNS .......ccoiviririiiiircicecec s 552 35 65 452
CONSUMET LOAIS ...ttt es 191 — 6 185
ONET .ottt 20 @) 5 22
Total INETESt INCOMIC. c..c.veuvinteneeieiteteteit ettt ettt ettt ebe s 1,301 32 122 1,147
Interest expense:
DIEPOSIES ..ttt ettt bbbttt ettt 380 6 116 258
Short-term DOITOWINGS .....c.ooviiiiiieiiiiieieieee et 68 1 24 43
LONG-teIT dEDL.....coueiuiiiiriiriiiiniisierer ettt 306 @) 27 283
Tax liabilities and Other..........coooiiiriiiiiiiiiiicic e 7 1 2 8
TOtal INEETESt EXPEIISE.....veuvenrenrenrenteiteieitetteiteteete ettt st sttt sttt e et et eae et ebeebeeaes 761 4 165 592
NEt INETESE INCOIMIE .....vitiiitiieieieteeet ettt ettt ettt ettt eaeas $ 540 § 28 $§ (43) $ 555
Yield on total interest Carning aSSELS.........eeeruerieieieierirereeteee e seetesee e eeeeeeeeneenes 317% 2.91%
Cost of total interest bearing liabilities ...........cccoccoiiiiiniiiiiiniccccce, 2.37 1.87
INtETeSt Tate SPIEAM .....uevirtiteieieeet ettt sttt eae s .80 1.04
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'” ..............ccoccovorvorioeiierecee e 52 37
Net interest margin on average €arning aSSELS .......ecceeeereeerrerrerrenerenseseereeneeeeeenene 1.32% 1.41%
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2019 Compared
with 2018
Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 Volume Rate 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

SHOTE-LEITN INVESHITIENES ...ceceeeeiiec e $ 349 § (105 $ 139 § 315
TTadING SECUITEIES ....cveeveeiirteriirtietertent ettt ettt sttt ettt ebe e 130 49 21 102
SECUTTEIES ..ttt sttt ettt ettt ettt sttt sttt et sttt et et et saene e 602 23 48 531
Commercial Loans .........ccoiviiiiiiiiiiccc s 1,074 50 158 866
CONSUMET LOAIS ...ttt ettt ettt ee 385 1 15 369
OHET ...ttt ettt 38 (12) 12 38
Total INEETESt INCOMC. ... ettt ettt ettt sttt sttt ettt et seebeenes 2,578 6 351 2,221
Interest expense:
DIEPOSIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt etttk b ettt nes 713 ©)] 242 480
ShOTt-term DOITOWINES .......veueruiiiriiieiiieieieiereee et 130 8 46 76
LONG-EITN AEDL.....cuiiiiiiiiiiitiitietietee ettt 618 (22) 100 540
Tax liabilities and Other..........cociviriririiriinicicicre e 15 3) — 18
TOtal INEETESt EXPEIISE. ... .veuveurereeneenienteienteteetteteeteeteeteeteetesbeste st e testeeenseneeeeneeneeneeneeseenes 1,476 (26) 388 1,114
Net INTETESE INCOMEL ....coveverririiriietetertet ettt ettt ettt sttt st ettt et et eneeneeaeene $1,102 § 32 $  (37) $1,107
Yield on total interest €arning assets..........coevververeeeeeirerenrinenereenresteseeeeneeeneeneenes 3.19% 2.78%
Cost of total interest bearing Habilities .........c.ceceveriririninineneneeeeeeeeeeeee 2.34 1.73
Interest rate SPIEAU .......co.evveruerierieieieieieietete ettt 85 1.05
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds' ...........c..ccoccooevrirroiieeeeeeeee e 52 34
Net interest margin on average €arning asselS.......cc.cecervererrerrererrenrerensereereneereeeeenne 1.37% 1.39%

(M Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess or

a higher cost of interest bearing liabilities, while decreased percentages reflect a reduction in this excess or a lower cost of interest bearing liabilities.

Net interest income decreased slightly during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 as the benefit of higher market rates
on interest earning assets was more than offset by higher interest expense on interest bearing liabilities, primarily deposits and
long-term debt.

Short-term investments Interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher yields earned
on these investments, partially offset by lower average balances.

Trading securities Interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher average balances
reflecting a redeployment of liquidity to trading security positions. The increase in balances was primarily in lower yielding foreign
sovereign and U.S. Treasury positions which resulted in a shift in mix and a lower yield overall. Interest income associated with
trading securities was partially offset within trading revenue by the performance of the associated derivatives as discussed further
below.

Securities Interest income increased during the three months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher average balances driven
by net purchases of U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed, U.S. Treasury and foreign sovereign securities. In the year-to-
date period, interest income was higher due to higher yields reflecting higher market rates as well as higher average balances. The
increase in balances in the year-to-date period was driven primarily by net purchases of foreign sovereign and U.S. Government
agency mortgage-backed securities.

Commercial loans Interest income was higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher yields driven
by rate increases on variable rate products and, to a lesser extent, higher average balances due to loan growth.

Consumer loans Interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher yields
on residential mortgages.

Other Other interest income was relatively flat during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 as the impact of lower average
cash collateral balances was largely offset by higher yields on cash collateral posted.
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Deposits Interest expense increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher rates paid
reflecting the impact of rate increases on wholesale deposits and promotional rates offered to our retail customers on savings
accounts and certificates of deposit. The higher interest expense also reflects a shift in mix as decreases in savings and demand
deposits driven by volatility reflecting competitive pricing pressures and the attrition of retail savings balances associated with
previous promotional rate campaigns were replaced by more expensive wholesale time deposits and retail certificates of deposit.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 was due to higher rates paid
on these borrowings and, to a lesser extent, higher average borrowings. Higher average borrowings in the year-to-date period
reflect increases in commercial paper and federal funds purchased, partially offset by a decline in securities sold under repurchase
agreements.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher rates paid reflecting
the impact of rate increases on variable rate borrowings, partially offset by lower average borrowings.

Tax liabilities and other Interest expense was relatively flat during the three months ended June 30, 2019. In the year-to-date
period, interest expense decreased driven by lower average borrowings in securities sold, not yet repurchased.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Commercial:
Real estate, including CONStIUCHION .......co.evverierierienieieieieeeeeeeeceeee e $ 30 $ @ 3 34 *
Business and corporate banking ..............cocevererienenienienieneeinineeeeene e 13 27) 40 *
Global banKing.........cceevveuirieirieinieinieineeneeeee e ) (25) 16 64.0
Other commercial ..o 6) (6) *
Total cOMMETICIal.....cc.ouooiiuivieiiieiiciccc e 28 (56) 84 *
Consumer:
Residential MOTtAZES.......ccoveruiruiriririiniiriereteeereee e 1 4) 5 *
Home equity MOTtZAZES ......coeruiruirieriiniinienieneeteieterereree et 1) (1) *
Credit CardS....c.ovuiiiiiieiiecicee e 19 13 6 46.2
Other CONSUIMET ...ttt a 2 (3) *
TOtAl CONSUINET.......cveuitiietiietiteetetrte et 18 11 7 63.6
Total provision for credit LoSSES.........ovieruiriiriiieeeieieee e $ 46 $ 45 3 91 *
Provision as a percentage of average 10ans ..........c.ccoevereerieieniencninincncncncnne 3% W -
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Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Real estate, including CONSUCTION ......ccueeriiiierieiieieeieseee e $ 33 $ 6 $ 27 *
Business and corporate banking ..............cocevevereneneiienieneinineeceeseseeeen 35 (61) 96 *
Global BANKING......ccoecviiiiiiiiiieieer e s 5 (74) 79 *
Other coOmMMETICIal .......c.ooviiviiiieiciccce e 6) 1 (7 *
Total COMMETCIAL .....c.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiercceeeeec e 67 (128) 195 *
Consumer:
Residential MOTtAZES.......cceeeruiruireriniinierenieteeeeeeree et — (14) 14 100.0
Home equity MOTtZAZES ......ceuerueriirieriiriirieriertentete ettt — (1) 1 100.0
Credit CardS .....cveveieieieieiece ettt 35 25 10 40.0
Other CONSUIMET ..ottt 2 2 — —
TOtal CONSUMET ......c.eiuiiiiiiiiiiiiieieer ettt 37 12 25 *
Total provision for credit 10SSES.......cccevuireririnirininieeieeceeceeeeeeseeese e $ 104 $ (116) $ 220 *
Provision as a percentage of average 10ans ..........c.cceevevvevvecienienninennininicnenns 3% W -

*  Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Our provision for credit losses increased $91 million and $220 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019,
respectively, due to a higher provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio and, to a lesser extent, our consumer loan
portfolio. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we increased our allowance for credit losses as the provision for
credit losses was higher than net charge-offs by $30 million and $72 million, respectively.

The provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio increased $84 million and $195 million during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, reflecting loss provisions in the current year periods compared with releases in credit
loss reserves in the prior year periods. The loss provisions in the current year periods were driven by downgrades reflecting
weakness in the financial condition of certain client relationships, loan growth and an update to the loss emergence period factors
which were partially offset by a release in credit loss reserves for risk factors associated with fraud as well as releases in credit
loss reserves due to paydowns. In the prior year periods, the releases in credit loss reserves reflected improvements in the credit
quality of our portfolio driven by paydowns, sales and maturities as we focused efforts on improving returns, including the sale
of a single mining client relationship in the second quarter, as well as improvements in credit conditions associated with certain
clients at that time. The releases in the prior year periods were partially offset by an update to the loss emergence period factors
and, in the year-to-date period, a provision for risk factors associated with geopolitical risks and market volatility inherent in certain
segments of the portfolio.

The provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio was higher by $7 million and $25 million during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2019, respectively, due to the non-recurrence of releases in credit loss reserves recorded in the prior year
periods on residential mortgages as the positive impacts of improvements in economic and credit conditions were more pronounced
at that time. Also contributing to the increases were higher provisions for credit losses on credit cards reflecting growth in customer
activity driven by new product promotions, including higher dollars of delinquency.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2018 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
Accounting Pronouncements." See "Credit Quality" in this MD&A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.

93



HSBC USA Inc.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit card feeS, NET ........coviiivieiiecieecieeee ettt e $ 18 $ 15 % 3 20.0
Trust and investment management fEes..........cocevevververieneeiincereneneneniennenn 31 34 3) (8.8)
Other fees and COMMISSIONS .......ceeerueriririinenereeeteteeee e 162 184 (22) (12.0)
Trading TEVEINUE ......cveveuirieiirieiirieietet ettt 123 192 (69) (35.9)
Other SECUTities GaINS, NET.....c..ccveiriririrerieeierereeet ettt 23 10 13 *
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates..........ccccocevcevcininicncncnennenn 88 87 1 1.1
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives a7 4 201 *
Other income (loss):
Valuation of loans held for sale...........ccocorivenineniiiiie — 1 (1) (100.0)
Residential mortgage banking revenue (eXpense).........c.ceceevevereerenennns 2 2) 4 *
INSUTANCE ...t 4 3 1 333
Miscellaneous income (10SS) ......ceverirrerenierienienienieieieeeeeeee e 2 9 @) (77.8)
Total other iINCOME (10SS).....ceueruiriiririiriirierierieieeete e 8 11 3) (27.3)
Total Other TEVENUES ......cc.eiiiieieiieeiet et $ 436 $ 537§ (101) (18.8)%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(in millions)
Credit card feeS, NET .......cc..eiieeie e $ 30 $ 26 $ 4 15.4 %
Trust and investment management fees..........c.ccveereerecininnnineineeennnes 61 72 (11) (15.3)
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ..........c.coveuirieuirieirieircircereeee e 309 344 (35) (10.2)
TradiNg TEVENUE .....oviveeiieeirieiietetetetetee ettt ettt eae st esene st sensesesesesenes 256 355 (99) (27.9)
Other Securities Gains, NET...........ccuvuieeeuireeireeieieeereeree e 30 15 15 100.0
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.............ccoeoveiiniiciinnncnnne. 169 186 (17) .1
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives (26) 34 (60) *
Other income (loss):
Valuation of loans held for sale...........coceoeveneneiieiiinininnnccee — 4 4 (100.0)
Residential mortgage banking revenue (EXpense)........cc.ceceeerererenennns — 2) 2 100.0
INSUTANCE ....oviiiiiiicieee e e 6 6 — —
Miscellaneous income (10SS) ......ccoveerieerieereineineineneceeeeeeeeeee 9 10 (19) *
Total other iNCOME (10SS).....coeruireririririeneiccccteteceeee e 3) 18 (21) *
Total OthEr TEVENUES .......c.ovieveeieiieieieeiieteteeeseeeereteses et se e s b tesesenes $ 826 $§ 1,050 $ (224) (21.3)%

*  Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Credit card fees, net Credit card fees, net were higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher interchange
fees, partially offset by higher cost estimates associated with our credit card rewards program.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees decreased during the three and six months ended
June 30,2019 due to lower average assets under management driven in part by negative market performance and, to a lesser extent,
the impact of the client referral agreement with UBS Wealth Management Americas ("UBS").

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to
a decline in wire transfer fees, lower loan syndication fees and the non-recurrence of income recorded in the second quarter of
2018 reflecting the recognition of residual income associated with the termination and payoff of an unconsolidated VIE. See
Note 13, "Fee Income from Contracts with Customers," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional
information including a summary of the components of other fees and commissions.
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Trading revenue Trading revenue is generated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities and precious metals
markets. The following table presents trading revenue by business activity. Not included in the table below is the impact of net
interest income associated with trading securities which is an integral part of trading activities' overall performance. Net interest
income related to trading activities is recorded in net interest income in the consolidated statement of income. Trading revenue
related to the mortgage banking business are included as a component of other income (loss).

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Business Activities:

Derivatives'"™ ... $ 58 S 33 8§ 25 75.8 %
Foreign EXChange .......c.ccoovviriiiiiiininenciccccteeeccceesc e 39 59 (20) (33.9)
IMLELALS ...ttt 15 94 (79) (84.0)
Balance Sheet Management ............cocoeverenienienienieieeeeeeneneseeenieneens 9 5 4 80.0
Global Banking ........c.ccccoeeriiinieinniencincnenecnecne e — 3) 3 100.0

Other trading ......coveoveieiieirieireeree ettt 2 4 2) (50.0)
Total trading TEVENUE .......cooveveviriieretieiieieteeeeeee ettt sesesnnenes $ 123 $ 192§ (69) (35.9%

Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(in millions)

Business Activities:

Derivatives'"® ...........coovieceeee e $ 86 $ 59§ 27 45.8 %
Foreign EXChange .........cccocvviniinininicincncccncce e 83 117 (34) (29.1)
IMELALS ... 53 166 (113) (68.1)
Balance Sheet Management ...........cccvveereeenieiniecnennenencneneneneeneneene 20 13 7 53.8
Global Banking ........c.ccceceeirerininininienenenieteeeeeteteeeieeie e — @) 4 100.0
Other trading .......cevveirieririinirienieeneeree ettt 14 4 10 *
Total trading FEVENUER ......cveieuieiieiieiirieniere ettt $ 256 $ 355§ (99) (27.9)%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

M Includes derivative contracts related to the Credit, Rates and Equities business activities within Global Markets as well as our legacy structured credit products.

Derivative contracts related to the Foreign Exchange and Metals business activities within Global Markets as well as derivative products related to Balance
Sheet Management, Global Banking and other trading are reported separately within those respective business activities.

@ Derivatives trading revenue in all periods does not reflect associated net interest income as certain derivatives, such as total return swaps, were economically

hedged by holding the underlying interest bearing referenced assets.

During the first quarter of 2019, one of our unconsolidated VIEs was unwound and our investment in the VIE along with the related
derivatives were terminated resulting in a loss of approximately $39 million, reflecting a payment made to the derivative
counterparty as a result of the termination. Excluding this item, trading revenue remained lower during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2019 driven by a decline in Metals revenue due primarily to a lower redeployment of liquidity to Metals, a decline
in interest rates and lower volatility in certain metals, including lower trading activity, as well as a decline in Foreign Exchange
revenue reflecting lower volatility in emerging market currencies, primarily Argentina. These decreases were partially offset by
higher Derivatives revenue due primarily to emerging markets rate products.

Other securities gains, net We maintain securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk management
strategies. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, we sold $2,044 million and $4,189 million, respectively, of
primarily U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed securities
compared with sales of $1,623 million and $2,610 million during the prior year periods as part of a continuing strategy to maximize
returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes. Other securities gains, net increased during the three
and six months ended June 30, 2019 reflecting the impact of higher sales activity. The gross realized gains and losses from sales
of securities, which is included as a component of other securities gains, net above, are summarized in Note 3, "Securities," in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates was relatively flat during the three
months ended June 30, 2019. In the year-to-date period, servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates decreased due primarily to
lower cost reimbursements associated with shared service activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates, including the
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non-recurrence of approximately $10 million of cost reimbursements recorded in the prior year associated with enhancing the
HSBC Group's digital banking platform, as well as lower sales commissions.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to certain commercial loans held for sale, a portion of our securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements,
certain of our own fixed-rate debt issuances and all of our hybrid instruments issued, including structured notes and deposits. We
also use derivatives to economically hedge the interest rate and other risks associated with certain financial liabilities for which
fair value option accounting has been elected. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives was lower
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 attributable primarily to unfavorable movements related to the economic
hedging of interest rate and other risks within our own debt and structured notes. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information including a breakout of these amounts by individual
component.

Other income (loss) Beginning January 1, 2019, fair value hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in net interest income. Excluding
this item, which resulted in gains of $5 million and $11 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively,
other income (loss) was relatively flat during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and remained lower in the year-to-date period
as the non-recurrence of a loss of $7 million recorded during the second quarter of 2018 related to a change in the Visa Inc. ("Visa")
Class B common share ("Class B Share") conversion rate as aresult of the outstanding litigation for which we retained the associated
risk as well as higher income associated with bank owned life insurance was largely offset in the three-month period and more
than offset in the year-to-date period by higher losses associated with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the
hedging of a single client relationship.

Operating Expenses The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salaries and employee benefits...........cocevevuerienenieiiiiiriienenenerese e $ 221 $ 212 $ 9 42 %
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU") .............. 298 310 (12) (3.9
Fees paid to HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS").....ccoceevievevreerrenene. 23 25 2) (8.0)
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates..........cccoeoineincineincnicncecen 90 70 20 28.6
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccccccevevinvininiincnnnnnns 411 405 6 1.5
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NET...cuviiieirieiieiieieieeeeie ettt eee 48 45 3 6.7
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOEWAaTe..........c.cccoeveiriinieiniicneceeeeeeeeeeeeee 21 16 5 31.3
IMATKEEINE ...ttt st 32 33 1) (3.0)
OULSIAE SETVICES ...vvvnreneeiieiirientinterie ettt ettt ettt et e b sae st b naens 12 16 @) (25.0)
Professional fEes ........c..coeivriniiniiinicircc e 18 23 (5) (21.7)
Off-balance sheet credit TESEIVES .........ccovveuirieirieirieiieieeeeeeeeeeeene 1 (13) 14 *
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fees ........ 3) 29 (32) *
Expense related to legal matters (excluding attorney's fees) ................. 3 16 13) (81.3)
MISCEILANCOUS. ...ttt 10 4 6 *
Total Other EXPENSES ... c.ceueruiriiriiriiririieterterterteteteeet et 94 124 (30) (24.2)
Total Operating EXPENSES. .....cc.eervirueeriirierierienieete ettt ettt ebee e eiee e eae $ 7714 § 786 $ (12) (1.5)%
Personnel - average NUMDET ...........ccoceveririneninieicicceeeeeeeee e W 4757
EffICIENCY Tat10. . coueeiiiiieiiee e 79.3% 72.0%
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Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount Yo
(dollars are in millions)
Salaries and employee benefits...........coevevierenieiieieiiiiinneese e $ 431 $ 419 $ 12 29 %
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HTSU ....cooiiiiiiiiiieeecceteteeeeee e 575 608 33) (54)
Fees paid to HMUS ..o 50 56 (6) (10.7)
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates........c.ccocevevienienieieiicninincncncncne 166 152 14 9.2
Total support services from HSBC affiliates...........ccccceceevininininncnnns 791 816 (25) (3.1)
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NET...cuviiieuririeeiieieieetenteete sttt et et ere et eaeeneeee 93 88 5 5.7
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWare.........cc.ceererinerineneieieetetceeeeese e 40 27 13 48.1
MATKEEINE ..ottt st 68 61 7 11.5
OULSIAE SETVICES .uvevvnrnieiieiiiiintieterte ettt ettt ettt ettt sbe e 28 32 4 (12.5)
Professional fees ........c..covivriniiniiniencrc e 29 45 (16) (35.6)
Off-balance sheet credit TESEIVES .........cevveereeirieirieirieeeeeeeeeeeeene 6) (15) 9 60.0
FDIC asSeSSMENLt fEES .....evueruiruiriiriiriinierienieteierereeeeeeeeee e 5 62 57 (91.9)
Expense related to legal matters (excluding attorney's fees) ................. 3 510 (507) (99.4)
MISCEILANEOUS.....cceuiiieiieiieiiiiciier ettt 42 23 19 82.6
Total Other EXPENSES ... c.ceueruiriiriiriiriiriertertesetee ettt 209 745 (536) (71.9)
Total OPerating EXPEeNSES.......cueveureieirereriierentereetereteeeneteae et sresrenee $ 1,524 § 2068 $ (544) (26.3)%
Personnel - average NUMDET ...........cccoceviririneninieeeeeeeeeeeeee e W T 4768
EffICIENCY TAtI0.c..ctiveieieicicicieeete et 79.0% 95.9%

*  Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits expense increased during the three and six months ended June 30,
2019 due primarily to higher severance costs, higher salaries expense and, in the year-to-date period, higher incentive compensation
expense. While continued cost management efforts, including targeted staff reductions to optimize staffing and improve efficiency,
resulted in a decline in the average number of personnel, the impact of these reductions on salaries expense was largely offset by
the addition of personnel associated with growth initiatives in certain businesses.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates increased slightly during the three months
ended June 30, 2019 as lower cost allocations in our technology, risk and compliance support service functions were more than
offset by higher allocated severance costs as well as increased costs associated with our business systems. In the year-to-date
period, servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates was lower due to lower cost allocations in our technology, risk and compliance
support service functions, partially offset by higher allocated severance costs. A summary of the services received from various
HSBC affiliates is included in Note 22, "Related Party Transactions," in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Occupancy expense, net Prior to 2019, occupancy expense was impacted by the amortization of the deferred gain associated with
the sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, which resulted in the recognition of gains of $2 million and $4 million
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively. In January 2019, we adopted new accounting guidance which
resulted in a cumulative effect adjustment to recognize the previously deferred gain in retained earnings on January 1, 2019.
Excluding this item, occupancy expense was relatively flat during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019.

Other expenses Other expenses were lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher legal
expense recorded in the prior year periods related to a mortgage securitization matter that was settled in October 2018, lower
deposit insurance assessment fees due to removal of the temporary surcharge in December 2018 and a lower assessment rate as
well as lower professional fees. For additional discussion of the mortgage securitization legal matter, see Note 28, "Litigation and
Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K. These decreases were partially offset by lower releases of off-balance sheet credit
reserves, lower levels of expense capitalization related to internally developed software, higher capitalized software amortization
expense and, in the year-to-date period, higher losses associated with card fraud and higher marketing expense.

Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio increased modestly during the three months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to lower other
revenues as discussed in detail above. In the year-to-date period, our efficiency ratio improved due primarily to lower operating
expenses, partially offset by lower other revenues as discussed in detail above.
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Income tax expense The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the provision for
income taxes attributable to pretax income (loss) and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense at the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate ...........c.coceevvervenennen. $ 33 21.0% $ 74 21.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit.............cccoevvieiviiiiiiciiiiiciiene. 7 4.5 13 3.7
Non-deductible FDIC asseSsment fees........c.cccveerieriiereeniienieeieecieesveesieens — — 7 2.0
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items' .............coocoovveverveveeieeeeeeean. — — 5 1.4
Ttems affecting prior periods® ............oo.coovoreoreereeeeeceeseee e, — — a7 (4.8)
Low income housing and other tax credit investments..............cccoceceeevenennnn 3) (1.9) (1) (3)
ORNCT .ttt ettt ?2) (1.2) 1 4
Provision fOr INCOME TAXES.......cciiveeueieeeeieeerieeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeieeeeesesesreeeseseeseeeesssnnns $ 35 22.4% $ 82 23.4%
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Tax expense at the U.S. Federal statutory income tax rate .........c.ccccecereeerennnne $ 63 21.0% $ 43 21.0%

Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:

State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit..............ccoevviiiiiiiiiciiiiiceene. 12 4.0 25 12.2
Non-deductible FDIC assessment fees.........ccocvecuerierieeieninieneseene e 2 g 19 9.3
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items' .............coccovuvemeiereeeeeeeeeeeean. — — 105 51.2
Items affecting prior periods™ ............ccocovveeerveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — — a7 (8.3)
Low income housing and other tax credit investments ..........c..c.coeeceverernenen 6) (2.0) 2 (1.0)
ORNCT .ttt ettt 4)) (4) 1 .5
Provision fOr iNCOME taAXES......cueervierieeiierieeieesreeteeieesreeseeesereesaeessneeseessnesnees $ 70 23.3% $ 174 84.9%

" For 2018, the amounts primarily relate to the accrual of non-deductible expense related to legal matters.

@ For 2018, the amounts primarily relate to revaluation of certain deferred tax assets due to tax return adjustments and the Federal tax rate legislation change.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Legislation"), which was enacted in 2017, contains certain complex provisions such as the Base
Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax ("BEAT"), which may have a material impact in future periods on income tax expense and taxes
payable for the HSBC North America consolidated tax group, of which we are a member. In December 2018, the Internal Revenue
Service and the Treasury Department issued proposed regulations (the "Proposed Regulations") related to the BEAT, which provided
guidance and clarified some of the key aspects of this tax which were not addressed in the Tax Legislation. Based on our current
interpretation of the Tax Legislation and the Proposed Regulations, the HSBC North America consolidated tax group has not
recorded a liability for the BEAT as of June 30, 2019. We continue to evaluate the BEAT provisions, including the Proposed
Regulations and their potential impact, which remains uncertain and will depend upon the issuance of final treasury regulations,
actions HSBC North America or its affiliates may take as a result of the Tax Legislation and the future earnings of HUSI and other
subsidiaries of HSBC North America. Although our analysis is ongoing and could change depending upon the factors discussed
above, we currently do not anticipate a material impact on HUSI's financial position or results of operations from the BEAT.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have five distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking ("CMB"), Global
Banking and Markets ("GB&M"), Private Banking ("PB") and a Corporate Center ("CC"). See Item 1, "Business," in our 2018
Form 10-K for a description of our segments, which are based upon our global businesses, including a discussion of the main
business activities of the segments and a summary of their products and services. There have been no changes in the basis of our
segmentation as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.
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Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest incurred on
liabilities of the segment, adjusted for a funding charge or credit that includes both interest rate and liquidity components. Segments
are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer deposits)
based on equivalent market rates that incorporate both repricing (interest rate risk) and tenor (liquidity) characteristics. The objective
of these charges/credits is to transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit in Balance Sheet Management,
recognize term funding costs/benefits and more appropriately reflect the profitability of the segments.

Certain other revenue and operating expense amounts are also apportioned among the business segments based upon the benefits
derived from this activity or the relationship of this activity to other segment activity. These inter-segment transactions have not
been eliminated, and we generally account for them as if they were with third parties.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU, and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using
financial information prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated
and decisions about allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. We continue, however, to monitor
capital adequacy and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

There have been no changes in the measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in
Note 23, "Business Segments," in our 2018 Form 10-K. In addition, see Note 15, "Business Segments," in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for a discussion of significant changes since December 31, 2018 in the differences between U.S.
GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM
segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net INtETESt INCOME .....veviruiriiriiriiriertietentene ettt ettt ettt st st seeseneens $ 217 § 225 § ®) (3.6)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eiviruerierieieieieteieei ettt st ne 74 71 3 4.2
Total operating inCome'" .............ccoovoruerveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 291 296 (5) (1.7)
ExXpected credit I0SSES ....uviiiiieriieieriieiesitee ettt 12 3 9 *
Net OPErating INCOMIEC.........couiivieirieeieereeieeteete et eete et e ete e e eteeaesteeseeteeseeseereens 279 293 (14) (4.8)
OPETAtING EXPEISES ..cnveververirieviiererieitrtenteteseereteteeereseeseseereseeresaesesaenesaesesnenene 305 341 (36)  (10.6)
LSS DETOTE TAX 1.ttt et $ 26) $ 48) $ 22 45.8 %
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INLETESt INCOME ...ttt sttt ettt seeeene $ 438 $ 441 $ 3) (%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eouerverierieieieieeeeeietee ettt eene 139 164 (25) (15.2)
Total operating iNCOME'™" ............coooovvoreieeeeeeeeeeee e neeen 577 605 (28) (4.6)
Expected credit IoSSES .....oouiririiiinieieieicieeeeeieeeee ettt 33 6 27 *
Net OPErating INCOIMIE .......c.eeuiruiriiriirtertertertertert ettt ettt ettt ebe st sae st besbesee e 544 599 (55) (9.2)
OPEIAING EXPEIISES ..envevinrenrerenrentententenrenrenteueeateateseereeresresreesesbesaestesenseneensenne 616 666 (50) (7.5)
L0SS DEIOTE TaAX ...ttt $ (72) $ ©7) $ ) (7.5)%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
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M The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Current accounts, 5avings and dePOSILS ..........ceeuruciririruiiiniiieiniieireeee et $ 168 $ 171  $ 3) (1.8)%

Mortgages, credit cards and other personal lending............cccccoeueivirecninnicnnecinencennee 63 58 5 8.6

Wealth and asset management ProduCtS ..........c.coceveueerrueueririereinieieerrnreeresrereeeseeresesesseseaeee 24 28 4) (14.3)

Retail business banking and other'? ..............c...coovorvuoivierieceeeeeeseeeeeeee e 36 39 3) (7.7)

Total OPETAtING INCOIME .......euvveirieteieieteteirtetes ettt ettt s st be et ne et st sebenesaenes $ 291 § 296 $ %) (1.7%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Current accounts, savings and dePOSILS ........c.eevurueuiririerinirieieirteiei ettt $ 341 § 343§ ?2) (.6)%

Mortgages, credit cards and other personal 1ending..........c.ccovereereneiiinenineneeesee 115 116 (1) (.9)

Wealth and asset management ProduCtS.........c.ccecirirueuioiniicirinieirceee et 47 59 12) (20.3)

Retail business banking and other® ...................ccoovvvvcrrrveosrreosssseesessessss s sssssesesssoos 74 87 13) (14.9)

Total OPETating INCOMIE ......c.ccveveuiriereiiirietiireeteitteteeerte ettt ettt bes sttt se e st aenesesaenen $ 577 $ 605 $ (28) (4.6)%

@ Includes cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates.

Our RBWM segment reported a lower loss before tax during the three months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to lower operating
expenses, partially offset by lower net interest income and higher expected credit losses. In the year-to-date period, our RBWM
segment reported a higher loss before tax due primarily to higher expected credit losses and lower other operating income, partially
offset by lower operating expenses.

Net interest income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to lower net interest income from lending
driven by lower spreads from mortgages and cards. This decrease was partially offset in the year-to-date period by higher net
interest income from deposits driven by improved spreads.

Other operating income increased slightly during the three months ended June 30, 2019 as the non-recurrence of a loss of $7
million recorded during the second quarter of 2018 related to a change in the Visa Class B Share conversion rate as a result of the
outstanding litigation for which we retained the associated risk was partially offset by lower asset management fees due to lower
average assets under management driven in part by negative market performance as well as lower cost reimbursements associated
with shared service activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates. In the year-to-date period, other operating income
decreased as the non-recurrence of the loss related to Visa was more than offset by the factors described above, including the non-
recurrence of approximately $10 million of cost reimbursements recorded in the prior year period associated with enhancing the
HSBC Group's digital banking platform.

Expected credit losses were higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher expected credit
losses in credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions as well as higher expected credit
losses in residential mortgages as the positive impacts of improvements in economic and credit conditions were more pronounced
in the prior year periods.

Operating expenses decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to the non-recurrence of operational losses
recorded in the prior year associated with certain mortgage servicing advances as well as lower deposit insurance assessment fees
due to removal of the temporary surcharge in December 2018 and a lower assessment rate, lower cost allocations from affiliates
in our risk and compliance support service functions and, in the year-to-date period, lower legal costs. These decreases were
partially offset in the year-to-date period by higher losses associated with card fraud and higher marketing expense.
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Commercial Banking The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
INEt INTETEST INCOIMIE .ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaeeee e eeneeeeeeenees $ 202 $ 195 % 7 3.6 %
Other Operating INCOME.........eiviruerierieieieteeeeeitetee ettt eene 55 58 ?3) (5.2)
Total operating inComMe'" ..............ccoouermieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 257 253 4 1.6
Expected credit 10SSES ....c.eirieiriiinieiniiinicincnieee e 9 (36) 45 *
Net OPerating IMCOME.......cc.erutrueriererintertertentereteteeteteeeueere et stesseseeseesennens 248 289 41) (14.2)
OPEIALING EXPEIISES ..cuvervinrerrertentetetetentesteeeseeseeseeseeseesesbesteesesbesaessensensensensenes 142 139 3 2.2
Profit DEfOre taX .....cc.eeeieeieieee e $ 106 $ 150 $ 44) (293)%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net INtEreSt INCOME ..c..veveuiieiirieiirieiirtetrtet ettt ne $ 403 $ 381 § 22 5.8 %
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..couerverierierierereteeeiet ettt neae 113 113 — —
Total operating iNCOME'™" .........c..coovirvrrieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 516 494 22 4.5
Expected credit IoSSES .....oouiriririinieieieieieeceeieetee et 15 (46) 61 *
Net OPErating INCOIMIE ... .cuervereeeeieteieteet ettt ettt sttt eene 501 540 (39) (7.2)
OPETatiNg EXPEIISES ...c.veverererieririertrtestrteststeseeteesteseerestebesteseseesesaeseseesestesessenene 280 290 (10) 3.4)
Profit DEfOTe taX .....coueiuiriirierierieeeeeee e $ 221 § 250 $ 29) (11.6)%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

M The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Lending and Transaction Management ..........c.coeueererueueinieieeninierenineererenieseseseeseseesseseseseenes $ 108 § 109 § (1) (9%

Global Liquidity and Cash Management, current accounts and savings deposits ................ 112 116 ) (3.4

Global Trade and Receivables FINANCe ............ccoccoiviiiiiiiiiiiiciiccceccecccccec e 13 12 1 8.3

Investment banking products and Other............coccoiviriiiiiniiiciniieiccecee e 24 16 8 50.0

Total OPETAtiNG INCOIMIE ......evveieeeticeeie ettt s et s s seesaeaeses $ 257 $ 253 $ 4 1.6 %

Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Lending and Transaction Management ...............ccceueuvuiirininininiiininiiinininseseseseesessessssenseens $ 218 $ 217 $ 1 5%
Global Liquidity and Cash Management, current accounts and savings deposits ................ 228 225 3 1.3
Global Trade and Receivables FINANCe ..........ccccovviviviviiiiiiininiciiiicincncceeeeeeeeeee 25 24 1 42
Investment banking products and other............ccoeeiviviiicinnini e 45 28 17 60.7
Total OPETrating INCOIME ..........cueuiiiiiiiiieiii ittt $ 516 $ 494 $ 22 45 %

Our CMB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher
expected credit losses, partially offset by higher net interest income and, in the year-to-date period, lower operating expenses.

Net interest income increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to the favorable impact of higher loan
balances as we continued to apply a disciplined lending approach to grow the business.

Other operating income decreased slightly during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and was flat in the year-to-date period.
The decrease in the three-month period was driven by lower loan syndication fees.

Expected credit losses were higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to releases in credit loss reserves in
the prior year periods driven by paydowns, sales and maturities as well as improvements in credit conditions associated with certain
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clients at that time compared with higher loss estimates in the current year periods for downgrades reflecting weakness in the
financial condition of certain client relationships and loan growth.

Operating expenses increased slightly during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and were lower in the year-to-date period as
higher staff costs were partially offset in the three-month period and more than offset in the year-to-date period by lower cost
allocations from affiliates in our technology, risk and compliance support service functions and lower deposit insurance assessment
fees due to removal of the temporary surcharge in December 2018 and a lower assessment rate.

Global Banking and Markets The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INLETESE INCOME ....vneiieiieiiriieteeterte sttt ettt ettt sttt eeae 136 $ 151§ (15) (9.9)%
Other Operating IMCOMC. ......c..cuerveuerieirieirieeetetetere ettt eb e seese et saenene 170 252 (82) (325)
Total operating iNCOME!™" .............coooovvireieeeeeeeeeeee e neenen 306 403 o7 (4.
Expected credit IoSSES .....ooviririniinieieieieieeceeeeeee et 2 (143) 145 *
Net Operating INCOME.........ccvervieeerrieierreeeesieetesteetesreeaesteesessaesesseesesseessenss 304 546 (242) (44.3)
OPEIAING EXPEIISES ..euvervinrenrerenretententereereneeueeaeeeeeseeseetesae st eressesaessesesseneensenne 210 209 1 S
Profit DEfOTe taX .....covevuiriiriirierieieeeee e 94 $ 337§ (243)  (72.1)%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net INLETESE INCOIME .....voveieieietiieeeeteteieeete ettt eesees et b s sss s ssesensees 287 $ 300 $ (13) (4.3)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..couerverterieieieteteteitet ettt 345 449 (104)  (23.2)
Total operating iNCOME™ .............coovivmeoieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 632 749 (117)  (15.6)
EXpected credit IoSSES .....coueruiririirienieieicieeeteiteite et (15) (157) 142 90.4
Net OPerating IMCOME........c.eeuivuiriiririirteienietereteteeee ettt saeaennens 647 906 (259) (28.6)
OPEIALING EXPEIISES ..cuvrvinrerretetentetetetesteseeteetteutesestestesae st sbesbeseestensensensennenne 416 425 ©) (2.1)
Profit BefOre tax ......ceoviriiriiiieriiicieccccce e 231

*  Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
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M The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our GB&M segment. For purposes of the discussion below the
table, total operating income is referred to as revenue.
Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CTOAIE 1.ttt bbb eee $ 6 $ 14 3 ®) (57.1)%
RALES ..o 14 26 (12) (46.2)
Foreign Exchange and Metals ...........cccoveiririeiriniiiininieiinieictnecceece e seenenene 35 93 (58) (62.4)
EQUILIES ...t 10 4 6 *
Total GLODAl MATKELS ..ottt 65 137 (72) (52.6)
G1ODAL BANKING. ...ttt ettt ettt b ettt es s e e eaenan 98 127 (29) (22.8)
Global Liquidity and Cash Management. 121 128 (7) (5.5)
SECUIIHIES SEIVICES.......vvviiiiiiictciciteie s 15 9 6 66.7
Global Trade and Receivables FINance ..........c.coveevirueieinieicininieinineccneiceneeneceniencesenen 12 15 3) (20.0)
Credit and funding valuation adjustments..............cccccevuririririninirinieninnrereeeeee 3 an 14 *
OHNEI™ ..o ®) @) (6) *
Total OPErating INCOIME .........c.cueuiiiiiiiiiiiciii it $ 306 $ 403 $ o7 24.1)%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
$ 15§ 26 $ an (42.3)%
34 32 2 6.3
Foreign Exchange and Metals ...........ccooueiririciiniiicinieiecneicereieceeecee e 100 177 77) (43.5)
EQUITIES ..ttt ettt sttt 13 16 3) (18.8)
Total GlODAl MATKELS. .......eeieviiiieiciiiict ettt 162 251 (89) (35.5)
G1ODAL BANKING. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt 171 216 (45) (20.8)
Global Liquidity and Cash Management.............coccoueirerieirenenieeneneee st 247 261 14 (5.4)
Securities Services 31 26 5 19.2
Global Trade and Receivables Finance 27 29 2) (6.9)
Credit and funding valuation adjustments 16 7 23 *
OHEI™) ..o 22) 27 5 18.5
Total OPETAtING INCOIME .......euvveeirieteiiietetetstetes ettt ettt ettt s et st be bbb et s et sebenesaenen $ 632 § 749 $ 117) (15.6)%
@ Includes cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates and certain corporate funding charges not assigned to

products. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2018, we began allocating interest earned on capital, which was historically reported in Other, to the product
lines in the table above and, as a result, we have reclassified prior year amounts in order to conform to the current year presentation. Reported total operating
income for all periods was unaffected.

Our GB&M segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to
lower releases in expected credit losses, lower other operating income and lower net interest income.

Credit revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to lower revenue from collateralized financing
related activity.

Rates revenue decreased during the three months ended June 30, 2019 due to lower revenue from structured rates, partially offset
by higher revenue from emerging markets rate products. In the year-to-date period, revenue from Rates increased due to higher
revenue from emerging markets rate products.

Foreign Exchange and Metals revenue decreased sharply during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to a
decline in interest rates and lower volatility in emerging market currencies, primarily Argentina, and certain metals, including
lower trading activity in Metals, which resulted in lower revenue compared to the prior year periods. Also contributing to the
decrease was a lower redeployment of liquidity to Metals.

Equities revenue increased during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and decreased in the year-to-date period as client activity
in structured equity derivatives improved in the three-month period, but was weaker in the year-to-date period.

Global Banking revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher losses associated with credit
default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure, lower net interest income from spread
compression and lower fees, including lower loan syndication fees in the year-to-date period.
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Global Liquidity and Cash Management revenue decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to lower
clearing fees, lower compliance fees and an unfavorable shift in product mix. These decreases were partially offset by higher net
interest income due to the favorable impact of higher short-term market rates and, in the three-month period, the impact of a
reporting change for cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates that began in
the second quarter of 2018 as discussed below.

Securities Services revenue was higher during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher revenue from additional
direct custody and clearing client activity, higher deposit balances and, in the three-month period, the impact of a reporting change
for cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates that began in the second quarter
of 2018 as discussed below.

Global Trade and Receivables Finance revenue was lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to lower fees
on standby letters of credit.

Credit and funding valuation adjustments improved during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 attributable primarily
to movements in our own credit spreads within our derivative liability balances.

Other revenue decreased during the three months ended June 30, 2019 as lower excess liquidity charges were more than offset by
the impact of a reporting change for cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates
that began in the second quarter of 2018. During the second quarter of 2018, a year-to-date reclassification was recorded that
resulted in $16 million of cost reimbursements being reported in Other that previously would have been reported in Global Liquidity
and Cash Management and Securities Services above. In the year-to-date period, other revenue increased due to lower excess
liquidity charges.

Expected credit losses during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 reflected higher releases in credit loss reserves in the
prior year periods due to improvements in credit conditions associated with certain client relationships, including the upgrade of
a single oil and gas industry client, as well as improvements in the credit quality of our portfolio driven by paydowns, sales and
maturities, including the sale of a single mining client relationship. In addition, releases in credit loss reserves in the current year
periods were more than offset in the three-month period and partially offset in the year-to-date period by higher loss estimates for
downgrades reflecting weakness in the financial condition of certain client relationships and loan growth.

Operating expenses were relatively flat during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and were lower in the year-to-date period as
lower deposit insurance assessment fees due to removal of the temporary surcharge in December 2018 and a lower assessment
rate was more than offset in the three-month period and partially offset in the year-to-date period by higher staff costs and higher
support service cost allocations from affiliates.

Private Banking The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount Yo
(dollars are in millions)
Net INLETESt INCOME .....vevreiieveeieiieteiieitereteeetet ettt es et ese e ss s be s esesesenas $ 37§ 43 3 ©6) (14.00%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..cvvervirierierieiereteteeeeeeeeee ettt aeae 17 16 1 6.3
Total OPErating INCOME «.....coverveeeteieieieieieeett ettt ettt st eneene 54 59 %) (8.5)
Expected credit I0SSES .....veiirierieieie e s 2 — 2 *
Net OPErating INCOIMIE .......c.eeueeeiriietieterteetetertest ettt et it et ebe e st st esbesee e 52 59 7 (119
OPEIALING EXPEIISES .euvervinrenrerrentetetentenrententeseetteeeesestestesre st esesbesaessesensensensenne 56 61 ®)] (8.2)
Profit (1088) BEfOre taX .....c.evveriiriiieieieieieee e $ (G 2 $ (2) (100.0)%
Increase (Decrease)
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net INLETESt INCOME ....eueeieeieiietieieeie ettt reet ettt ettt seeseeetesbeseessensenens $ 74 % 90 $ (16)  (17.8)%
Other Operating INCOME......c..eovertirierieieieteteteitetei ettt aene 33 36 3) (8.3)
Total OPerating iNCOMIE ......cc.erverviieieieieieeeeeieeet ettt et aene 107 126 (19) (15.1)
EXpected Credit IoSSES .....coueruiriiniinienieieieieteteitece et 1 3) 4 *
Net OPerating IMCOME.........c.erutruirrereriintentententeteretetetet et et see b e saeseensennens 106 129 (23) (17.8)
OPEIALING EXPEIISES ..cuvrvinrerreretetetetentestestettetteueeteebesbesbesbesbesbeseestenbenseneennenee 109 122 (13)  (10.7)
Profit (1088) DETOTE TAX ...vvuiuiveieiieiecieieicceeteiei ettt $ 3 3 7 $ (10) *
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*  Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

In August 2017, our PB business entered into an agreement to refer parts of its Latin America portfolio, consisting primarily of
clients based in areas where we do not have a corporate presence, including Central America and the Andean Pact, to UBS for a
period of two years. Under the terms of the agreement, we facilitate the referral of these client relationships to UBS for a fee,
including the transfer of client assets, consisting of client investments and deposits, as well as the transfer of the relationship
managers and client service employees that support these clients. Loans associated with these client relationships were not included
in the agreement. Total operating income associated with these client relationships was approximately $1 million during both the
three and six months ended June 30, 2019 compared with $4 million and $12 million during the three and six months ended June
30, 2018, respectively.

The following table provides information regarding PB client assets during the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning of PEriod.........ccicviiuiiiiiiieiiciieieeece ettt r e ae e $ 36,017 $ 39,089
Net NeW MONEY (OULTIOWS) ..c.vieuiiiieiiiieie sttt et et s ste st e e e saesbeesbessaenbeeseenseeseenseenes (286) 442
Client transfers 10 UBS .......ooiiiiiiicececeee ettt ettt et be e te s e beessesbeesnesreens (25) (1,116)
VAIUE CRANEZE ....ovviiieieie ettt ettt ettt e e s te e b e s taesseeseenseessesseessesseensesseensesaeensennnan 2,316 (42)

Client assets at €nd Of PETIOQ .........cueeviiiuiiiiiiieieceeeeee ettt ettt et et b e te bt ebeereereees $ 38,022 $§ 38,373

Our PB segment reported a higher loss before tax during the three months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to lower net interest
income and higher expected credit losses, partially offset by lower operating expenses. In the year-to-date period, our PB segment
reported a loss before tax during the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared with a profit before tax during the prior year period
due to lower net interest income, higher expected credit losses and lower other operating income, partially offset by lower operating
expenses.

Net interest income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 reflecting the impact of lower deposit balances
due primarily to the impact of the client referral agreement with UBS.

Other operating income was relatively flat during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and was lower in the year-to-date period
as lower fees and commissions reflecting a decline in assets under management was more than offset in the three-month period
and partially offset in the year-to-date period by the non-recurrence of a $3 million loss recorded during the second quarter of
2018 as a result of a decline in the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale discussed
above.

Expected credit losses increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher loss estimates in the mortgage
portfolio.

Operating expenses decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to lower deposit insurance
assessment fees due to removal of the temporary surcharge in December 2018 and a lower assessment rate.

105



HSBC USA Inc.

Corporate Center The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CC segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

INEt INTETEST INCOIMIE .ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaeeee e eeneeeeeeenees $ 18 $ 18 $ — — %
Other operating income... 49 72 (23) (319
Total operating income'" 67 90 (23) (25.6)
Expected credit 10SSES ....c.eirieiriiinieiniiinicincnieee e — 1 (1) (100.0)
Net OPerating IMCOME.......cc.erutrueriererintertertentereteteeteteeeueere et stesseseeseesennens 67 89 22) (247
OPETAtING EXPEISES ..c.veverveverrevirereriertrtestnteseeresesreseetesteteseereseesessesessenessesessenene 48 54 6) (11.1)
Profit (1088) BEfOre taX .....c.coeruerririeieieicicectcece e $ 19 3§ 35 % (16)  (45.1)%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
INEt INEETEST INCOIMIE ...ttt ettt ettt st eene $ 32 3% 33 % ) (3.0)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..couerverierierierereteeeiet ettt neae 73 155 82) (529
Total operating iNCOME'™" .........c..coovirvrrieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 105 188 83) (44D
Expected credit IoSSES .....oouiriririinieieieieieeceeieetee et 1 4 3) (5.0
Net OPErating INCOIMIE ... .cuervereeeeieteieteet ettt ettt sttt eene 104 184 80) (43.9)
OPEIAING EXPEIISES ..cuvrvinrenrerenrenrenrenterenreneeieeateaeeaeereeresresteesesbesaessesesensensenne 88 586 (498) (85.0)
Profit (1088) DEfOTe taX ....cc.evveriiriiieieieieieeete e $ 16 $ (402) $ 418 *

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

" The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our CC segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Balance Sheet Management™® ..............c...coo.oovvoiveeeoeeeiesieseeeeseeseeeesees e $ 72 3 78 $ (6) (7.7%

Legacy structured credit Products ............oeuvivieiririeiiininiineesessee e 5) 1 (6) *

OBRCT .ttt — 11 an (100.0)

Total OPETating INCOMIE .........eueuiiiieiiiietii ettt $ 67 $ 9 $ (23) (25.6)%

Increase (Decrease)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Balance Sheet Management® ...................cooorvvvurrveeireeessereessseeesssssesssssesssessesssenssssoos $ 141 $ 146 $ ) (3.4)%
(36) 18 (54) *
— 24 (24)  (100.0)
Total OPErating INCOMIE .....euvueurerrieeiseiiieieieeaetseee ettt es ettt bttt sseaenae $ 105 $ 188 § (83) (44.1)%

@ Balance Sheet Management includes gains on the sale of securities of $23 million and $30 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, respectively,
compared with $10 million and $15 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.

Our CC segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to lower other
operating income, partially offset by lower operating expenses. In the year-to-date period, our CC segment reported a profit before
tax during the six months ended June 30, 2019 compared with a loss before tax in the prior year period due primarily to lower
operating expenses, partially offset by lower other operating income. Lower operating expenses in both the three-month and year-
to-date periods were driven by expense recorded in the prior year periods related to a mortgage securitization legal matter that
was settled in October 2018.

Net interest income was flat during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 as lower net interest income in Balance Sheet
Management was offset by improved net interest income from legacy structured credit products and the impact of the liquidity
framework we adopted in preparation for the planned implementation of the Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR") which provides
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a temporary cap on the net liquidity charge to GB&M until the NSFR becomes effective. Lower liquidity charges in GB&M
resulted in lower excess liquidity charges being retained in the CC compared with the prior year periods. See "Risk Management"
in this MD&A for additional discussion of the NSFR.

Other operating income decreased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to unfavorable movements
related to the economic hedging of interest rate risk within our own debt, unfavorable valuation adjustments on legacy structured
credit products and, in the year-to-date period, a loss of approximately $39 million recorded during the first quarter of 2019 related
to the unwind of one of our unconsolidated VIEs. These decreases were partially offset by higher gains on asset sales in Balance
Sheet Management.

Expected credit losses were lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due to higher loss estimates on certain
financial assets in the prior year periods.

Operating expenses were lower during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 due primarily to higher legal expense recorded
in the prior year periods related to a mortgage securitization matter as discussed above. The decrease in operating expenses also
reflects lower cost allocations in our support service functions which was partially offset by higher allocated severance costs and
lower levels of expense capitalization related to internally developed software.

Reconciliation of Segment Results Aspreviously discussed, segment results are reported on a Group Reporting Basis. See Note 15,
"Business Segments," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis
segment results to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.

Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on a limited basis, internationally.

Our reported results under U.S. GAAP reflect the following methodologies for establishing the allowance for credit losses.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercial loans are monitored on a continuous basis with a formal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, a function independent of the business, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that
includes independently assessing credit grades and loss given default estimates for sampled credits across various portfolios. When
it is deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collected in accordance with its contractual terms, the loan is considered impaired. An impairment reserve is then established
primarily based on the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or as a
practical expedient, the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent or the loan's observable market price if the
loan is traded in the market. Updated appraisals for collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are
considered troubled and the frequency of such updates are generally based on management judgment under the specific
circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, loss reserves on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of
portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the reserve calculations.

Our probability of default estimates for commercial loans are mapped to our credit grade master scale. These probability of default
estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and benchmarking of the internal ratings with
external rating agency data like Standard and Poor's ("S&P") ratings and default rates. Substantially all appraisals in connection
with commercial real estate loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must
be reviewed and accepted by this unit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal is generally ordered when the loan is classified
as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four
weeks from the time the appraisal is ordered until it is completed and the values accepted by HSBC's independent appraisal review
unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter, generally within the quarter in which the appraisal is
received.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such as rent rolls and operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market data is gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Data is also collected
from similar properties within the portfolio. Actual sales levels of properties, operating income and expense figures and rental data
on a square foot basis are derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparables for the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
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cash flow model to be discounted at appropriate rates to present value. These valuations are then used to determine if any impairment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loans identified as troubled debt restructurings ("TDR Loans"), an allowance for credit losses is maintained primarily based
on the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or as a practical expedient,
the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent or, for commercial loans, the observable market price if the loan
is traded in the market. The circumstances in which we perform a loan modification involving a TDR Loan at a then current market
interest rate for a borrower with similar credit risk would include other changes to the terms of the original loan made as part of
the restructuring (e.g. principal reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified as a TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer loans and certain small business loans which do not qualify as TDR Loans, we estimate
probable losses using a roll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various stages
of delinquency and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans in our portfolio. This
migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between a loss occurring and the confirming event of its charge-
off. This analysis considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether borrowers have filed
for bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age or modification of accounts. We also take
into consideration the loss severity expected based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of default based
on historical and recent trends which are updated monthly based on arolling average of several months' data using the most recently
available information.

The roll rate methodology is a migration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical loss experience
which captures the increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off as the past due status of such account increases. The
roll rate models used were developed by tracking the movement of delinquencies by age of delinquency over a specified time
period. Each stage of delinquency represents a period of delinquency in 30-day increments. The roll from the last delinquency
stage results in charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of
payments under the loan. Average roll rates are developed to avoid temporary aberrations caused by seasonal trends in delinquency
experienced by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary
aberrations, while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. The roll rate calculations are performed monthly and are done
consistently from period to period. We regularly monitor our portfolio to evaluate the period of time utilized in our roll rate migration
analysis and perform a formal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer loans are maintained to reflect
our judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation. Our residential mortgage
loan allowance for credit losses in all periods reflects consideration of risk factors relating to trends such as recent portfolio
performance as compared with average roll rates as well as housing market trends and second lien exposure.

Our allowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
in further detail under the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2018 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2018 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisions to our policies
or methodologies during the first half of 2019.
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The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

June 30, March 31, December 31,

2019 2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)
Allowance for credit IOSSeS...............cooouieiiriiiiinieieeeee et $ 613 $ 583 $ 541
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to: -
Loans:"
Commercial:
INONEATTTHIALES ..ottt ettt ettt ettt e st e s e eneeseeneensesneas 1.05% 1.02% 97%
ATTIHHALES ..ottt et ettt e st e e s e e e be e s tbeenbeeabaeenbeeseessbeenseeennean — — —
Total COMMETCIAL.......c.eeitieiieiieieiee ettt ettt e s eesseensesseensenneens .98 .96 93
Consumer:
Residential MOTLZAZES ....cc.eovereeiiiiieieiirieeeet ettt ettt ettt sb e s e .06 .06 .07
HoOme eqUity MOTtZAZES. ...c.eevuieiiiieiiiiieie ettt ettt sttt sbe e saeens 77 .85 1
CEAIE CATAS... e euteiieieeete ettt ettt ettt ettt et e s st et e e st e s e eneesseeneesseensesseensenseans 6.29 6.06 5.69
OthET COMSUITIET ....eivvieiitieeiieteeieeteete et ete e e e teeetesteessesteesseeseesseeseesseeseesseessesseessesssessesseans 1.84 2.52 1.98
48 45 42
85% .82% 718%

Net charge-offs:?

Commercial® 4,325%  6,188% 1,117%

CONSUIMET ......coourrieeeeecirieeeeeeeireeeeeeeetreeeeeeeiarreeee s 181 154 319
o172 RO 958% 897% 807%
Nonperforming loans: "™

Commercial 344% 375% 318%

COMSUITICT ......ceitvrieeeeeetteeeeeeeette e e e e eeetteeeeeeeetaaeeeeeeetareeeeeeeeataseeeeeeasssaeeeeesasseeeeeeasrsseeeeannees 21 21 20
167 | BSOSO 104% 107% 97%

(" Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.
@ Ratios at June 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019 reflect year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratios at December 31, 2018 reflect full year net charge-offs.

@ Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the year-to-date periods ended June 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018 was
519 months, 743 months and 134 months, respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the commercial allowance for credit losses at period
end divided by average monthly commercial net charge-offs during the period.

@ Represents our commercial and consumer allowance for credit losses, as appropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balance of total nonperforming

loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.

See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit
losses by general loan categories for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018.

The allowance for credit losses at June 30, 2019 increased $30 million or 5 percent as compared with March 31, 2019 and increased
$72 million or 13 percent as compared with December 31, 2018 due to higher loss estimates in our commercial loan portfolio and,
to a lesser extent, our consumer loan portfolio.

Our commercial allowance for credit losses at June 30, 2019 increased $24 million or 5 percent as compared with March 31,2019
and increased $61 million or 13 percent as compared with December 31, 2018 due to downgrades reflecting weakness in the
financial condition of certain client relationships and loan growth, partially offset by a release in credit loss reserves for risk factors
associated with fraud as well as releases in credit loss reserves due to paydowns.

Our consumer allowance for credit losses at June 30, 2019 increased $6 million or 7 percent as compared with March 31, 2019
and increased $11 million or 13 percent as compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to a higher allowance for credit losses
in credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions, including higher dollars of delinquency.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans held for investment at June 30, 2019 increased as compared with
both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 as the increase in our allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above
outpaced the increase in total loans held for investment.
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The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs at June 30, 2019 increased as compared with both March 31,
2019 and December 31,2018 due to an increase in our allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above and, as compared
with December 31, 2018, a decrease in dollars of net charge-offs driven by lower charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio,
partially offset by higher charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of nonperforming loans held for investment at June 30, 2019 was relatively flat as
compared with March 31, 2019 as the increase in our allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above was largely offset
by an increase in nonperforming loans. As compared with December 31, 2018, the allowance for credit losses as a percentage of
nonperforming loans held for investment increased as the increase in our allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed
above outpaced an increase in nonperforming loans driven by higher nonperforming loans in our residential mortgage loan portfolio.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale:

% of % of % of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Total Total Total
Amount Loans Amount Loans Amount Loans
June 30, 2019 March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
(dollars are in millions)
ComMETCIaAl™ ... $ 519  728% $ 495 72.4% $ 458 71.5%
Consumer:
Residential moOrt@ages.......ccevveevieerieeciieiieeieenie e eee e eve e 11 24.0 10 245 13 25.2
Home equity MOrtGages ........ccvevuveeereereerieiesierieeeeieeeee e eeeseeens 7 13 8 1.3 7 1.4
Credit CardS .......eoeveeeeeeetee ettt ettt eeaee e 71 1.6 63 1.5 58 1.5
Other CONSUMET ......ecuviiiiieiieciieeteeeieeereeeeeereeseeesteeeseeesreeseaeesee e 5 3 7 3 5 4
TOtAl CONSUITIET ......eoineiiiieeiee ettt ettt et e e e eaae e e saneee s 94 27.2 88 27.6 83 28.5
11721 LTSRN $ 613 100.0% $ 583 100.0% $ 541 100.0%

M See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit

losses.
Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk 'We also maintain a separate reserve for credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The

following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2019 2019 2018

(in millions)

Off-balance sheet Credit TISK TESEIVE ......oivvvviiiiiiiiieeee et e e eaaees $ 90 $ 89 $ 96

Off-balance sheet reserves were relatively flat at June 30,2019 as compared with March 31,2019. As compared with December 31,
2018, off-balance sheet reserves decreased reflecting lower outstanding exposure. Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized
under the caption "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations" in this MD&A.
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Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):

June 30,

2019

March 31,
2019

December 31,
2018

Delinquent loans:

Commercial

Consumer:

(1))

(H®2)

Residential mortgages
Home equity mortgages
Credit cards........ccccceevveuenene

Delinquency ratio:

Commercial

Consumer:

@
(1)

Residential mortgages
Home equity mortgages
Credit cards.......ccoeeeveneee.

Other consumer...................

O]

()

(dollars are in millions)

22§ 37 °§ 60
319 356 347
27 29 30
25 22 20
6 7 8
377 414 405
$ 399 § 451 § 465
04% 07% A12%
1.83 2.05 1.99
2.96 3.08 3.05
2.21 2.12 1.96
2.21 2.52 2.62
1.91 2.11 2.05
55% .63% .67%

At June 30, 2019, March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $239 million, $223 million and $254 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less costs to sell, including $1 million, $1 million and $1
million, respectively, relating to loans held for sale.

The following table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:

June 30,

2019

March 31,
2019

December 31,
2018

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEEIESt-ONLY LOANS. ...ttt ettt sttt $

ARM 10ans......ccceeeverereennnnne
Delinquency ratio:
Interest-only loans
ARM 10ans......cocueeeverercennnnne

(dollars are in millions)

$ 34§ 9
129 114
1.03% 28%
1.06 .94

Compared with March 31,2019 and December 31, 2018, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 8 basis
points and 12 basis points, respectively, due to lower dollars of delinquency in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios.

Our commercial loan two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 3 basis points and 8 basis points compared
with March 31,2019 and December 31,2018, respectively, due to improved collections as well as higher outstanding loan balances.

Compared with March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our consumer loan two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio
decreased 20 basis points and 14 basis points, respectively, due primarily to lower dollars of residential mortgage delinquency
reflecting the resolution of temporary customer payment interruptions associated with the transfer of servicing in December 2018
which resulted in higher levels of reported residential mortgage delinquency in the prior periods and, as compared with March 31,
2019, the collection of certain Private Banking customers which became 60 days delinquent in the first quarter. These decreases
were partially offset by higher dollars of credit card delinquency reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product
promotions.
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Net Charge-offs of Loans The following table summarizes net charge-off (recovery) dollars as well as the net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

June 30, March 31, June 30,
2019 2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Business and corporate banking...............cccccciiiiiiiiii s $ 1 $ 2 8 (16)
GLODAL DANKINEG ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt b ettt et ettt nenen 3 — 32
TOtAl COMIMETTIAL ...ttt ettt ettt sttt st e b ettt et et be et eb st enes 4 2 16
Consumer:
Residential MOTTZAZES ........oueuiiiiiiiiiiiiiicic et — 2 ()]
Home equity mortgages . — — 1
CIOAIE CATAS ...ttt ettt a et ettt b bt e bt s sttt eneseseenen 11 11 6
ONET COMSUIMET ......cuiitiaiiieiitet ettt ettt ettt ettt et bt ee b s ee s e bttt eb et et bttt e st st e b s et se e b st s eae b et et ebenetenenenenen 1 1 1
TOLAL COMSUIMET ... ettt ettt ettt bttt b ettt b ettt et bt st b bt s e e bttt b et et e bt eteseneenes 12 14 7
TOTAL ..ttt st b ettt h bttt h b a e bt s bt H e bbbt ea et et s bt et b e b e eae s $ 16 $ 16 $ 23
Net Charge-off Ratio:
Commercial:
Business and corporate banking... .03% .06% 5DH)%
GLODAL DANKINEG ...ttt ettt ettt sttt b et a et e ettt ne b .06 — .65
TOtAl COMIMETTIAL ...ttt ettt sttt b ettt et et be sttt ese e b .03 .02 .13
Consumer:
Residential MOTTZAZES ........oueuiiriiiiiiiiiiii ettt — .05 (.02)
HOME EQUILY MOTTZAZES ......veiuiviiniietiiirieteie ettt ettt b ettt e bt s e bt e et a bt seaesesenen — — .36
CIOAIE CATAS ...ttt ettt a et ettt b bt e bt s sttt eneseseenen 4.06 441 2.97
ONET COMSUIMET ......cuetiaiiieiitet ettt ettt ettt b ettt eb e et s et a bttt eb et et bttt e st st b bt e se e bt et eae b et et ebesesesenenenen 1.53 1.78 1.18
Total consumer. 24 .29 .14
TOTAL 1.ttt ettt bbb st b ekt e bRt b ek R b bRt ek b et bk ea et b sttt b st et b e sttt be e benene .09% .09% 14 %

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 was flat compared with the quarter
ended March 31, 2019 as slightly higher levels of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio were offset by slightly lower
levels of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio.

Compared with the quarter ended June 30, 2018, our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans decreased 5 basis points
due to lower levels of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio associated with loan sales and managed reductions in certain
exposures, including the non-recurrence of the sale of a single mining client relationship in the prior year, as well as higher average
commercial loan balances. These decreases were partially offset by higher levels of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio
due to higher charge-offs in credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions.
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Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

June 30, March 31, December 31,
2019 2019 2018

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Real estate, including CONStIUCTION .......eoueiuiriirieierieieeeeie ettt $ 7 3 5 8 7
Business and corporate banking ............cooceriiiiriiieniieeee e 90 78 70
G1ObAL DANKING. ...c.eeuteiieiieiieiiiiiteie ettt ettt ettt st st sa bt nnens 53 48 65
Other COMMETCIAL .......oeiuiiiiiiiiiiiirere ettt st — — 1
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for sale.........c.cooeoeiiiiiininincee 22 — —
TOtal COMIMETCIAL .....ueiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt ettt sttt neens 172 131 143
Consumer:
Residential mortgages' @) e 370 344 341
Home equity MOrtgages™ @ . ... 48 50 55
Consumer nonaccrual loans held for sale ... 1 1 1
Total consumer 419 395 397
Total nonaccruing loans. 591 526 540
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate Danking ............cceceveeieririienineseeeseee e 1 1 1
Total COMMETCIAL .....ueiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiitiet ettt st 1 1 1
Consumer:
CIEAIL CATAS ..ottt et ettt b st ae bt eb e s bt see et ebeseenbebeneens 18 15 14
Other CONSUMET .....c.eiuiiiiiiiiiiiiitieiieere ettt ettt et ettt s s et nens 4 5 6
TOtAl CONSUIMET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt st sae e e a b neens 22 20 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days ormore....................ccooeevvrenennen.. 23 21 21
Total nonperforming loans .. 614 547 561
Other real estate OWNEd™ .............co.cooivieeceeeeeeeeeee e 13 12 12
Total NONPerforming asSets..............c.occeeriieiiiiiiiiieie ettt $ 627 §$ 559 $ 573

M At June 30, 2019, March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include $267 million, $262 million
and $289 million, respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

® Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.
Repayment of these loans is predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our customer loan portfolio.

(]

Includes $1 million or less of commercial other real estate owned at June 30, 2019, March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

Nonaccrual loans increased compared with both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 due to higher levels of nonaccrual loans
in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios. The increase in commercial nonaccrual loans was driven by downgrades,
including the downgrade of two global banking loans which were subsequently transferred to held for sale during the second
quarter, partially offset by paydowns. Consumer nonaccrual loans increased reflecting certain Private Banking residential mortgage
customers which became 90 days past due during the second quarter. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more increased slightly
compared with both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 due to an increase in credit cards reflecting growth in customer
activity driven by new product promotions.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrual status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regarding impaired loans, including TDR Loans as well as certain other commercial credit quality indicators. Commercial impaired
loans decreased compared with both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 due to paydowns, including a large accruing TDR
Loan in global banking in the first quarter.
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Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as a significant credit exposure with an individual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers throughout the United States and internationally. We manage
the varying degrees of credit risk associated with on and off-balance sheet transactions through specific credit policies and
procedures which provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It is our policy to require collateral when it is
deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending upon management's credit evaluation.

Our consumer loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:

* Interest-only loans — A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which results in lower payments during the initial loan period.

*  Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans — A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfolios, including certain loans held
for sale, at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in more than
one category below.

June 30, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
Interest-only residential mortgage and home equity mortgage 10ans ..........ccoceeevieieiieiinienenieene $ 3254 § 3,208
ARM L0808 ..ottt st 12,228 12,096

M During the remainder of 2019 and during 2020, approximately $218 million and $694 million, respectively, of the ARM loans will experience their first

interest rate reset.

The following table summarizes the concentrations of first and second liens within the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amounts in the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $40 million and $65 million
at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Closed end:
FIISE LIEIL. . eeic et $ 17421 $ 17,383
SECOMNA LIEM ...ttt ettt et e s te et e ste e bests e beesbebeessesseesseeseenseeseensesnsesseaneas 38 40
REVOIVINE™ ..ot e e ee e 873 942
TORAL. .ot $ 18332 $ 18365

M A majority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations The following table reflects regional exposure at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 for our real

estate secured loan portfolios:

Commercial Residential
Real Estate, Mortgages and
including Home Equity
Construction Loans Mortgages

June 30, 2019

INEW YOTK SEALE ....viiiiiiiieeiie ettt ettt tteebe e s eeteestbeebeestaeesbeessaesnseessaesnseenes 30.3% 31.5%

(O 1 1T o) a1V I TSRS 20.2 44.0

North Central United StatesS.......ceeeieiieeiieriieiieeieeieesie et e steesreeseeereeseeesreeseneeseenes 3.4 1.9

North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........ccccoeeivvineninincncnenenn 6.8 7.7

Southern UnNited StAteS .........cccveeciieiieeiieiiecieesee ettt esee et esreeseeeeaeessaeeseensee s 31.0 10.3

Western United States, excluding California............cocooeverenenenienienceinncnencneneeen 8.3 4.6
TOTAL ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt b e te b e te et e e ta e beertereearereenes 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2018

INEW YOTK SEALE ....veiiiieiieiie ettt ettt et e et eesta e ebeesteesbeesseesnseessnesnseenes 32.1% 31.8%

L 1 1T o) o 1V ISR 21.5 43.5

North Central United STates.........ccvevvierieviiiieiiiieie ittt re e sre e sre e 3.0 2.0

North Eastern United States, excluding New York State...........ccccceevvverenenicnicnicncnnens 6.4 7.8

Southern United STAtES .......c.coiiieiieiiiiieiecieeteee ettt e e e ae e ese e essesreens 28.9 10.4

Western United States, excluding California.........c..cocevevenenenicienenninincnencncneene 8.1 4.5
TOTAL .ottt ettt ettt ettt et te b e e te e b e re et e te e b e aa e b e eteenbeeree b e ereebeenes 100.0 % 100.0 %
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Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Creditrisk associated with derivatives is measured as the net replacement cost
of derivative contracts in a receivable position in the event the counterparties of such contracts fail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterparties to our derivative activities include financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we may enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrence of certain events. In addition, we reduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty and/or regulatory requirements.

The total risk in a derivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

« volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract

payments;

e current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

«  creditworthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

* the existence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

» existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure calculated using the general risk-based capital rules of the Basel 111 Standardized
Approach which includes the net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any adjusted potential future exposure
as measured in reference to the notional amount. The regulatory capital rules recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce
credit risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met and collateral
exists. As a result, risk-weighted amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures. Furthermore,
many contracts contain provisions that allow us to close out the transaction if the counterparty fails to post required collateral. In

addition, many contracts give us the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity date. As a result, these contracts
have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived from the regulatory capital rules.

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Risk associated with derivative contracts:

Total Credit TISK EXPOSUIE....c.eovirtirtiriititentetetetete ettt ettt et ettt ebe et eae bt e b sae e nen $ 33993 $ 30,643
Less: collateral held against XPOSULE. .....c..eoueieieieieiiiieieet ettt et 7,076 5,251
Net Credit TISK EXPOSUIE .....ecvetiiiteieieieieteteitete ettt ste sttt st a et ess ettt eaeeaeesteueebesbesaeeresbenaens $ 26917 $ 25392

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effective liquidity management is defined as ensuring we can meet customer loan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitments efficiently under both normal operating conditions and under unpredictable circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achieve this objective, we have guidelines that require sufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity available to it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for HSBC Bank USA to ensure
that it can meet its liquidity needs in various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stress testing scenarios, forms the basis
for liquidity management and contingency funding plans. See "Risk Management" in this MD&A for further discussion of our
approach towards liquidity risk management, including information regarding the key measures employed to define, monitor and
control our liquidity and funding risk.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $11,736 million and $15,700 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively, of which $10,773 million and $14,376 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balances may
fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Surplus
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interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to resell or
other investments depending on market conditions and the opportunity to maximize returns.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $5,289 million and $10,168 million at June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position
at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity.

Trading Assets includes securities totaling $26,562 million and $17,041 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $51,181 million and $46,049 million at
June 30,2019 and December 31,2018, respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion
on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $8,649 million and $4,180 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. See
"Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $116,961 million and $110,955 million at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, which included
$90,919 million and $91,909 million, respectively, of core deposits as calculated in accordance with FFIEC guidelines. See "Balance
Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt increased to $30,849 million at June 30, 2019 from $30,628 million at December 31, 2018. The following table
presents the maturities of long-term debt at June 30, 2019:

(in millions)

201 ettt ettt ettt et et e e te et e et e st en b e et e e st e aR s e bt e R e e st eRte Rt ente Rt enbe Rt enseessenseestenseassenseenseeseentesaeensennnan $ 3,854
2020 ..ttt et ettt et e teeraeshe e aeate e b e taenb et s esbeea s e beert e bt eraeeheesbeteesbeetseabeetsenbeessesbeessebeerseeaeenteereenseaans 7,106
2021 ettt et te et e ete et e ete et e eteebeettete et ete et e bt eteaaeeabeeteeteets e teetsebeetb e beeateebeeareeteenteereenseanen 5,836
2022 ettt ettt ettt e bt e te h e e te et e et e st en b e et s en s e aaten st e Rt e st aRte Rt ente Rt enbe Rt ense et s enseessen st anseseenseeneentesneensennen 1,840
2023 ettt ettt et te et et e e raeateeab e bt eabeett et e aat e bt ert e beeraeeheesbeehtenbe st enbeetsenbeetsesbeeseebeenseereenteereenseenns 1,178
TREIEATTET ...ttt ettt e e e ettt e e e e et e e e e e e eeaa s aeeeeseaaaeeeeseanaaaeeeeesanntaeeeesaanrateeessennaareeeseaanaeeeas 11,035
5] 7: 1 RS $ 30,849

The following table summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the six months ended June 30,2019 and 2018:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018

(in millions)
LONG-tErM dEBE ISSUEM. ......ourivieietieietieietiietetet ettt sttt ettt et ettt et e bt e b te s etessessebessebessebassesesseseseas $ 2,928 § 2,678
Long-term debt TEPAIA.......ccviiieiieieieeieee ettt et te e ste e besteebessaebeesaebeessenreenseereenes (4,294) (5,220)
Net 1ong-term debt rePaId ........oeiiiiieiiiie ettt ettt sttt ettt ese st eneeseeneeee $ (1,366) $§ (2,542)

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the six months ended June 30, 2019.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securities including debt securities and preferred
stock. We satisfy the eligibility requirements for designation as a "well-known seasoned issuer," which allows us to file a registration
statement that does not have a limit on issuance capacity. The ability to issue under the registration statement is limited by the
authority granted by the Board of Directors. During the first quarter of 2019, due to an anticipated decrease in utilization of the
shelf registration statement, the Board of Directors approved a reduction in the amount we are authorized to issue from $36,000
million at December 31, 2018 to $30,000 million, of which $14,940 million was available at June 30, 2019. HSBC Bank USA has
a $40,000 million Global Bank Note Program that provides for the issuance of subordinated and senior notes, of which $13,435
million was available at June 30, 2019. We anticipate using the Global Bank Note Program more in the future as part of our efforts
designed to minimize overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding channels.

Asamember of the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, we have secured borrowing facilities which are collateralized
by loans and investment securities. At June 30, 2019, long-term debt included $2,000 million of borrowings from the FHLB facility.
Based upon the amounts pledged as collateral under these facilities, we have additional borrowing capacity of up to $15,657
million.

Preferred Equity See Note 17, "Preferred Stock," in our 2018 Form 10-K for information regarding all outstanding preferred
share issues.
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Common Equity During the six months ended June 30, 2019, HSBC USA received a common stock return of capital of $2.4
billion from its subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, and paid a distribution on its common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to
its parent, HSBC North America.

Capital Ratios In managing capital, we develop targets for common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1 capital
to risk-weighted assets, total capital to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1 capital to adjusted quarterly average assets (i.e., the "Tier 1
leverage ratio") and Tier 1 capital to total leverage exposure (i.c., the "supplementary leverage ratio" or "SLR"). Capital targets
are reviewed at least semi-annually to ensure they reflect our business mix and risk profile, as well as real-time conditions and
circumstances. The following table summarizes HSBC USA's Basel III capital ratios calculated as of June 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted aSSets ...........ceoivvieriiiiriiiniieeeeee e 12.4% 13.6%
Tier 1 capital to risk-Weighted aSSELS .......coveiierieieciieee e 134 14.6
Total capital t0 riSk-WeEIZhtEd ASSELS ...vvvveriiiieriiiieciieieetet ettt ettt be e b st beesa e beessesseenes 16.1 17.2
TiEr 11everage a0 ...........oveovoeeeeee oo 9.6 11.0
Supplementary 1everage 1atio™...............co.coovurveieeeeeceeeeeeee e 6.8 7.6

M Adjusted quarterly average assets, the Tier 1 leverage ratio denominator, reflects quarterly average assets adjusted for amounts permitted to be deducted from

Tier 1 capital.

@ Total leverage exposure, the SLR denominator, includes adjusted quarterly average assets plus certain off-balance sheet exposures.

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North America Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ("ICAAP") works in conjunction with the HSBC Group's ICAAP. The HSBC North America ICAAP applies
to HSBC Bank USA and evaluates regulatory capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various stress scenarios. Our approach
is to meet our capital needs for these stress scenarios locally through activities which reduce risk. To the extent that local alternatives
are insufficient, as a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC, we would seek support from our ultimate parent. Regulatory capital
requirements are based on the amount of capital required to be held, plus applicable capital buffers, as defined by regulations, and
the amount of risk-weighted assets and leverage exposure, also calculated based on regulatory definitions.

We are subject to regulatory capital rules issued by U.S. banking regulators including Basel III (the "Basel III rule"). Under the
Basel 111 rule, there are two methods available to calculate risk-weighted assets, the generally-applicable Standardized Approach
and the Advanced Approaches, which are required in addition to the Standardized Approach for large banking organizations that
meet certain thresholds. As previously disclosed, in accordance with FRB rules, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA
received regulatory approval to opt out of the Advanced Approaches for credit risk and are calculating their risk-based capital
requirements for credit risk solely under the Standardized Approach. HSBC Bank USA submits an annual statement to the OCC
to maintain this opt out. For additional discussion of the Basel III final rule requirements, including required minimum capital
ratios, as well as a discussion of recent regulatory developments and their expected impact see Part I, "Regulation and Competition
- Regulatory Capital and Liquidity Requirements," in our 2018 Form 10-K. We continue to review the composition of our capital
structure and capital buffers in light of these developments.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing The FRB requires IHCs and large bank holding companies ("BHCs"), including HSBC
North America, to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and CCAR program, as well as the annual supervisory stress tests
conducted by the FRB, and periodic company-run stress tests as required under Dodd-Frank (collectively, "DFAST"), as amended
by the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act ("Relief Act"). HSBC Bank USA is subject to the OCC's
DFAST requirements, which require certain banks to conduct annual company-run stress tests. The company-run stress tests are
forward looking exercises to assess the impact of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline and severely adverse scenarios provided
by the FRB and the OCC for the annual exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual and periodic company-
run exercises, on the financial condition and capital adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter planning
horizon. See Part I, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity Requirements," in our 2018 Form 10-K for
further discussion on capital planning and stress testing, including detail regarding the FRB's supervisory assessment as part of
the CCAR process, as well as a discussion of recent regulatory developments and their expected impact.

HSBC North America submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and both HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA submitted
their latest annual company-run DFAST results in April 2019. In July 2019, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA publicly
disclosed their latest annual DFAST results. In June 2019, the FRB publicly disclosed its own DFAST and CCAR results and
informed HSBC North America that it did not object to HSBC North America's capital plan or the planned capital distributions
included in its 2019 CCAR submission. Stress testing results are based solely on hypothetical adverse stress scenarios and should
not be viewed or interpreted as forecasts of expected outcomes or capital adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC

118



HSBC USA Inc.

North America or HSBC Bank USA. Capital planning and stress testing for HSBC North America or HSBC Bank USA may impact
our future capital and liquidity.

While bank holding company regulatory capital compliance is generally performed at the HSBC North America level, and also
separately for HSBC Bank USA, as a bank holding company we are required to meet minimum capital requirements imposed by
the FRB. We present our capital ratios, together with HSBC Bank USA's in Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital
Requirements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Other Regulatory Developments In April 2019, the FRB and the other federal banking agencies jointly proposed rules to implement
the Relief Act that would tailor the application of the enhanced prudential standards to U.S. operations of foreign banking
organizations ("FBOs") to implement the Relief Act amendments (the "Tailoring Proposals"). The proposed rules would assign
each FBO with $50 billion or more in total U.S. assets, taking into account their combined U.S. operations, to one of four categories
based on its size and four risk-based indicators.

In connection with the release of the proposed rules, FRB staff indicated which firms likely would fall into each of the four
categories based on data for the third quarter of 2018. According to the FRB staff’s projections, HSBC and HSBC North America
would be subject to the Category III standards under the proposed rules. If the Tailoring Proposals were finalized as proposed and
HSBC North America became subject to Category III standards, HSBC North America would (i) remain subject to the generally
applicable Standardized Approach capital requirements and the SLR; (ii) become eligible to opt-out of the requirement to recognize
most elements of accumulated other comprehensive income in regulatory capital (iii) remain subject to annual supervisory stress
testing and capital plan requirements as part of the annual CCAR exercise; (iv) become subject to company-run stress testing
requirements on a two-year cycle; and (v) remain subject to single counterparty credit limits. Under the Tailoring Proposals, whether
HSBC North America would be required to comply with full daily liquidity coverage ratio and net stable funding ratio requirements
would depend on whether, as a Category III FBO, its weighted short-term wholesale funding would exceed $75 billion. The
Tailoring Proposals also clarify that the IHC of a Category III FBO would not be considered an "Advanced Approaches banking
organization" and therefore would not be required to adopt the Standardized Approach to counterparty credit risk ("SA-CCR") to
measure its derivative exposure, if the SA-CCR proposal is also finalized and implemented as written. Instead, HSBC North
America would have the option to use either the SA-CCR or the current exposure method for its risk-based capital ratios and its
SLR exposure measure.

Simultaneous with the Tailoring Proposals, the FRB and FDIC jointly released a proposal to revise the regulations implementing
the resolution planning requirements in the Dodd-Frank Act (the "Resolution Plan Proposal"). Under the Resolution Plan Proposal,
HSBC would be required to file a resolution plan every three years (rather than annually), alternating between a full resolution
plan and a targeted resolution plan, which would generally be limited to core areas such as capital and liquidity, as well as material
changes in other areas. Under the Resolution Plan Proposal, HSBC’s next full resolution plan submission would not be required
until July 1, 2021 and its first targeted resolution plan submission would not be required until July 1, 2024.

The Tailoring Proposals and the Resolution Plan Proposal are subject to modification through the federal rulemaking process in
accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act. The ultimate effects of the Relief Act and the Tailoring Proposals on HSBC
North America cannot be determined at this time and will be subject to the final form of the Tailoring Proposals and additional
rulemakings issued by the FRB and other federal regulators.

2019 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2019 are summarized in the following table:

Estimated
Actual July 1
January 1 through Estimated
through December 31, Full Year
June 30, 2019 2019 2019

(in billions)

Increase (decrease) in funding needs:

Net Change i 10ANS .......cviviiieiieieceeteeeeeeee ettt sae b e saesbeeseenns $ 3 3 6 $ 9
Net change in short-term investments and SECUTITIES ........ccevvererververienieriereeeenennes 4) — @)
Net change in trading and other aSSets.........c.cocveviriiirireniienere e 13 4 17
Total fUNding NEEAS ......ccueeieiieieeiiee ettt $ 12 $ 10 $ 22
Increase (decrease) in funding sources:
Net change 1N dePOSILS ....cc.evuerveriirierieieieieteeeeee et $ 7 3 4 $ 11
Net change in trading and other short-term liabilities............coccvverererenenieieencnnns 5 —
Net change in long-term debt..........occooiiiiiiiiiiiee e — 6
Total fUNAING SOULCES ...c.vievveeieieriieieeiierieseete et et e et e st et e s e ebeeseessesseesessnessesssesseensens $ 12 $ 10 $ 22
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The above table reflects a long-term funding strategy. Daily balances fluctuate as we accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. We remain confident
in our ability to access the market for long-term debt funding needs in the current market environment. We continue to seek well-
priced and stable customer deposits. We also continue to sell new agency-eligible mortgage loan originations to third parties.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictions imposed by federal law on extensions of credit to, and certain other 'covered
transactions' with HSBC USA and other affiliates. For further discussion, see Part I, "Regulation and Competition - Affiliate
Transaction Restrictions," in our 2018 Form 10-K.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management" in
this MD&A.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

As a financial services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at June 30, 2019

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or less Five Years Years Total 2018

(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations'” .............ccc........ $ 6,630 $ 2,116 $ 119 $ 8865 $ 8,972
Commercial letters of credit........ccoocvevirieriiieniiieeceeeee 153 71 — 224 218
Credit derivatives™ .........coooooooriieriiineieeeeeessee s 7,309 45419 1,528 54,256 45,384
Other commitments to extend credit:
Commercial® .........o.oooiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 18,723 63,229 3,013 84,965 89,302
CONSUIMET .....eviiuiieeeieeiieceieeieeetteeteestaeebeessaeeseessseesseesssesnseenseeas 7,458 — — 7,458 7,927
TOLAL .ttt sttt re e $ 40,273 $110,835 $ 4,660 $155,768 $ 151,803

@ Includes $1,419 million and $1,321 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
@ Includes $32,481 million and $25,734 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
®  Includes $1,135 million and $2,045 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in the form of loans, participations in loans, lease financing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
the right to change terms or conditions, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit.

In addition to the above, we have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market funds
that invest in shorter-dated highly-rated money market securities to provide investors with a highly liquid and secure investment.
These funds price the assets in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a
constant price. The funds, however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than
50 basis points from the portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and
consequently would no longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds
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because we do not absorb the majority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity,
credit and other relevant risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.

Fair Value

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish a fair value hierarchy structure that prioritizes the
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants' assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodologies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The majority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniques that feature one or more significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The determination of the level of fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or a liability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

»  whether the asset or liability is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price;

*  the level of bid-ask spreads;

* alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;
»  whether only a few transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

*  whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services;

»  whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

»  whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument is classified as a Level 1 measurement if it is listed on an exchange or is an instrument actively
traded in the over-the-counter ("OTC") market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. We regard financial
instruments such as debt securities, equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be
actively traded. Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury, to-

be-announced securities, non-callable securities issued by U.S. Government sponsored enterprises and certain foreign government-
backed debt.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify as Level 1 inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions, corporate debt, certain foreign government-backed debt,
preferred securities, securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, precious metals, certain commercial
loans held for sale, residential mortgage loans whose carrying amount was reduced based on the fair value of the underlying
collateral and real estate owned as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are
obtained based on transactions involving comparable assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. We have
established a process to understand the methodologies and inputs used by the third party pricing services to ensure that pricing
information meets the fair value objective and, where appropriate, this pricing data is back-tested to market trade executions.
Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined fair value, we investigate
and reconcile the differences. If the investigation results in a significant adjustment to the fair value, the instrument will be classified
as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a correlation between the credit standing and
the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain derivative products is determined using valuation techniques
based on inputs derived from observable indices traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control processes and procedures have
been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instruments that share similar risks to the relevant
benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputs incorporate market participants' assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. At June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our Level 3 measurements included the following: collateralized debt
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obligations ("CDOs") for which there is a lack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits and
structured notes for which the embedded credit, foreign exchange or equity derivatives have significant unobservable inputs (e.g.,
volatility or default correlations), asset-backed credit default swaps with certain inputs which are unobservable, certain corporate
debt securities, certain asset-backed securities, impaired commercial loans, derivatives referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable
credit quality, swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares for which the fair value is
dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation and a contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of
a portion of our PB business. See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for additional information on Level 3 inputs.

Level 3 Measurements The following table provides information about Level 3 assets/liabilities in relation to total assets/liabilities
measured at fair value at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

June 30, December 31,

2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)
LeVel 3 aSSEtS ) ... oot $ 1,122 § 2338
Total assets measured at fair VAIUE® ..o 99,384 81,125
Level 3 liabilities'"” 1,565 1,550
Total liabilities measured at fair ValUe'" ............ccoovvoriveerieeriieriie s 53,059 52,587
Level 3 assets as a percent of total assets measured at fair value ...........ccoeveeenieiiniiiencee e 1.1% 2.9%
Level 3 liabilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value .........cccccoeeevvevereecieieeienen, 2.9% 2.9%

M Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $1,092 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $30 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at June 30, 2019. Includes $2,301 million of recurring

Level 3 assets and $37 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2018.

®  Includes $99,332 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $52 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at June 30, 2019. Includes

$81,030 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $95 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2018.

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities During the first quarter of 2019, one of our unconsolidated
VIEs was unwound and our investment in the VIE along with the related derivatives were terminated. Our investment in the VIE,
which was a level 3 asset measured at fair value on a recurring basis, had a carrying value of $1,293 million at the time of unwind.
See Note 17, "Variable Interest Entities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information.

See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 as well as for
further details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs The fair value of certain financial instruments is measured using valuation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservable input parameters which can be selected from a range of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assets or liabilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform a test of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $37 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $17 million at June 30, 2019. The effect of changes in significant unobservable input parameters are primarily
driven by the uncertainty in determining the fair value of credit derivatives executed against certain insurers and certain asset-
backed securities including CDOs.
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Risk Management

Overview Managing risk effectively is fundamental to the delivery of our strategic priorities.

We use a comprehensive risk management framework across the organization and across all risk types underpinned by our risk
culture. This framework fosters continuous monitoring, promotes risk awareness and encourages sound operational and strategic
decision-making. It also ensures a consistent approach to monitoring, managing and mitigating the risks we accept and incur in
our activities.

Our Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for effective management of risk and approves HUSI's risk appetite. It is
advised on risk matters by the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors and the Compliance and Conduct Committee. In particular,
the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors advises the Board of Directors on risk appetite and its alignment with our strategy,
risk governance and internal controls as well as high-level risk related matters. Robust risk governance and accountability are
embedded throughout our business through an established framework that helps to ensure appropriate oversight of and
accountability for the effective management of risk.

The principal risks associated with our operations include the following:
*  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a contract;

»  Liquidity risk is the risk that we do not have sufficient financial resources to meet our obligations as they fall due or that
we can only do so at an excessive cost, or that funding considered to be sustainable, and therefore used to fund assets, is
not sustainable over time;

»  Interest rate risk is the potential reduction of net interest income due to mismatched pricing between assets and liabilities
as well as losses in value due to interest rate movements;

*  Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit spreads,
equity prices and commodity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;

*  Operational risk is the risk to achieving our strategy or objectives as a result of inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems, or from external events;

*  Regulatory compliance risk is the risk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations
and standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

*  Financial crime risk is the risk that we knowingly or unknowingly help parties to commit or to further potentially illegal
activity through the HSBC Group. It arises from day to day banking operations;

*  Reputational risk is the risk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectations as a result of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those with whom it is associated, that may cause stakeholders
to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences;

»  Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute and react appropriately to opportunities and/or threats
arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years such as changing economic and
political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory developments or competitor action;

*  Model risk is the potential for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly;

*  Pensionriskistherisk of increased costs from the post-employment benefit plans that we have established for our employees;

»  Sustainability risk is the risk that financial services provided to customers indirectly result in unacceptable impacts on
people or on the environment.

In the course of our regular risk management activities, we use simulation models to help quantify the risk we are taking. We
believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what is assumed
in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonable estimates, with the understanding that actual results may
differ significantly from model projections.

See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of the objectives of our risk management
system as well as our risk management policies and practices. Other than the changes to interest rate risk management discussed
below, there have been no material changes to our approach to risk management since December 31, 2018.

Liquidity Risk Management Although our overall approach to liquidity risk management has not changed, we continuously
monitor the impact of market events on our liquidity positions and will continue to adapt our liquidity framework to reflect market
events and the evolving regulatory landscape and view as to best practices. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018 Form
10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to liquidity risk.
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As part of our approach towards liquidity risk management, we employ the measures discussed below to define, monitor and
control our liquidity and funding risk in accordance with HSBC policy.

The Basel Committee based Liquidity Coverage Ratio ("LCR") is designed to be a short-term liquidity measure to ensure banks
have sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets ("HQLA") to cover net stressed cash outflows over the next 30 days. At both June 30,
2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC USA's LCR under the EU LCR rule exceeded 100 percent. A LCR of 100 percent or higher
reflects an unencumbered HQLA balance that is equal to or exceeds liquidity needs for a 30 calendar day liquidity stress scenario.
HQLA consists of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value in private markets. HSBC North America
and HSBC Bank USA are also subject to the U.S. LCR rule. Under the U.S. rule, U.S. institutions, including HSBC North America
and HSBC Bank USA, are required to maintain a minimum LCR of 100 percent and report LCR to U.S. regulators on a daily basis.
During the six months ended June 30, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018, HSBC Bank USA's LCR under the U.S. LCR
rule remained above the 100 percent minimum requirement.

The European calibration of the Basel Committee based NSFR, which is a longer term liquidity measure with a 12-month time
horizon to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities, is still pending. Therefore, our calculation of NSFR is
based on our current interpretation and understanding of the Basel Committee NSFR guidance, which may differ in future periods
depending on completion of the European calibration and further implementation guidance from regulators. At both June 30,2019
and December 31,2018, HSBC USA's estimated NSFR exceeded 100 percent. ANSFR of 100 percent or more reflects an available
stable funding balance from liabilities and capital over the next 12 months that is equal to or exceeds the required amount of
funding for assets and off-balance sheet exposures. In April 2016, U.S. regulators issued for public comment a proposal to implement
the NSFR in the United States, applicable to certain large banking organizations, including HSBC North America and HSBC Bank
USA. At both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC Bank USA's estimated NSFR, based on our current interpretation
and understanding of the proposed U.S. NSFR rule, exceeded 100 percent.

Large BHCs and IHCs, such as HSBC North America, are also subject to additional liquidity requirements under the FRB's enhanced
prudential standards issued pursuant to Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act. Under these enhanced prudential standards, IHCs are
required to comply with various liquidity risk management standards and to maintain a liquidity buffer of unencumbered highly
liquid assets based on the results of internal liquidity stress testing.

HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA maintain their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC North
America and HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changes to their liquidity profiles to support compliance with any future
rules.

Our liquidity risk management approach includes deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our balance sheet, and
using security sales or secured borrowings for liquidity stress situations in our liquidity contingency plans. In addition, current
regulatory initiatives require banks to retain a portfolio of HQLA. As such, we are maintaining a large portfolio of high quality
sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our ability to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. The following table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at June 30, 2019:

Moody's S&P Fitch
HSBC USA:
Short-term DOTTOWINES. ..c..ccveveieieiieiieiieieeiteiere ettt P-1 A-1 F1+
Long-term/senior debt ..........cccccueiriririniniiinene e A2 A AA-
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term DOITOWINGS. ... .cveeeieieiieiieiieiieteee ettt eee e P-1 A-1+ F1+
LONg-term/SENIOT AEDL ........ovivevieieieiieiiiesieiesieieie e Aa3® AA- AA-

M Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA was Aa2 at June 30, 2019.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopolitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and legal matters, all of which could lead to adverse ratings actions.

Although we closely monitor and strive to manage factors influencing our credit ratings, there is no assurance that our credit ratings
will not change in the future. At June 30, 2019, there were no pending actions in terms of changes to ratings on the debt of HSBC
USA or HSBC Bank USA from any of the rating agencies.

Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. Beginning in the second quarter of 2019, we began managing our
net interest rate risk sensitivities to a static balance sheet. As a result, we have revised prior year amounts in the net interest income
simulation modeling table below in order to conform to the current year presentation. There have been no other material changes
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to our approach towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2018. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018
Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to interest rate risk.

Economic value of equity ("EVE") EVE represents the present value of the banking book cash flows that could be provided to our
equity holder under a managed run-off scenario. An EVE sensitivity represents the change in EVE due to a defined movement in
interest rates. We manage to an immediate parallel upward shock of 200 basis points and an immediate parallel downward shock
of 200 basis points to the market implied interest rates. At both June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our EVE remains higher
than our book value of equity under the base case, up 200 basis points and down 200 basis points scenarios.

Net interest income simulation modeling techniques We utilize simulation modeling to monitor a number of interest rate scenarios
for their impact on projected net interest income. These techniques simulate the impact on projected net interest income under
various scenarios, such as rate shock scenarios which assume immediate market rate movements by 100 basis points, as well as
scenarios in which rates gradually rise or fall by 100 basis points over a twelve month period. In the gradual scenarios, 25 percent
of the interest rate movement occurs at the beginning of each quarter. The following table reflects the impact on our projected net
interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)
Estimated increase (decrease) in projected net interest income (reflects projected rate
movements on July 1, 2019 and January 1, 2019, respectively):
Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the yield curve..........c.ccoeveeennene. $ 115 4% $ 104 4%
Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve...........cccecevveueneee. (209) ®) (136) 5)

Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on July 1,
2019 and January 1, 2019, respectively):

Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 135 5 134 5
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve..................... (323) @12 (262) C)

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonable estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital risk/sensitivity of other comprehensive loss Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some reported capital
balances and ratios. The mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities is recorded on a tax effected basis to accumulated
other comprehensive loss. This valuation mark is included in two important accounting based capital ratios: common equity Tier
1 capital to risk-weighted assets and total equity to total assets. At June 30, 2019, we had an available-for-sale securities portfolio
of approximately $37,254 million with a negative mark-to-market adjustment of $68 million. An increase of 25 basis points in
interest rates of all maturities would lower the mark-to-market by approximately $271 million to a net loss of $339 million with
the following results on our capital ratios:

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Actual Proforma” Actual Proforma”
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets..........ccccecevvererennenn 12.4% 12.2% 13.6% 13.5%
Total equity t0 tOtal ASSELS......ceccvieieriieieirieieite ettt 10.1 10.0 11.9 11.8

M Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.

Market Risk Management Exposure to market risk is separated into two portfolios:
*  Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of client-derived positions.
*  Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercial banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity.
See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.

Value at Risk ("VaR") VaR is a technique for estimating potential losses on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates
and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. The use of VaR is integrated into market risk management
and calculated for all trading positions regardless of how we capitalize them. In addition, we calculate VaR for non-trading portfolios
to have a complete picture of risk. VAR measures are calculated to a 99 percent confidence level and use a one-day holding period.
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Trading Portfolios Trading VaR originates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps, credit default swaps and precious metals (i.e., gold, silver, platinum)
in both North America and emerging markets.

Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99 percent 1 day (in millions):
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The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the six months ended June 30, 2019:

Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread diversification Total®
(in millions)

At June 30, 2019 ..o $ 1 6 $ 2 3 3 $ 6
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

Average 3)

MAXIMUM ... 5 8 2

MINIMUM <

At December 31,2018 ...............ccoovvvvivennnnn. $ 2 $ 6 $ 1 $ 3) $ 6

M Pportfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic
market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individual risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number represents the
benefit of portfolio diversification. As the maximum and minimum occur on different days for different risk types, it is not meaningful to calculate a portfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ The total VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading
portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Back-testing We routinely validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that
excludes non-modeled items such as fees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactions from the actual reported profit and
loss. We would expect, on average, to see two or three profits and two or three losses in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confidence
level over a one-year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to
gauge how well the models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it is important
to note that profits in excess of VaR are only considered when back-testing the accuracy of models and are not used for capital
purposes.

During the first half of 2019, we experienced three back-testing exceptions. A profit exception in March and a loss exception in
April were mainly driven by precious metal future and spot price movements. The third exception, a loss exception in June, was
primarily driven by market volatility in emerging market currencies and rates.
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Back-testing of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions):

15 7

10 A

. A .

5 WW

-10 4

-15 -
Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19

Hypothetical profit and loss VaR (99%) @ Backtesting exception

Non-trading Portfolios Non-trading VaR predominantly relates to Balance Sheet Management and represents the potential negative
changes in the investment portfolio market value (which includes available-for-sale and held-to-maturity assets) and associated
hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and
U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates and agency
spread volatility.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the six months ended June 30, 2019:

Portfolio
Interest rate Credit Spread diversification® Total®

(in millions)

ACJUNE 30, 2019 ..o $ 42 $ 26 $ 26) $ 42
Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

AVETAZE ..ttt ettt ettt sttt 27 21 (10) 38
MAXIMUIM ...ttt et be e e saessaesseessaesseenseenseenee 46 26 46
MINTIMUIN . Lttt ve e b e e taeesaesaeesseeeseebeeseenns 20 18 33
At December 31, 2018 ..........cccooooiiiiiiiiiccecee e $ 2 % 18§ ©) $ 34

M Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR also includes the interest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transfer priced into Balance Sheet Management which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For a broader discussion
on how interest rate risk is managed, please refer to the "Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management" section in MD&A
in our 2018 Form 10-K.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following table summarizes the quarter-to-date and year-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets,
liabilities and equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid. Net interest margin is calculated by
dividing net interest income by the average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2019 included fees of $21 million and $38 million, respectively, compared with fees of $18 million

and $36 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(dollars are in millions)
Assets:
Interest bearing deposits With Danks ..........ccceoevveininieinienecreeeene $ 15870 $ 102 2.58% $ 20904 $ 100 1.92%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements............... 5,743 71 4.96 6,978 57 3.28
Trading SECULTHES ......cvveueuiiiiiiieieicieetce st 20,704 67 1.30 12,520 53 1.70
SECUIIHIES ...ttt 47,832 298 2.50 45,484 278 2.45
Loans:
COMMETCIAL ...ttt sttt 51,675 552 4.28 48,114 452 3.77
Consumer:
Residential MOTTZAZES ....c.eoveveviuiririeirieieiieieie e 17,459 155 3.56 17,371 150 3.46
Home equity MOTTZAZES. ......cvcveuerieueuiiieiiirieieieieeeiereete e es 925 12 5.20 1,112 13 4.69
Credit CarAS.....c.cvvveueeiieicicierec ettt 1,085 19 7.02 809 15 7.44
Other CONSUMET ........cviiiiiiiiiciicei e 261 5 7.68 397 7 7.07
TOtAl CONSUMET ...ttt ettt 19,730 191 3.88 19,689 185 3.77
TOLAL LOAMS ..ottt 71,405 743 4.17 67,803 637 3.71
OBRET ..t 3,129 20 2.56 4,428 22 1.99
Total interest earning assets.. - $ 164,683 $ 1,301 3.17% $ 158,117 $ 1,147 2.91%
Allowance for credit 10SSEs ... (593) (578)
Cash and due from Banks ..........coccccereirinicinneinnececce s 1,213 1,138
OFNET @SSELS....veuieeriiaieteteetet ettt ettt ettt bbbt 12,793 22,813
TOLAL ASSELS ...ttt m m
Liabilities and Equity: - -
Domestic deposits:
Savings deposits .. . $ 46341 $ 115 1.00% $ 49,568 $ 80 .65%
TIME AEPOSIES....cvervriiireeieinteteiirt ettt ettt ettt ettt 27,769 200 2.89 21,666 135 2.50
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........covuevevirierereririeerinieeireeeree e 10,335 53 2.06 10,184 34 1.34
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks dePOSIts ........coerveuerieriiiririeieeriese et 4,122 9 .88 4,329 4 .37
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........ecveveverieieireieiree et 805 3 1.49 1,568 5 1.28
Deposits held fOr SALE .......ccoueueiriiieiririeiirieceeece e 1 — .60 160 — 52
Total interest bearing dePOSItS........ccovueveeiriereiririeerinieieen e 89,373 380 1.71 87,475 258 1.18
Short-term borrowings 6,977 68 3.91 6,827 43 2.53
Long-term debt........c.ooueiiiiiiiiiiiii e 31,341 306 3.92 31,838 283 3.57
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ...........cccoeeveriiininiinineeeee 127,691 754 2.37 126,140 584 1.86
Tax liabilities and Other ...........ccoccviiiiiiiiiiiiccc e 1,329 7 2.11 1,104 8 291
Total interest bearing Habilities ..........coevvureriririeiriricree s $ 129,020 $ 761 237% $ 127,244 592 1.87%
Net interest income/Interest rate SPread ..........eceveveeeererierieinieieienereeeesiereeneas $ 540 .80% 555 1.04%
Noninterest bearing deposits ...........c.cccvoiiiiiiiniiiiiieae 247 25,603
Other liabilities 7,955 8,890
TOtAl EQUILY .. 18,374 19,753
TOtal TiaDIlitieS GNA EqUITY .......oo..ooooeeooeeeeoeeeeeeeeee oo 'S 178,09 'S 181,490
Net interest margin on average earning assets ...........coceeeeervereereruerereruererennenens - 132% 1.41%
Net interest income to average total aSSELS.......cuvvrieieerierieerieieeeerieeeesieeenens 1.22% 1.23%
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 2018
Average Average
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(dollars are in millions)
Assets:
Interest bearing deposits With banks .............ccccccevviviiiiiiniiiicee $ 16489 $ 216 2.64% $ 23980 $ 210 1.77%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements............... 5,995 133 4.47 7,295 105 2.90
Trading SCCULTHIES ......euvuvteniieieiiieieieire ettt ettt et st 19,773 130 1.33 12,646 102 1.63
Securities 46,919 602 2.59 45,003 531 2.38
Loans:
COMIMETCIAL .....eeviiiieiieicetecteet ettt ettt et te et et eaeeeaeereesesveereenns 50,860 1,074 4.26 48,198 866 3.62
Consumer:
Residential MOITZAZES ....c.coveveveviririeinirieiiireiceei s 17,454 312 3.60 17,355 297 3.45
Home equity MOTtZAZES. .....coveveeerieieeiirieiiireeieeeeiei ettt 942 24 5.14 1,137 25 443
CIedit CATAS.....vievveverieeieeieeteee ettt ettt ettt eae et st easeeaeeaeenns 1,053 38 7.28 773 33 8.61
Other consumer . 268 11 8.28 399 14 7.08
TOtAl CONSUIMET ....c.veviieiieietieiieee ettt ettt ettt ea et eteeaeeteeaseeseereesesreeaeenns 19,717 385 3.94 19,664 369 3.78
TOLAL LOAMNS ..ottt 70,577 1,459 4.17 67,862 1,235 3.67
ORI ...ttt ettt 3,009 38 2.55 4,173 38 1.84
Total interest €arning ASSELS.........ueveerirueriririereeririerereetetesere e serees e seebeseseeeesenes $ 162,762 $ 2,578 3.19% $ 160959 $ 2,221 2.78%
Allowance for Credit LOSSES ........cueiiirierirrinieieirieieeete et eenees (567) (615)
Cash and due from banks .............ccoeeevieiiiiiiciiee e 1,255 968
ORET @SSEES...uviivieeieetietieete ettt ettt ettt et et e et et e eteeae e b e eteeseeesesteesseeseeasensenreeseenes 13,049 21,994
TOUAL ASSELS ...ttt ettt v et s aeeasens $ 176,499 $ 183,306
Liabilities and Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
Savings deposits $ 46422 § 217 94% $ 49,937 § 151 .61%
TIME AEPOSIES....vinrriinirieteirieiei ettt ettt ettt st 25,709 370 2.90 22,067 248 2.27
Other interest bearing dePOSIts .......c.covueveririereirireeerinieeireeeseee e 10,230 104 2.05 10,622 64 1.22
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks deposits ........cooueueirieieirinieinirieeeieei ettt 4,125 16 .78 4,519 40
Other interest bearing dePOSIts .......c.covueveririereirireeerinieeireeeseee e 784 6 1.54 1,430 .99
Deposits held fOr SALE .......cevueuiiriiiciiieiireee s 3 — .59 263 .59
Total interest bearing deposits.. . 87,273 713 1.65 88,838 480 1.09
ShOrt-term DOITOWINES ....cveveviririeiiirieiiirieiei ettt 7,293 130 3.59 6,669 76 2.30
LonG-term debt .....ccvviuiicieiiieieicieicc e 31,371 618 3.97 32,665 540 3.33
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ...........ooeevreernierinncinneceneene 125,937 1,461 2.34 128,172 1,096 1.72
Tax liabilities and other 1,243 15 2.43 1,463 18 2.48
Total interest bearing liabilities $ 127,180 $ 1,476 2.34% $ 129,635 § 1,114 1.73%
Net interest income/Interest rate SPread .........coeoevveeeririeieirieeinineenreeeneeene $ 1,102 .85% $ 1,107 1.05%
Noninterest bearing dePOSItS ........coueueeriruereririereiririeerieieeeree et seebeeeeeene - - 2393 ~
Other HHADIIILIES . ..ovvivieeiiiceieci ettt et ev ettt ea e e eveeae s 7,407
TOtAL EQUILY ..ttt 19,871
Total liabilities and eqUILy .......................ccccoeuevevesieieieieiesereieeeeseeeeeeseseeees $ 183,306

Net interest margin on average earning assets .
Net interest income to average total aSSets........covvueerirueueririeeriniriererrererenienene
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item is included within Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk Management" and "Market Risk
Management."

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis. Our Board of Directors,
operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors, provides oversight to
our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by this report so as to alert them in a timely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for our legal proceedings
disclosure, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
issuer registered with the SEC to disclose in its annual or quarterly reports whether it or any of its affiliates have knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entities targeted by U.S. sanctions programs relating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with local laws and regulations.

To comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered
by this Form 10-Q, HUSI did not engage in activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) other than those
activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described under "Frozen
Accounts and Transactions" below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response to Section 13(r):

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guarantees to a number
of its non-Iranian customers in Europe and the Middle East for various business activities in Iran. In a number of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Melli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

There was no measurable gross revenue in the second quarter of 2019 under those guarantees and counter indemnities. The HSBC
Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The
HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and counter indemnities, and does not currently intend to provide any
new guarantees or counter indemnities involving Iran. None were cancelled in the second quarter of 2019 and approximately 16
remain outstanding.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S.-sanctioned Iranian banks not covered elsewhere in this disclosure
includes the following:

*  The HSBC Group acts as the trustee and administrator for a pension scheme involving eight employees of a U.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of this scheme, the HSBC Group accepts contributions from the Iranian bank
each month and allocates the funds into the pension accounts of the Iranian bank’s employees. The HSBC Group runs
and operates this pension scheme in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue, which
includes fees and/or commissions, generated by this pension scheme during the second quarter of 2019 was approximately
$436.

For the Iranian bank related-activity discussed above, the HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and,
therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure.

The HSBC Group has been holding a safe custody box for the Central Bank of Iran. For a number of years, the box has not been
accessed by the Central Bank of Iran and no fees have been charged to the Central Bank of Iran.

The HSBC Group currently intends to continue to wind down the activity discussed in this section, to the extent legally permissible,
and not enter into any new such activity.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 During the second quarter of 2019, the HSBC Group processed a number of small
local currency payments on behalf of U.K. customers to a U.K.-registered charity that is designated under Executive Order 13224,
but that is not sanctioned by the U.K. or the EU. The HSBC Group has identified that it also processed domestic payments from
U.K. customers to this U.K.-registered charity over the course of 2013-2018. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profit
generated from these transactions.

Other activity The HSBC Group has an insurance company customer in the United Arab Emirates that, during the second quarter
0f 2019, made payments for the reimbursement of medical treatment to a hospital located in the United Arab Emirates and owned
by the Government of Iran. HSBC processed these payments to the hospital made by its customer.

The HSBC Group maintains certain accounts for customers in the United Arab Emirates that, during the second quarter of 2019,
received check payments from entities owned by the Government of Iran.

131



HSBC USA Inc.

For the activity in this section, there was no measurable gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group during the second quarter
of 2019.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA (a subsidiary of HUSI) maintain several accounts
that are frozen as a result of relevant sanctions programs, and safekeeping boxes and other similar custodial relationships, for
which no activity, except as licensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the second quarter of2019. There was no measurable
gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group during the second quarter of 2019 relating to these frozen accounts.

Item 6. Exhibits

3(i)  Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999,
Exhibit 3 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000,
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005, Exhibit 3.3 to HSBC USA
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
May 22, 2006 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2016).

3(ii))  Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective July 24, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 26, 2018).

31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document'”

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document'”

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document'"
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document"
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document'"

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document"”

M Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 30, 2019, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June
30,2019 and 2018, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2018,
and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 5, 2019

HSBC USA INC.

By: /s/ ANDREW FULLAM
Andrew Fullam

Executive Vice President and
Interim Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2019

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Andrew Fullam, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2019

/s ANDREW FULLAM
Andrew Fullam

Executive Vice President and
Interim Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company’) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: August 5, 2019

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Andrew Fullam, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: August 5, 2019

/s/ ANDREW FULLAM
Andrew Fullam

Executive Vice President and
Interim Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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